The Development of Pre-Service Teachers' Understanding of the Knowledge Necessary to Teach Mathematics

A Case Study in Malawi

by

Everton Lacerda Jacinto

Thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of PHILOSOPHIAE DOCTOR (PhD)



Faculty of Arts and Education Department of Education and Sports Science 2020 University of Stavanger NO-4036 Stavanger NORWAY www.uis.no

©2020. Everton Lacerda Jacinto.

ISBN: 978-82-7644-963-1 ISSN: 1890-1387 PhD: Thesis UiS No. 555 "You can learn craft of painting, the choice of brushes, mixing paint, techniques, materials, colors and so on, but that does not make you a great painter. What you do with those skills is what makes you a great painter."

David Allan Coe

Acknowledgements

It is with great pleasure that I present this thesis. I would like to express my sincere gratitude to the UiS Faculty of Arts and Education, especially the Department of Sport and Science Education and the Mathematics Education team for offering an outstanding condition to conduct this work successfully. I would like to thank every single individual who has contributed to this project. Special thanks to:

My supervisors Prof. Arne Jakobsen and Prof. Raymond Bjuland whose expertise, consistent, guidance, and ample time spent to make this study possible.

Prof. Kazima, Prof. Eneya, and Prof. Mwadzaangati, Prof. Gobede, and Prof. Longwe for the tremendous support and assistance throughout the Ph.D. study.

The Malawian teacher educators Prof. Lameck, Prof. Mandala and all pre-service teachers for their hospitality and significant contribution to the thesis.

Prof. Mosvold, Prof. Delaney, Prof. Fauskanger, and Prof. Helgevold for the valuable constructive feedbacks on my work during conferences, seminars, and meetings.

Prof. van Bommel, Prof. Ohna, and Prof. Luneta for spending their time to evaluate and providing recommendations on this thesis.

Prof. Hadjerrouit, Prof. Monaghan, Prof. Goodchild, Prof. Ruthven, Prof. Carlsen, and colleagues from the University of Agder who have given me the opportunity to deepen my understanding of the most recent theories and methodologies research in the field. To all friends and professors from SAARMSTE28, PME43, and CERME11 who have pleasantly spent time to help me improve my papers.

To my academic co-workers and friends Åsmund, Anita, Enrico, James, Léa, Nils-Jakob, Minttu, Kerenina, Bhupendra, Anders, Andreas, Bente, Ine, Marianne, Gunvald, Thomas...

To my loved family (from Brazil and Portugal), with special affection to my sweetheart Carolina who has supported and encouraged me to follow my dreams.

Summary

Globally, progress in education has been made in recent years to promote learning opportunities for all. However, significant gaps remain in lowincome countries. In Malawi, a developing country where the educational system is under development, primary education is a major concern. Several initiatives have been made to bridge this gap through improving the quality of teacher education, but research has shown that there is still a need to further understand the learning process of preservice teachers during the teacher education program.

The present study aimed to gain knowledge about the primary preservice teachers' process of learning, particularly, the development of their understanding of the knowledge necessary to teach mathematics. The current study addressed the question: How do pre-service teachers develop their understanding of the knowledge necessary to teach mathematics throughout teacher education? In the study, the knowledge necessary for teaching mathematics refers to the knowledge that teachers need to carry out the tasks of teaching mathematics.

To further examine this matter, the overall question was divided into three sub-research questions: (1) What understanding do pre-service teachers have of the knowledge needed to carry out the tasks of mathematics teaching at the beginning of their teacher education? (2) To what extent does the pre-service teacher's understanding of the knowledge needed to carry out teaching tasks evolve through the discussion of practical experiences in college? (3) How do pre-service teachers develop their understanding of the knowledge necessary to carry out the tasks of teaching throughout teacher education?

These questions were compiled into a qualitative case study with six preservice teachers in a two-year primary teacher education program at a college in Malawi. Each of these pre-service teachers represented a different profile with teaching experience, subject preferences in high school, and a favorite subject to teach during college. The research occurred over three different moments in a two-year teacher education program in which the pre-service teachers were enrolled: an initial moment at the beginning of the program consisted of a questionnaire survey and individual interviews; a second moment during teaching practice that involved mathematics lessons observations and post-lesson interviews; and a third moment at the end of the program that included a focus group discussion.

The data gathered were transcribed and analyzed using a thematic analysis approach. The themes of analysis were designed based on the six domains of mathematical knowledge for teaching theory. Findings show that pre-service teachers develop different paths of development of their understanding of the knowledge needed for teaching mathematics during teacher education and that such development has influences in how they acknowledge effective teaching in Malawi.

The current thesis includes four articles that present the main data and results of the study. The first two articles present findings from an analysis of the pre-service teachers' understanding of the subject matter knowledge and pedagogical content knowledge, and the third article presents an analysis of the pre-service teachers' understanding when discussing teaching practice. The fourth article explores the understanding pre-service teachers developed throughout the teacher education program.

The contribution of this thesis is to not only offer new empirical and theoretical insights to teacher education but also to suggest a path for further research in teaching knowledge.

Table of Contents

Ac	knowledgementsi
Su	mmaryiii
	st of Tablesvii
Lis	st of Figuresviii
Lis	st of Publicationix
1	Introduction1
	1.1 Research Background and Problem1
	1.2 Research Questions and Study Design
	1.3 Articles Comprising the Thesis
	1.4 The Researcher's Motivation Behind the Study10
	1.5 Structure of the Thesis
2	Theoretical Background and Relevant Research
	2.1 Teaching Practice and Teaching Knowledge
	2.2 Beliefs of Teaching Knowledge
	2.3 Clarification of the Terms: Belief and Understanding
3	Context of the Study
	3.1 Background: The Republic of Malawi
	3.2 The Malawian Education System
	3.3 Primary Teacher Education in Malawi
4	Methodology
	4.1 Research Design
	4.1.1 The Initial Moment
	4.1.2 The Second Moment
	4.1.3 The Third Moment
	4.2 Ethics Issues
	4.2.1 Acknowledgment for the Study

	4.2.2 Issues Concerning Pre-service Teachers' Conduct	
	4.3 Data Analysis	57
5	Results	
	5.1 Article 1	66
	5.2 Article 2	68
	5.3 Article 3	
	5.4 Article 4	
	5.5 Summary of the Findings across Articles	
6	Discussion	
7	Conclusion and Implications	91
	7.1 Responding to the Research Question	
	7.2 Limitations of the Study	
	7.3 Implications for Practice	
	7.4 Methodological Implications	
	7.5 Theoretical Implications	100
	7.6 Further research	102
	7.7 Personal Growth	103
	7.7.1 As a Researcher	103
	7.7.2 As a Teacher Educator	104
8	Bibliographical References	105
Ap	pendices	133
	Appendix 1 – Questionnaire Survey	133
	Appendix 2 – Interview Guide	139
	Appendix 3 – NSD Approval	141
	Appendix 4 – Article 1	149
	Appendix 5 – Article 2	161
	Appendix 6 – Article 3	171
	Appendix 7 – Article 4	190

List of Tables

Table 1. Overview of the thesis and research articles	8
Table 2. Core elements in numeracy and mathematics by term and number of	f
hours (Malawian Institute of Education, 2017)4	1
Table 3. Characteristics of the cases selected for the SM observations 5	51
Table 4. Summary of the empirical material collected in all three study	
moment	54
Table 5. Summary of the themes according to the cases and research	
questions7	9

List of Figures

Figure 1. Framework of mathematical knowledge for teaching (Ball et al.,
2008, p. 403)
Figure 2. Malawi and the Sub-Saharan Africa region
Figure 3. Number of participants during IM, and the selection process for the
SM and TM
Figure 4. Organization of the data and generation of the initial codes within the
conceptual framework59
Figure 5. Production of themes from the initial codes and the conceptual
framework
Figure 6. Process of elaboration of the themes within the framework

List of Publication

Article 1

Jacinto, E. J, & Jakobsen, A. (2020). Mathematical knowledge for teaching: How do primary pre-service teachers in Malawi understand it? *African Journal of Research in Mathematics, Science and Technology Education*, 24(1), 31–40.

Article 2

Jacinto, E. L., & Jakobsen, A. (2019). Pedagogical content knowledge for teaching mathematics: What matters for pre-service primary teachers in Malawi? In M. Graven, H. Venkat, A. Essien, & P. Vale (Eds.), Proceedings of the 43rd Conference of the International Group for the Psychology of Mathematics Education: Research Reports (Vol. 2, pp.424–431). Pretoria, South Africa: PME.

Article 3

Jacinto, E. J., Jakobsen, A., & Bjuland, R. (2020). Understanding of the knowledge necessary to sequence tasks in mathematical instruction: The case of Malawian pre-service teachers, *International Journal of Science and Mathematics Education*. (Accepted for Revision, resubmitted)

Article 4

Jacinto, E. J. (2020). An analysis of pre-service teachers' understanding of the knowledge entailed in the work of teaching: Insights from Malawi. *Journal of Mathematics Teacher Education*. (Under review)

1 Introduction

1.1 Research Background and Problem

Over the last few decades, considerable advances in education and teacher education have been attained, yet they have been insufficient to promote learning opportunities for all. While statistics published by United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO, 2016b) show that literacy and basic education rates have increased significantly and that the number of student enrollment and qualified teachers in schools has increased, the number of qualified teachers per student in schools remains small. Worldwide, 69 million more qualified teachers are needed to achieve the universal goals in elementary education, and unless urgent changes are made, only a few nations will be able to reach their goals in 2030 (UNESCO, 2016a). Qualified teacher shortages are particularly pronounced in Sub-Saharan African countries; a report by UNESCO (2016b) suggests these countries will require a total of 17 million primary and secondary teachers by the end of this decade.

To improve their teacher-to-student ratios, countries in Sub-Saharan Africa have been hiring candidates with suboptimal or no teaching qualifications, or persons with degrees in unrelated subjects (UNESCO, 2015a). Since the number of students who need to be taught does not match the number of qualified teachers, staff are often asked to switch departments or take over additional subjects. Professional development programs have envisioned this circumstance as an opportunity for teachers to extend their teaching expertise and maintain a high quality of teaching. However, studies have shown that these makeshift solutions might appear to be a short-term answer and are likely to have an adverse long-term impact on school practices and student outcomes (Bourdon, Frölich, & Michaelowa, 2010; Duthilleul, 2005; Farrell & Oliveira, 1993). For instance, Bourdon et al. (2010) demonstrated that, although contract teachers programs with lower qualification (lower secondary education or less) have contributed to increasing access in remote rural areas in Kenya, where regular teachers are disinclined to serve, there is a trend for significant deterioration of education quality in terms of student achievement in the long run.

Teachers are the key components of any efforts aimed at improving the educational system quality (Schleicher, 2016); thus, a lack of qualified teachers inevitably reduces instruction effectiveness and causes a decline in students' ability to learn (Darling-Hammond & Youngs, 2002; Kennedy, 2008). Without proper knowledge and skills, teachers are unable to design lessons effectively, whereby the objectives, methods, and curricular materials are well aligned and meet students' needs. Available evidence shows that a poorly elaborated lesson plan creates confusion, instability, and insecurity in the classroom, which in turn, limits students' potential to master the content (Dudek, Reddy, & Lekwa, 2019). Developing proper knowledge and skills to carry out teaching effectively is a primary task for teachers to improve the quality of education (Turner-Bisset, 2001).

As a result of this challenge, a significant amount of research has been conducted on teaching knowledge and the role such knowledge plays in the practical activities of teaching (Freire, 1985; Grossman, 1990; Shulman, 1986). Shulman (1986), particularly, made a significant contribution to this research through his studies about pedagogical content knowledge. This concept was largely based on his research aimed at elucidating what makes the learning of a specific topic easy or difficult for students, how teachers decide what to teach, where their explanations come from, and how teachers respond to students' misunderstandings. Shulman (1986) argued that during teacher education, pre-service teachers need to develop a knowledge base that includes the necessary cognitive skills, devices and values, character, and performance for creating productive learning environments. These learning environments can help pre-service teachers to increase their understanding of student interaction, allow them to explain complex concepts, adapt their teaching to individual student needs, and make the teaching process more efficient (Shulman, 1986).

In mathematics, researchers have assumed teaching knowledge is an integration of both subject matter knowledge and pedagogical content knowledge (Ball, 2017; Bruckmaier, Krauss, Blum, & Leiss, 2016; Carillo, Climent, Contreras, & Muñoz-Catalán, 2013; Rowland, 2013). As the theoretical framework for this study, Ball, Thames and Phelps (2008) Theory of Mathematical Knowledge for Teaching divided subject matter knowledge into common content knowledge (CCK), horizon content knowledge (HCK), and specialized content knowledge (SCK), whereas pedagogical content knowledge was divided into knowledge of content and students (KCS), knowledge of content and teaching (KCT), and knowledge of content and curriculum (KCC). These domains provide teachers a theoretical landscape in which the knowledge necessary to teach mathematics effectively makes itself more apparent (Hill et al., 2008). This landscape is composed of teaching tasks such as capturing and retaining students' interest in learning, representing and formulating the subject to make it understandable, and the knowledge and skills necessary for carrying out these tasks effectively (Ball, 2017; Ball et al., 2008). Researchers in the field can benefit from examining these knowledge domains in practice, as gaining insight into teachers' areas of expertise could instigate new orientations for educational reforms and professional development for future teachers (Hill et al., 2008).

Although mathematics teacher knowledge is a commonly adopted term in teacher education research, there is more to teacher knowledge than its characterization. Researchers in the field have emphasized the importance of studying (and measuring) teachers' beliefs and properties of the mathematical knowledge for teaching, a crucial component to progress the quality of teaching (Delaney, Ball, Hill, Schilling, & Zopf, 2008; Fives & Buehl, 2010; Mosvold & Fauskanger, 2013, 2014). It is important to describe the type of knowledge needed for teachers; equally important is to know how pre-service teachers acquire and understand this knowledge, and how their beliefs and understandings influence the way they learn and develop as future teachers (Ball, 2017; Jakobsen, Kazima, & Kasoka, 2018; Mosvold & Fauskanger, 2013; Kasoka, Jakobsen, & Kazima, 2017).

1.2 Research Questions and Study Design

The present study contributes to the existing body of research on teacher education and teaching knowledge. In the study, teaching knowledge is defined as the knowledge teachers need to possess to carry out their work as mathematics teachers. From this definition, the overarching question guiding this study was: *How do pre-service teachers develop their understanding of the knowledge necessary to teach mathematics throughout teacher education?*

To answer this question, three sub-questions were posed:

1) What understanding do pre-service teachers have of the knowledge needed to carry out the tasks of mathematics teaching at the beginning of their teacher education?

2) To what extent does the pre-service teachers' understanding of the knowledge needed to carry out teaching tasks evolve through the discussion of practical experiences in college?

3) How do pre-service teachers develop their understanding of the knowledge needed to carry out the tasks of teaching throughout teacher education?

Answers to these sub-questions were sought through a longitudinal study involving primary pre-service teachers in Malawi, the first Sub-Saharan African country to implement free primary school education for all children in order to meet UNESCO's (2019) recommendations for the Sustainable Development Goal 4 (SDG 4) in education. The introduction of Free Primary Education was a significant step in ensuring education accessibility, but it has also created new

problems for the education system and the quality of teacher education, a scenario that is further discussed in Chapter 3.

The longitudinal study described in this thesis was designed upon a case-study approach (Stake, 1995) that focused on the ways pre-service teachers in Malawi develop an understanding of the tasks of teaching mathematics and the knowledge needed to carry out these tasks in primary classrooms. The overall study was comprised of three distinct stages, each of which reflected a moment in a two-year teacher education program: an initial moment (IM) that occurred during pre-service teachers' theoretical courses; a second moment (SM) with pre-service teachers during their teaching practice in local schools; and a third moment (TM) at the end of teacher education when pre-service teachers come back to college for more theoretical courses. While the data collection instruments for IM consisted of a questionnaire survey and individual interviews with twenty-three pre-service teachers, those related to the SM included video records of mathematical lessons and post-lesson interviews with six of the twenty-three pre-service teachers from the IM. These six pre-service teachers presented different profiles in terms of teaching experiences, subject preference in high school, and subject preference for teaching during college. The data for the TM was obtained via a focus-group discussion with the same pre-service teachers from the SM. Further details on each of these moments as well as related data collection instruments used in this study are provided in Chapter 4 (Research Methodology).

1.3 Articles Comprising the Thesis

The data gathered as a part of the IM, SM, and TM wielded significant insights and have been published in journal articles and peerreviewed conference papers. Four of these publications are incorporated into this thesis to build a coherent synopsis of the overall study.

In the first two articles, empirical data related to six pre-service teachers who were chosen from a twenty-three entering participant sample were examined. Analyses reported in these articles uncovered the initial understanding the pre-service teachers demonstrated of the knowledge necessary to carry out tasks of mathematics teaching at the beginning of teacher education. While the focus of the first article was on the three domains of a teachers' subject matter knowledge (CCK, HCK, and SCK), the second article's goal was to provide an examination of pre-service teachers' initial understanding of pedagogical content knowledge domains during mathematical instruction.

In the third article, pre-service teachers' understanding of the knowledge needed for carrying out tasks of mathematics teaching was examined during their teaching experiences in local schools. This focus relates to the second research question of this thesis (To what extent does the pre-service teachers' understanding of the knowledge needed to carry out teaching tasks evolve through the discussion of practical experiences in college?). Specifically, analyses and findings reported in this third article addressed the question: How do pre-service teachers understand the knowledge necessary for sequencing tasks in mathematical instruction? Sequencing tasks for teaching is a crucial component of the SCK domain, as it allows teachers to create smooth transitions between concepts, topics, and lessons. It also helps teachers become aware of the learning goals so that they can better anticipate and assist students with their difficulties and misunderstandings. In this article, a case study of two pre-service teachers (one female and one male) was presented, while drawing upon the data captured during the IM and SM study moments.

The fourth article focused on the understanding of teaching knowledge pre-service teachers develop throughout teacher education. The findings reported in this article related to the third research question (How do pre-service teachers develop their understanding of the knowledge necessary to carry out the tasks of teaching throughout teacher education?). The analyses conducted focused on two specific themes within the SCK domain: the knowledge of instructional task progression to help students solve mathematical problems and the ability to use locally available resources to create multiple representations. These two themes were developed following the analytical process adopted in the previous articles. Table 1 provides an overview of the contribution of these four publications to the overall aims of this thesis. Introduction

Table 1. Overview of the thesis and research articles

Overall Aim of the Thesis	The aim of this stud development of pre-s	ly is to gain an in-depth i ervice teachers' understa	The aim of this study is to gain an in-depth understanding of pre-service teachers' education in Malawi and the development of pre-service teachers' understanding of teaching knowledge for mathematics instruction in primary schools.	s? education in Malawi and the thematics instruction in primary
Overall Research Question	How do pre-service teach	ners develop their underst	teachers develop their understanding of the knowledge necessary to teach mathematics throughout teacher education?	each mathematics throughout teacher
Specific Research Question	What understanding do pre-service teachers have of the knowledge needed to carry out the tasks of	re-service teachers have to carry out the tasks of	To what extent does the pre-service teachers' understanding of the	How do pre-service teachers develop their understanding of the knowledge
	mathematics teaching at the beginning of their teacher education?	the beginning of their ucation?	knowledge needed to carry out teaching tasks evolve through the	needed to carry out the tasks of teaching throughout teacher
			discussion of practical experiences in college?	education?
Articles	Article 1	Article 2	Article 3	Article 4
Title	Mathematical knowledge for teaching:	Pedagogical content knowledge: What	Understanding of the knowledge necessary to sequence tasks in	An analysis of pre-service teachers' understanding of the knowledge
	How do primary pre-	matters for pre-service	mathematical instruction: The case	necessary to teach mathematics: A
		teachers in Malawi?	of Malawian pre-service teachers	case study in Malawi
	Malawi understand it?			
Aim of the Study	To examine what	To examine what	To examine how pre-service	To analyze how Malawian primary
	understanding pre-	understanding pre-	teachers develop their	pre-service teachers develop their
	service teachers have of	service teachers have	understanding of the knowledge	understanding
	the knowledge entailed	of pedagogical content	necessary to sequence tasks given	of the knowledge needed to carry out
	in the work of teaching	knowledge Ior	to students in	the tasks of teaching mathematics
		teaching mathematics	mathematical instruction	throughout teacher education
Sample	Six Pre-service	Three Pre-service	Two Pre-service Teachers	Three Pre-service Teachers
	Teachers	Teachers		

 ∞

Introduction

Data	Questionnaire Survey Individual Interviews	Questionnaire Survey Individual Interviews	Questionnaire Survey Individual Interviews	Questionnaire Survey Individual Interviews
			Practice Observations	Practice Observations
			Post-Lesson Interviews	Post-Lesson Interviews
				Focus-Group Discussion
Thematic Analysis	CCK for Teaching and	Decision-making in	Knowledge of how to sequence	Knowledge of instructional task
(Themes of	Learning;	teachers' KCT;	instructional tasks to foster	progression to help students solve
Analysis)	Relating Knowledge of	Relations between	students' learning of mathematics	mathematical problems; Ability to
	Out-of-curriculum	KCT and KCC;		use locally available resources to
	Content to HCK; The	Adaptations of the		create multiple representations
	Importance of SCK in	classroom activities		
	Interpreting Students'	from students'		
	Errors and Capacities;	contributions and		
	SCK: Stimulating	levels of		
	Mathematics Learning	understanding		
	Through Different			
	Approaches			

Collectively, the four articles provide in-depth insight into the development of pre-service teachers' understanding of teaching knowledge during teacher education. A longitudinal approach is used in this thesis as a case study (Stake, 1995) for examining the evolution of the pre-service teachers' understanding of teaching knowledge as they progress through teacher education. As this research design was subject to several adaptations influenced by the pre-service teachers' experiences before and after work placement at local schools, this thesis provides a valuable contribution to existing research and theories on teaching knowledge, and may also inform teacher education policies and guidelines.

1.4 The Researcher's Motivation Behind the Study¹

The researchers' role in and interactions with the research are critical aspects of a qualitative study. The relationship that researchers have with what is observed and how the data is analyzed should be considered (Noble & Smith, 2015). In this manner, the present research was motivated by my educational background, previous teaching experience, and research findings related to knowledge needed for teaching mathematics. Specifically, I earned a bachelor's degree in Mathematics (licentiate) and a master's degree in Mathematics and Science Education in Brazil (2011). As a university student, I faced numerous challenges regarding learning how to teach mathematics in elementary school. At the end of my educational program, graduates were expected to possess an in-depth understanding of the mathematical content, including advanced content knowledge such as Topology and Real Analysis, as well as pedagogical content such as Psychology and Theories of Teaching and Learning. In this curriculum, students were

¹ The personal pronoun "I" will be used in this section and conclusion chapter as they describe the researcher's personal motivations, the limits and contributions of this study. The rest remainder of the thesis is written in a more objective academic form.

expected to master pure mathematical content before learning educational theories and teaching practices.

Although I possessed a strong knowledge of mathematics, my knowledge about teaching and my ability to teach mathematics were basic. I can still vividly recall how, on my first day in a sixth-grade classroom, I struggled to get students' attention and motivate them to participate in the lesson. I remember telling my master's thesis supervisor that my first experience as a teacher was a complete disaster. The reassurance of this being a common experience prompted me to explore the issue further, which led me to educational research. A year later, I was assigned to work in a project about elementary school level teaching and learning activities related to triangle similarity, sponsored by the university. As a part of this project, I developed experimental mathematics activities based on a sociocultural model of education proposed by renowned authors such as Vygotsky, Leontiev, Luria, and Davydov. Working with a small number of students and with content that was of interest and relevance to them, opened new horizons on the meaning and purpose of mathematics education in elementary school (Jacinto & Cedro, 2006). After receiving my bachelor's degree, I began to work as a teacher in secondary education, adult education, indigenous education, and professional education for disadvantaged groups.

After two years of practical teaching experience, I started a master's degree in Mathematics and Science Education, which culminated with the dissertation titled "The pedagogical activity of Mathematics Teacher at the Program of Young and Adult Education (PROEJA)." The main goal of my dissertation project was to examine how the pedagogical actions of mathematics teachers satisfy the needs and aptitudes of young and adult learners. This experience taught me that, in order to provide exemplary teaching, it is vital to possess not only extensive knowledge of the content but also to provide opportunities for students to take ownership of the knowledge historically produced by

humanity and share the meanings they created socially and culturally. In essence, school promotes real learning activities (Davydov, 1999).

Although my understanding of teaching and learning evolved substantially during my master's studies, the characteristics that describe a successful mathematics teacher were still unclear. Thus, after completing my master's degree in 2011, I started to develop proposals for a Ph.D. program, one of which related to an investigation of the primary cognitive skills that elementary pre-service teachers need to possess to teach mathematics. However, in 2012, I was invited to take part in an international educational cooperation program between Brazil and East Timor². I accepted the offer and soon started working as a cooperating teacher (mentor teacher) in the Department of Mathematics and the Department of Primary and Elementary Teachers' Education at the National University of East Timor.

No cooperating teacher in our group was prepared for this work. Some of the tasks assigned to us were new, even for those with higher qualifications and working experience as university professors. For instance, we were required to revise and adapt the undergraduate program syllabus to the Timorese context in a useful and meaningful way; teach (mathematics, physics, biology ...) disciplines in the Portuguese language, while valuing other languages from this context (Tetum, Bahasa Indonesian, Mambai ...); use teaching methods that consider the previous knowledge and experiences of students, and

² East Timor is one of the poorest countries in Asia, raking 128 out of 187 countries worldwide on the United Nations Human Development Index (2017). East Timor was Portuguese colony until 1975, when Indonesian invasion that lasted until 1999 took place. Following East Timor's independence, from 1999 until 2006, the island was monitored by the United Nations (UN). Its first presidential elections were held 2011, which marked a significant moment in the history of East Timor. Since then, the Timorese education system, which was once based on the Indonesian educational model, underwent a complete restructuration in terms of language and culture, as well as political decisions. Several teachers and educators from Portuguese-speaking countries have since been sent to work closely with the local educators to train elementary teachers and university professors.

supervise university students in the production of monographs that would be useful for addressing local regions issues.

The challenges posed by these tasks made me appreciate the importance and value of the knowledge needed to carry out these tasks to deliver my work as required. As a young teacher in a foreign land lacking any practical experience or empirical evidence, I could only rely on speculation regarding the knowledge that is likely involved in these tasks. Thus, I developed some conjectures based on the knowledge of previous and the projected curriculum, knowledge of teaching methods that could be useful in teaching mathematics in a multilinguistic and multicultural context, knowledge of the history of mathematics locally produced in East Timor, and knowledge of the teaching methods used to teach at the university level. These initial explorations led to a realization that a better systematization of the tasks and knowledge demands for teaching mathematics in this context would result in a more efficient training program that could be adapted from the local and social needs of the Timorese context.

Such challenges in East Timor were the precursor to continuing to study teacher education in developing countries. I began to search for doctoral positions in this field in different universities around the world. At the beginning of the year 2017, the Faculty of Arts and Education of the University of Stavanger offered a Ph.D. position in mathematics education with several areas of investigation. One of the areas of most interest was the project *Improving quality and capacity of mathematics teacher education in Malawi (2013-2018)* that had a strong focus on teaching knowledge in mathematics and the development of mathematics teacher work. My application was accepted with a starting date of August 2017.

The opportunity to contribute to a study in an international cooperation program about primary teacher education in Malawi further inspired me to study the knowledge requirements for pre-service teachers to learn to teach mathematics successfully in this context. After studying Introduction

the Malawian history and culture, as well as the institutional documents created for gaining mathematics teacher qualifications, which are discussed in depth in Chapter 3, I found that the teacher education curriculum is strongly influenced by Shulman's (1986) Theory of Pedagogical Content Knowledge and Ball et al.'s (2008) Theory of Mathematical Knowledge for Teaching. Thus, my interest in researching the understanding primary pre-service teachers develop of the knowledge necessary to carry out tasks of teaching mathematics from the perspective of Ball et al. (2008) and Ball (2017), was born. While this theory is discussed in Chapter 2, the ontology and the epistemological views of the researcher will not be further elaborated, as this is beyond the scope of this thesis. As noted, the work's focus is directed towards how pre-service teachers develop their understanding of the knowledge necessary to teach mathematics during teacher education and how that can inform the design of pre-service teachers' education in mathematics.

1.5 Structure of the Thesis

This thesis comprises the synopsis and four articles. In this first chapter, the research context and aim were delineated, followed by the research questions, and a brief discussion of the articles comprising the synopsis. The second chapter begins with a review of pertinent literature, as this provides the justification for the theoretical and methodological approaches adopted during data collection and analysis. In Chapter 3, the study is further contextualized by detailing the primary school education system and primary teacher education in Malawi. The research design is presented in Chapter 4 along with the data collection instruments and the analytical models adopted to interpret the data. In Chapters 5 and 6, the four articles comprising the synopsis are presented and discussed, focusing on common findings and key topics. Finally, the thesis closes with Chapter 7, where potential contributions of the present study to the mathematics teacher education as well as the extant research on teacher education are outlined. Study limitations are also indicated based on several suggestions for further research.

2 Theoretical Background and Relevant Research

2.1 Teaching Practice and Teaching Knowledge

Can the skills and characteristics required of an effective teacher be taught? Are some ways of preparing teachers better than others? What is involved in the practice of teaching? Although teaching in one form or another has existed throughout human history and extensive research on teaching and teacher education has been conducted over the years, these and other questions persist.

Axelrold (1973) described teaching as a didactic or evocative activity. The didactic teaching emphasizes teachers' responsibility for transmitting pertinent knowledge or instructing others on how to do something. This teaching model is typically employed by teacher craftsmen (Axelrold, 1973) who have full control of the learning environment, and are solely responsible for the students' learning and the direction that the lesson takes in the classroom. In other words, didactic teachers allow learning to occur (Novak, 1998). As a result of this hierarchical and rigid process, learners' focus is directed on memorizing facts and prescribed procedures, without seeking to understand the broader context or draw conclusions. The evocative teaching, on the other hand, emphasizes the role of teachers as teacher artists (Axelrold, 1973) whose aim is to enable learners to take control of their learning process and create evocative situations that promote learning. In this teaching model, the emphasis is on "inquiry" and "discovery" due to which lessons are designed to respond to the students' needs and aspirations with the emphasis on creativity, improvisation, and expressiveness (Gage, 1978).

Describing teaching without considering learning is to understand the work of the teacher only partially. According to Hiebert and Grouws (2007), teaching consists of "classroom interactions among teachers and students around content directed toward facilitating students' achievement of learning goals" (p. 372). This definition encompasses the ways in which multiple features that contribute to defining teachers' roles impact students' learning. Therefore, to understand the function of teachers and the effectiveness of teaching, it is necessary to understand the kind of learning goals the teaching is designed to achieve.

When bringing such a viewpoint to the context of teacher education, both teaching and learning dimensions should be considered. Pre-service teachers with or without teaching experience are simultaneously aspirant teachers and students. Although they are defined as teachers who had not yet completed a degree course in teaching, research has shown that pre-service teachers also differ from experienced teachers in terms of the beliefs they hold (Wideen, Mayer-Smith, & Moon, 1998). Pre-service teachers often begin their education with an intuitive idea about teaching that is established from their previous experience in schools (Barkatsas & Malone, 2005; Wilson, Cooney, & Stinson, 2005). During teacher education, pre-service teachers are exposed to many new ideas of teaching as they take theoretical courses and have supervised teaching practice in schools (Lavigne, 2014). After becoming in-service teachers, they are forced to modify their pedagogical beliefs because of contexts and tasks designed (Lavigne, 2014; Sheridan, 2016). The concepts of teaching and learning take on different shapes as the pre-service teachers become in-service teachers (Ng, Nicholas, & Williams, 2010).

Although teacher education has been studied extensively, the focus is typically given to the cognitive difference between what teachers should learn and what they should be able to do (Darling-Hammond & Bransford, 2005). In this context, the works of Shulman (1987), Perrenoud (1993), Freire (1996), and Tardif (2002) are particularly noteworthy. Even though these authors used similar terms to convey the same meaning, they used different approaches to study teacher preparedness. For example, Perrenoud (1993) and Freire (1996) focused on the teaching practices and roles of teachers in classrooms, whereas Shulman (1987) and Tardif (2002) direct their attention to the education and professionalization of teachers (Neto & Costa, 2016). As noted by Fernandez (2014), most of Shulman's work was dedicated to developing "the body of understanding and skills, and device and values, character and performance that together constitute the ability to teach" (p. 82). Based on his findings, Shulman (1986) opined:

The teacher needs not only understand that something is so; the teacher must further understand *why* it is so, on what grounds its warrant can be asserted, and under what circumstances our belief in its justification can be weakened and even denied. Moreover, we expect the teacher to understand why a given topic is particularly central to a discipline whereas another may be somewhat peripheral. This will be important in subsequent pedagogical judgments regarding relative curricular emphasis. (p. 9)

According to this perspective, the work of teaching entails tasks that teachers must execute to help students to learn (Shulman, 1986). Teachers must be able to determine the content that is essential to meet students' learning needs and specificities. This means that once the content's essence, origins, and the logic-historical processes that justify the existence of the content are understood, teachers should be able to orient their students' learning beyond simple facts and predetermined standards, which is a prime condition for effective teaching (Grossman et al., 2009).

To meet the goals outlined above, Shulman (1986) suggested that teachers needed to possess three categories of knowledge to teach a particular subject effectively: subject matter knowledge, curricular knowledge, and pedagogical content knowledge. The first category subject matter knowledge—refers to "the amount and organization of knowledge per se in the mind of the teacher" (Shulman, 1986, p. 9). According to Shulman (1986), an effective teacher should know not only the facts and concepts pertinent to the domain, but should also be able to explicate why the domain is worth knowing and how it relates to other domains. The second category—curricular knowledge—entails awareness of what the curriculum proposes and the norms and principles of the work setting. In other words, curricular knowledge involves knowledge about the programs of study and curricular materials used to teach a subject, as this allows teachers to make connections between previously studied material and topics to be introduced later in the learning process, which is an essential aspect of teaching (Brant, 2006).

The third category—pedagogical content knowledge—refers to the knowledge base of teaching at the intersection between content and pedagogy (Shulman, 1986). Such knowledge, according to Shulman (1986), encompasses "aspects of content most germane to its teachability" (p. 9). It includes the ability to identify and organize concepts presented in class (representations, analogies, illustrations, examples, explanations, and demonstrations) to make a subject more comprehensible for the students.

Even though Shulman (1986) proposed the aforementioned ideas about pedagogical content knowledge nearly 35 years ago, these conceptualizations have gained momentum in recent investigations about teacher knowledge. His work has also served as a basis for the recent educational reforms and has influenced research efforts and educational policies in several countries. In recent years, pedagogical content knowledge is increasingly being taught by teacher educators in teacher educational programs, especially those aimed at primary school education. Given that Shulman (1986) conceived pedagogical content knowledge in general terms, his ideas have since been expanded to help teachers learn and develop a better sense of the tasks and knowledge demanded for teaching subject matter.

As a part of this research initiative, Shulman's (1986) ideas have been investigated in the context of pre-service mathematics teacher education. An ample body of frameworks has been produced on this topic, including the works of Ball et al. (2008), Chevallard's (2000), Davis and Simmt (2006), and Rowland, Huckstep, and Thwaites (2005). Although aligning with Shulman's (1986) ideas, these frameworks have pursued different ideas and approaches regarding teaching knowledge, including examining associations between mathematical knowledge and practice (Chevallard, 2000), investigating the complex dynamics of the mathematical knowledge that teachers needed for teaching (Davis & Simmt, 2006), studying the differences between content knowledge and pedagogical content knowledge and implications for teaching and learning (Baumert et al., 2010; Krauss et al., 2008), and exploring different aspects of teacher knowledge that contribute to the professional development of pre-service teachers (Rowland et al., 2005).

The framework of Ball et al. (2008), in particular, focuses on representations of the knowledge entailed in the work of mathematics teachers. Such a framework of mathematical knowledge for teaching comprises the areas that are unique to the role of mathematics teacher by examining how subject matter and pedagogical content knowledge are employed to carry out the tasks of teaching mathematics (Ball et al., 2008).

Additionally, Ball et al.'s (2008) works focus on the recurrent tasks and problems of teaching mathematics, what teachers do as they teach mathematics, and the mathematical knowledge, skills, and sensibilities required to manage these tasks. A list of the tasks identified as the tasks entailed in the work teachers do when they are teaching mathematics includes:

- Presenting mathematical ideas,
- Responding to students' "why" questions,
- Finding an example to make a specific mathematical point,
- Recognizing what is involved in using a particular representation,
- Linking representations to underlying ideas and other representations,
- Connecting a topic being taught to topics from prior or future years,

- Explaining mathematical goals and purposes to parents,
- Appraising and adapting the mathematical content of textbooks,
- Modifying tasks to be either easier or harder,
- Explaining the plausibility of students' claims (often quickly),
- Giving or evaluating mathematical explanations,
- Choosing and developing usable definitions,
- Using mathematical notation and language and critiquing its use,
- Asking productive mathematical questions,
- Selecting representations for particular purposes, and
- Inspecting equivalencies.

The tasks outlined by the authors are examples of what is required for teachers to carry out to conduct their teaching successfully. They reveal the complexity and dynamic of activities that regularly occur in the classroom and offer a window into the knowledge entailed in teaching mathematics in broader contexts (Ng, Mosvold, & Fauskanger, 2012; Selling, Garcia, & Ball, 2016).

In analyzing these tasks, Ball et al. (2008) were guided by the empirical evidence supporting the existence of six domains of teaching knowledge needed to carry out the tasks of teaching mathematics effectively. These domains were typically denoted as common content knowledge (CCK), specialized content knowledge (SCK), horizon content knowledge (HCK), knowledge of content and students (KCS), knowledge of content and curriculum (KCC), and knowledge of content and teaching (KCT), and their organization into systematic units as presented in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Framework of mathematical knowledge for teaching (Ball et al., 2008, p. 403).

According to Ball et al. (2008), CCK domain refers to the knowledge that is common in a wide variety of settings, rather than pertaining solely to the work of teaching. For example, engineers or economists use this type of knowledge to solve problems in their daily work. Similarly, using an algorithm to find the answer for a subtraction problem is an example of CCK. In teaching, CCK allows teachers to appropriately respond to students' questions and resolve any misunderstandings related to the subject matter (Ndlovu, Amin, & Samuel, 2017).

SCK, one the other hand, is the knowledge unique to the work of mathematics teaching. It "involves an uncanny kind of unpacking of mathematics that is not needed—or even desirable—in settings other than teaching" (Ball et al., 2008, p. 400). Some examples of SCK include the knowledge needed to carry out tasks of teaching unique to the work of teaching such as introduce mathematical concepts in a way that is accessible to the students (Ball et al., 2008). For instance, when introducing students to the notion of numbers, the teacher needs to know

how the students perceive this concept in various real-world contexts. As noted by Worden (2015), this necessitates not only the capacity for "transforming content knowledge into pedagogical content knowledge but also unpacking one's content knowledge to make it available for such transformation" (p. 106).

The CCK and SCK domains are interrelated via the HCK domain, which is defined as the mathematical knowledge from a broad perspective (Ball et al., 2008). Thus, HCK entails knowledge of the discipline, its origins, and the value of curriculum in its multiple dimensions and settings (Jakobsen, Thames, Ribeiro, & Delaney, 2012). As this necessitates the general knowledge of the previous and forthcoming content, it is often equated with "a peripheral mathematical vision needed in teaching" (Hill, Rowan, & Ball, 2005, p. 70). In teaching practice, HCK allows teachers to develop a sense of conceptual nexus between the curriculum and a broader perspective of the discipline (Jakobsen et al., 2012).

The KCC domain combines the knowledge of mathematics and the curriculum, as conceived by Shulman (Sleep, 2009). This domain also includes the skills required to effectively use the teaching materials such as textbooks and didactic materials, teaching instruments such as Blackboard, and technology such as calculators and computers (Koponen, Asikainen, Viholainen, & Hirvonen, 2016).

The KCS domain represents an amalgam of knowledge of content and students (Ball et al., 2008). It implies the capacity for anticipating how students will interpret the taught material and which aspects they will find difficult to understand. To meet these aims, teachers must be able to hear and respond to students' arguments and choose instruction approaches that promote student learning. Consequently, KCS also necessitates the awareness of students' motivation and aptitude for learning mathematical topics.

Finally, KCT combines knowledge of mathematics and teaching, in recognition of the fact that, in order to teach mathematics effectively,

teachers must be able design lessons appropriately. This includes proper selection of activities, exercises, and representations for different topics. One crucial characteristic of this knowledge is the teacher's ability "to recognize situations where teachers should diverge from their original planning, for example, if a student makes a mathematical discovery" (Koponen et al., 2016, p. 152).

The six domains presented above imply that the integration of knowledge types is unique to mathematics teachers (Ball & Bass, 2000). Teaching mathematics includes a core of tasks that teachers must carry out to help students to learn (Ball & Forzani, 2009). Such tasks are complex and reveal qualities that other professions do not demand. The work of mathematics teachers is a specific activity that differs from casual actions including commonplace showing, telling, or helping (Cohen, 2011; as cited in Ball & Forzani, 2009). For example, although an engineer possesses high-level mathematics knowledge and at least reasonable science knowledge, the engineer can only provide information or show one another how to do things. The mathematics teacher, on the other hand, aims at the professional classroom teaching (Ball & Forzani, 2009), an endeavor that includes the creation of opportunities for students to learn and develop their understanding of the subject matter. In this sense, the teacher's role is driven by social and moral conduct and a human sense to help students develop their best qualities as human beings (Jacinto & Cedro, 2012).

Teaching mathematics requires specialized knowledge and skills that go beyond subject matter alone, and Ball et al.'s (2008) Theory of Mathematical Knowledge for Teaching provides the analytical tools to identify and analyze the kind of knowledge and skills that mathematics teaching actually requires (Ding, 2016; Goos, 2013; Jakobsen et al., 2012; Stephenson, 2018). However, it also has attracted considerable criticism due to its limited application on how the framework could be useful for guiding teachers to teach mathematics (Mitchell, Charalambous, & Hill, 2014) or provide better insights into teachers' views and understandings of the mathematical knowledge for teaching (Mosvold & Fauskanger, 2013). This is a particular challenge for the field of teacher education and teaching knowledge since the quality of teaching and teaching knowledge depends on the views and understandings of those who actually teach. Therefore, this thesis seeks to provide insights into the understanding that pre-service teachers develop of the knowledge necessary to teach mathematics.

The following sections aim to contextualize the current study into the research field of teaching knowledge. They focus on relevant research related to teachers' beliefs of teaching knowledge, followed by a clarification of the main terms used in this study.

2.2 Beliefs of Teaching Knowledge

Over the last few decades, a growing body of research has been conducted to elucidate teachers' mathematical knowledge needed for teaching (Hill et al., 2008). However, most of the extant studies have focused on the ways teachers' knowledge and beliefs influence student performance (Hill et al., 2005; Rockoff, Jacob, Kane, & Steiger, 2011) and instructional practice (Ball, 1990; Ben-Peretz, 2011; Fennema & Franke, 1992; Mapolelo & Akinsola, 2015; Wilkins, 2008). In particular, only a small portion of these studies have focused on teachers' views and understanding of the knowledge needed for teaching mathematics (Hatisaru, 2018; Mosvold & Fauskanger, 2013).

Research on teachers' beliefs about teaching knowledge, while limited, has yielded some valuable findings (Ferguson & Brownlee, 2018; Fives & Buehl, 2008; Hofer, 2002; Mosvold & Fauskanger, 2013; Sinatra & Kardash, 2004). Fives and Buehl (2008), for instance, described the concept of personal epistemology in the context of studies about teaching knowledge. The authors employed qualitative and quantitative methods to examine pre-service teachers' and practicing teachers' beliefs about teaching knowledge and teaching ability. While
the authors provided valuable insights for developing a framework to conceptualize teachers' beliefs about teacher knowledge, they called for further investigations using longitudinal and cross-sectional methodologies to explore this topic further, as "such studies would indicate whether these beliefs are developmental in nature and change as one experiences the profession" (Fives & Buehl, 2008, p. 172).

Drawing upon the work of Fives and Buehl (2008) and Philipp's (2007) concept of belief, Mosvold and Fauskanger (2013) explored the epistemic beliefs that teachers have about the knowledge needed to teach mathematical definitions. The researchers gathered pertinent data via focus-group interviews involving 15 pre-service and in-service teachers in Norway, which was subjected to content and inductive analysis. Their findings revealed that, while some teachers believed that knowledge of definitions is an integral part of their mathematical knowledge for teaching, others opined that the mathematical definitions are important for higher grades but are not necessary for lower-grade students. The participating teachers were, however, aware of the cultural differences in accepted mathematical definitions.

In a subsequent study, Mosvold and Fauskanger (2014) focused specifically on the domain of mathematical horizon content knowledge. In this context, the authors discussed the beliefs pre-service and practicing teachers have about the knowledge at the mathematical horizon for teaching. A significant finding that emerged from this study was that teachers did not seem to emphasize HCK in their education and practice. When discussing aspects of broader content, participants tended to focus mainly on whether a particular mathematical content was directly related to the curriculum for a specific grade level. This investigation illustrates difficulties encountered when investigating teachers' beliefs about mathematical knowledge for teaching, as this is a complex phenomenon that some teachers might find difficult to articulate.

In other studies, focus was primarily given to specific characteristics of teaching knowledge. For instance, Leikin and Zazkis (2010) interviewed secondary school teachers about their usage of advanced mathematical knowledge acquired during undergraduate studies at colleges or universities. The authors adopted a qualitative approach based on grounded theory (Strauss & Corbin, 1990), aiming to identify common themes in the teachers' data. Their findings indicate that most teachers acknowledge the relevance of advanced mathematical knowledge but have difficulties in generating specific problems or recalling situations in which advanced mathematics knowledge can be useful (Leikin & Zazkis, 2010). In particular, only a few participants were able to provide content-specific examples for the purposes and advantages of their advanced mathematical knowledge for student learning, such as personal confidence, and the ability to make connections and respond to students' questions (Leikin & Zazkis, 2010). Based on these findings, the authors called for a more articulate relationship between advanced mathematical knowledge and mathematical knowledge for teaching.

While the research briefly reviewed in the preceding sections is relevant to the understanding of how teaching knowledge influences the quality of teaching, how teaching knowledge functions in the teachinglearning process of pre-service teachers during teacher training remains to be established. Extant studies on this topic suggest that teaching knowledge should be examined through the lens of pre-service teachers' perceptions of knowledge domains (Kilic, 2015), their self-perceptions of the tasks of teaching (O'Meara, Prendergast, Cantley, Harbison, & O'Hara, 2019), and their views on and understanding of the certainty of teaching knowledge (Ferguson & Brownlee, 2018). Empirical evidence shows that teachers' beliefs have a strong influence on the way they approach students' specificities and learning needs (Givvin, Stipek, Salmon, & MacGyvers, 2001), comprehend mathematical knowledge (Cady & Rearden, 2007), and develop their identity as a teachers (Ponte, 2011). Thus, there is a need to examine whether pre-service teachers truly understand the teaching tasks and the knowledge needed to carry out these tasks during mathematics instruction.

Influenced by the works of Mosvold and Fauskanger (2013) and Fives, Lacatena, and Gerard (2015), the present study focuses on the preservice teachers' understanding of the knowledge defined as relevant to the practice of mathematics teaching. Thus, its aim is to elucidate how pre-service teachers develop their understanding of the knowledge necessary to teach mathematics throughout teacher education.

Having presented the theoretical background of this study, it is now important to clarify the concept of belief and the reasons for adopting *understanding* as the focus of this study.

2.3 Clarification of the Terms: Belief and Understanding

Pre-service teacher's beliefs are a critical part of professional preparation for the work of teaching, as discussed previously in this thesis. It is particularly relevant to researchers aiming to elucidate the central aspects of teachers' roles and attitudes (Akinsola & Awofaba, 2009; Minor, Onwuegbuzie, Witcher, & James, 2002), instructional practices (Levitt, 2001; Thompson, 1992), and the conceptions and views related to teaching and learning specific subjects (Ball, 1990; Beswick, 2012). The purpose of the forthcoming discussion, however, is not to diminish the value of studies exploring teachers' or pre-service teachers' beliefs about teaching, but rather to highlight the emergent need to investigate their understanding of crucial characteristics of the knowledge and skills entailed in the work of mathematics teaching.

The notion of belief has received multiple connotations over time (Pajares, 1992). Looking at its linguistic roots, the word belief comes from Old English lēafa "faith"—a later variant to Proto-Germanic galaubon that means "told dear, esteem, trust" (Harper, 2016). During the 12th century, the word "belief" was used synonymously with religiouslike faith (Stringer, 1996). The evolution of the use of the word belief in the English language has been thoroughly investigated with respect to Christianism's influence and the dynamics of power that have influenced its meaning. Based on the findings yielded, belief is widely accepted as a Christian concept, due to which, its use in other contexts may raise translational and cultural concerns. A non-English speaking person, for instance, from a culture without a notion of belief, might interpret it as a vague proposition (Needham, 1972), a social style (Lindquist & Coleman, 2008), or an experiential efficacy of practice (Mazzoni & Kirsch, 2002). These multiple overlapping meanings can lead to serious misinterpretations and misuse of the concept of beliefs depending on the context.

In the educational research literature, the concept of belief has been defined and operationalized in a variety of ways, giving rise to concepts such as epistemic belief (Bråten, 2010), epistemological belief (Schommer, 1990), personal epistemology (Sandoval, 2005), and epistemic cognition (Moshman, 2016). Epistemic beliefs can be defined as a lens through which a person interprets a phenomenon or situation (Rebmann et al., 2015) or as "psychologically held understandings, premises, or propositions about the world that are thought to be true" (Philipp, 2007, p. 259). It also refers to the knowledge about how people justify and associate matters of objectivity, subjectivity, rationality, and truth (Moshman, 2016). Even though a variety of definitions are adopted in extant studies, in general, researchers equate epistemic beliefs with what individuals know about the nature of knowledge and the process of its acquisition (Conley, Pintrich, Vekiri, & Harrison, 2004; Fives & Buehl, 2008;; Hofer & Pintrich, 1997; Schommer, 1994).

In the educational research field, teachers' epistemic beliefs are usually examined in relation to the practical aspects of mathematics instruction (Bendixen & Feucht, 2010). This research stream has given rise to numerous thought-provoking questions such as: what do teachers think they need to know about teaching? How can teachers' beliefs about the nature of knowledge be utilized to understand and improve educational strategies? and how do teachers' beliefs about knowledge and knowing develop over time? In addition to addressing these questions, most authors recognize the significant need for teachers to reflect on and be aware of their practice (Fives & Buehl, 2008).

The present thesis contributes to the extant body of research on teachers' epistemic beliefs about the knowledge for teaching mathematics. The main focus is on a single component of Philipps' (2007) concept of epistemic belief, which includes an understanding of the nature of knowledge and knowing. The main research question addressed in the present study is: How do pre-service teachers develop their understanding of the knowledge necessary to teach mathematics throughout teacher education? In answering this question, understanding is treated as an epistemic dimension of the belief concept.

Understanding is a crucial condition for the development of epistemic beliefs. Yet, defining understanding is a complex task, as it might be perceived as a species of knowledge (Grimm, 2006). In pertinent literature, different forms of understanding have also been considered, most of which involve a cognitive achievement (De Regt, 2004; Kvanvig, 2003), a mental process or a state of consciousness (Wittgenstein, 2007), or epistemic goods (Haddock, Millar, & Pritchard, 2009). In the present study, however, Smith and Siegel's (2004) views of the concept of understanding are adopted as the starting point. These authors defined understanding under four conditions, each of which is deemed necessary for understanding.

The first criterion of understanding is *connectedness*, which is defined by Smith and Siegel (2004) as the process by which concepts and ideas are linked together. According to this view, the ability to connect different ideas, subjects, or phenomena is an indication of a person's understanding. For instance, understanding the concept of real numbers requires that students identify and define the concepts of natural, whole, integers, and rational and irrational numbers as subsets of the real number set, as well as provide appropriate explanations for

the connections among these concepts. In addition, they should be able to make connections between abstract concepts and practical experience. As pointed out by Bassarear (1997), one "can truly understand an idea only if it is well-connected to other ideas" (p. 9). Based on this view, one's depth of understanding depends on how many connections exist and the quality of those connections (Bassarear, 1997).

The second criterion is the *attribution of meaning* or in Smith and Siegel's (2004) words, "sense-making" (p. 563). This condition relates to the ability to generalize a concept or idea into different settings. It can thus be interpreted as a subjective relationship that an individual has with a concept, object, or phenomenon. For example, a person might know what real numbers mean, but (s)he might find no reason to use such knowledge in everyday life. Depending on the context or circumstances, if a real number has no value for an individual, he or she will likely make no sense of it.

These assertions lead to the third criterion denoted as *application*. According to Smith and Siegel (2004), this condition refers to the ability to apply a concept or idea in different situations (such as problem-solving situations). In the process of learning mathematics, for instance, this condition involves relying on the existing knowledge and skills to solve a specific problem. Using the earlier example, if a person knows what real numbers are but is unable to use such knowledge appropriately in a particular situation, such understanding is incomplete. It is also noteworthy that the condition of application consists not only of the ability to provide explanations of what real numbers mean but also how they can be appropriately employed to the encountered contexts and problems.

The fourth criterion, *justification*, involves a coherent appraisal of at least some of the reasons to support a claim. Smith and Siegel (2004) opined that one must be able to evaluate a concept, idea, or situation that is present. For example, students might know the basic facts about real numbers and might be able to respond to questions about

them without actually truly understanding the concept of real numbers. However, in some situations, they will likely not be able to justify the correctness of their solutions or provide an example that helps to make sense of them since reasoning demands more than merely knowing mathematical facts and procedures.

The four conditions of understanding proposed by Smith and Siegel (2004) highlight not only the major goals of science education but also acknowledge that science (mathematics in particular) teaching should aim to develop one's knowledge and understanding of the concepts and content without the endeavor in having to change the students' beliefs. This strategy recognizes the immense value of education and teachers in the classroom and opens a new window for education research to explore new boundaries. As findings yielded by research on epistemological beliefs have made a significant contribution to education, the work presented in this thesis is guided by the premise that the concept of understanding-defined here as an epistemic component of the belief concept-can provide an alternative interpretive lens (or conceptual instrument) for examining teachers' and pre-service teachers' learning process, particularly, the pre-service teachers' ways of interpreting, constructing, and using the acquired knowledge to conduct the tasks of teaching properly.

Theoretical Background

3 Context of the Study

This chapter introduces the context in which this study took place. Most of its content is based on a limited version of a book chapter (Jacinto, Kazima, Jakobsen, & Bjuland, in press, p. x) written to complement the current research. This book chapter describes the reality of teacher education in Malawi and provides a historical background of the actions taken to qualify pre-service teachers for teaching in Malawi. It also gives an overview of the current programs, institutional documents, and approaches for preparing pre-service teachers to teach mathematics in primary schools. Such a content is now part of this thesis and contributes to our understanding of the processes via which preservice teachers must pass to become teachers in Malawi.

Teacher education has been an important political instrument for improving the quality of the educational system in societies, as pointed out in Chapter 1. Despite progress, many of its nations are struggling to meet the targets set by the United Nations (UN) on Sustainable Development Goal 4 (SDG4) to ensure inclusive and equitable quality education and promote lifelong learning opportunities for all (UNESCO, 2016a). In the region of Sub-Saharan Africa, nearly 7 out of 10 countries face shortages of teachers (about 6 million teachers) to achieve universal primary and secondary education (UNESCO, 2015a). By 2030, 2.2 million new teaching positions need to be created to meet the targets, while filling about 3.9 million positions due to attrition (UNESCO, 2015b).

In the Republic of Malawi, the first Sub-Saharan African country to implement free primary education, the quality of education has been compromised by the employment of teachers with little or no training (United Nations International Children's Emergency Fund [UNICEF], 2019). Most of the Sub-Saharan African countries are members of the Southern Africa Consortium for Monitoring Educational Quality

(SACMEQ), which is a consortium of Ministries of Education in conjunction with UNESCO's International Institute for Educational Planning. The consortium aims to work together to share experiences and apply scientific methods for monitoring and evaluating the quality of education in the participating countries, specifically Botswana, Kenya, Lesotho, Malawi, Mauritius, Mozambique, Namibia, Seychelles, South Africa, Swaziland, Tanzania (Mainland), Tanzania (Zanzibar), Uganda, Zambia, and Zimbabwe. SACMEQ administered tests in numeracy and literacy to primary grade 6 students in all the participating countries. The first test was in 1995, the second in 2000, and the third in 2007. According to the third SACMEO test, seven in ten children in Malawi lack proficiency in reading and mathematics (SACMEQ, 2010). This situation puts Malawi as one of the least performing countries in Sub-Saharan Africa (Ministry of Education, Science, and Technology, 2016). The details of performance by Malawian grade 6 students found that more than 90% of the students were operating at a basic numeracy level, which is three grade levels below the expected level of achievement (SACMEQ, 2010).

Kazima, Jakobsen, and Kasoka (2016) describe many factors that contribute to Malawian students' low achievement, including large class sizes, limited teaching and learning resources, and the teacher's poor quality. Although these factors are connected and need to be addressed to improve the quality of education in Malawi, the quality of teachers is most important because a well-qualified teacher will be able to cope and teach better within the limited circumstances of the Malawian context than an unqualified teacher (Kazima, 2014; Kayuni & Tambulasi, 2007). Furthermore, other factors also affect countries like Lesotho and Zimbabwe, whose students performed better than students in Malawi. Hence, the quality of teaching seems to be the main factor for Malawian students' low achievement. This is likely to be a consequence of employing unqualified teachers to meet the high demand for teachers that was created by the introduction of free primary education.

3.1 Background: The Republic of Malawi

Malawi is a landlocked southern African country that became a republic in 1966 following its independence from Britain in 1964. Prior to independence, Malawi was called Nyasaland and was a British protectorate (Chanaiwa, 1993). From independence in 1964 to 1994, there was only one party, and the leadership was not democratic (Kazima, 2014). In 1994, other parties were introduced, the first presidential and multiparty elections were held, and a new party came into power. Since then, Malawi has been a multiparty democratic nation, and so far, three different parties have been in power. Malawi is densely populated. It has an area of approximately 118,500 square kilometers and a population of about 18.7 million people (Government of Malawi, 2018). Nearly one-tenth of the population lives in urban areas (11.4%), whereas the remaining majority live in rural areas (88.6%; Yaya, Bishwajit, & Shah, 2016). Malawi is also one of the world's poorest countries, ranked as 171 out of 189 countries on the Human Development Index (United Nations Development Program, 2018).

Context of the Study



Figure 2. Malawi and the Sub-Saharan Africa region.

Malawi has struggled to provide quality education in schools due to the large population and the limited resources available. Consequently, in past years, Malawi has become a focus of concern for world leaders due to the poor indices in reading and mathematics competencies in schools (SAQMEQ, 2010). With the introduction of free primary education in 1994, Malawi now faces multidimensional challenges such as lack of facilities, high pupil/teacher and pupil/classroom ratios, low learning achievement, and poor qualification of teachers. In urban districts, the average number of pupils per teacher is about 60. In contrast, in rural areas of the country, such as the Mangochi district, the rate reaches 1 teacher per 152 pupils (UNICEF, 2019). Over the years, the government has introduced some interventions in an effort to address the problems. These have included double shifts in schools to address the problem of classroom space and hiring many unqualified teachers to meet the high demand for teachers (UNICEF, 2019).

3.2 The Malawian Education System

The Malawian education system is divided into three levels: primary, secondary, and tertiary (postsecondary) education. In primary school education, children's ages range from 6 to 14 years old, ascending from Standard 1 to Standard 8. Secondary school education is offered for students with ages between 15 to 19 years old from Form 1 to Form 4. However, due to students repeating a grade and other reasons, the age range might exceed 14 and 19 for primary and secondary school, respectively. The duration of tertiary education varies depending on the programs and institutions. For example, programs at a university often take four to five years, and vocational education can take one to two years. Pre-primary education in Malawi is a non-mandatory program designed for children ages 3 to 5 and offered by Early Childhood Development Centres that are managed by the Ministry of Gender, Women, and Child Welfare.

3.3 Primary Teacher Education in Malawi

Primary teacher education in Malawi started during the colonial period. Primary teacher colleges were established by churches in association with the Christian Council (Banda, 1982), and all the teacher colleges followed a three-year program with the same curriculum. The three-year curriculum contained more content courses than the current curriculum. After independence, the Ministry of Education took over responsibility and management of primary teacher education and established more teacher-training colleges (TTC). As of 2019, eight teacher-training colleges exist.

Since the introduction of free primary education in 1994, there has been a rapid increase in the number of children in primary schools from 1.8 million in 1993 to 4.5 million in 2014 (Government of Malawi, 2016). This resulted in a very high demand for teachers and the Ministry employed approximately 22,000 unqualified teachers with a plan to offer on-the-job training. The minimum requirement for the recruitment was a Junior Certificate which was obtained after passing national examinations at the end of two years of secondary education. Therefore, these teachers had only two years of secondary school mathematics which include Algebra, Euclidean Geometry, and Arithmetic. Consequently, the teachers' own knowledge of mathematics was not much higher than the primary school mathematics they were required to teach.

As another intervention to address the shortage of qualified teachers, the Ministry reduced the teacher education program's duration from three years to two years (Kazima, 2014). After recruiting thousands of unqualified teachers, the Ministry discontinued the fulltime program for teacher education and introduced a largely school-based program in 1997, called the Malawi Integrated In-Service Teacher Education Program (MIITEP). The program took twenty-four months with four months for college-based courses and the remaining 20 months for teaching in schools. The college-based courses included Educational Foundations, English, Mathematics, Science, and Expressive Arts. The mathematics included mostly Arithmetic and mirrored the topics of primary school mathematics. The school-based learning was in the form of teaching practice with supervision by the college lecturers and the classroom teachers. The college lecturers were recruited by the Ministry of Education and were required to have more than 10 years of teaching experience in primary schools and a minimum qualification of a Diploma in Education, which is lower than Bachelor's degree level.

The MIITEP was designed to be an emergency program for about five years. However, it continued to run for ten years until 2005 since

more unqualified teachers continued to gain employment. In 2005, the Ministry discontinued the MIITEP and introduced a new program called the Initial Primary Teacher Education Program (Ministry of Education, 2005).

The new Initial Primary Teacher Education Program (IPTE) had a duration of two years. The first year consisted of full-time college-based courses, and the second year was full-time school based in the form of teaching practice. The entry requirement into the program was also revised from the Junior Certificate to the Malawi Schools Certificate, which requires a passing national examination after completing the four years of secondary education. The examinations are equivalent to O-Level in the English system. The candidates for this certificate would have covered Algebra, including algebraic expressions, linear equations, quadratic equations, graphs of equations, and inequalities; Euclidean Geometry including lines and angles, polygons and their properties, circle properties and theorems; Arithmetic, specifically commercial arithmetic; and Trigonometry, including sine, cosine, tangent, and trigonometric identities. The curriculum of the IPTE Program had a total of ten learning areas: agriculture, education foundation studies, environmental studies, expressive arts, general and social studies, life skills, literacy and languages (English and Chichewa), numeracy and mathematics, religious studies, and science and technology. All preservice teachers were required to study all ten learning areas since the primary school teachers are expected to teach all the subjects in primary school (Ministry of Education, 2005). This curriculum was offered from 2005 to 2016.

In 2017, the IPTE curriculum was revised, and the structure of the program changed from one year (three terms) of college courses and three terms of teaching practice to four terms of college courses and two terms of teaching practice. In this new structure, pre-service teachers take theoretical courses in college for the first two out of three terms of the first year, learning subject content with a special focus on teaching

methods for primary classes. After completing the coursework in these two terms, pre-service teachers go into the field for practice, experiencing teaching in both lower and upper primary classes for two terms (last term in the first year, and first term in year two). During teaching practice, the students are supervised periodically by the teacher educators and more regularly by mentors in the school. Mentors are experienced teachers who have been trained by the teacher colleges to supervise student teachers during teaching practice in the schools. In the last two terms of year two, the pre-service teachers return to college to continue learning subject content to reflect on their experience of teaching practice then complete their studies (Malawian Institute of Education, 2017).

The current revised curriculum (Malawian Institute of Education, 2017) has adopted a reflective practitioner model of teacher education (Schön, 1987) that aims to connect practice and theory and integrates content and pedagogy in teaching and learning. The innovative features of this curriculum include:

- The curriculum design is based on reflective practice principles;
- Introduction of specific early grade teaching methodologies;
- Delivery of the subject content following modular approaches;
- Teaching experience in both lower classes and upper classes of primary school; and
- Cross-cutting studies involving assessment for learning, information and communication technology, and critical thinking.

The primary teacher education curriculum is designed in a modular structure and contains the same ten learning areas outlined earlier in this chapter, but with different weighting in terms of time. Three learning areas (Education Foundations Studies, Numeracy and Mathematics, Literacy and Languages) are allocated more time than the others. In this modular design, a set of topics forms a module in a subject. A module consists of 40 hours of contact time. The core elements in Numeracy and Mathematics are shown in Table 2.

Table 2. Core elements in numeracy and mathematics by term and number of hours (Malawian Institute of Education, 2017).

Core Element	Term	Term	Terms 3	Term	Term
	1	2	and 4	5	6
Theories, Concepts, and Issues in	40		Te		
the Teaching and Learning of			ach		
Mathematics			Teaching		
Number Concepts and Operations	40	40	g P		
(e.g., whole numbers, fractions,			rac		
decimals, percentages, rate, ratio,			Practice		
proportion)			(D		
Measurement (e.g., length,		40			
perimeter, area, volume)					
Data Handling (e.g., representing				40	
data, bar graphs, pictographs)					
Space and Shapes (e.g., triangles,				40	
rectangles, circles)					
Accounting and Business Studies					40
(e.g., profit and loss, simple and					
compound interest)					
Patterns, Functions, and Algebra					40
(e.g., number patterns, linear					
equations)					

Primary teacher education programs have both continuous (formative) and summative assessments to measure pre-service teachers' achievement of knowledge, skills, values, and attitudes. These include oral presentations, practical tasks, reports, research, tests, and examinations. The grading system is given in percentages: 60% for continuous assessment and 40% for summative assessment.

The current mathematics curriculum for primary teacher education encompasses standards that require pre-service teachers to acquire subject matter knowledge and develop pedagogical ways to promote students' lifelong learning (Malawian Institute of Education, 2017). The curriculum contains three major goals for teachers in the teacher education program:

- 1. Develop academically well-grounded and professionally competent teachers;
- 2. Stimulate flexibility and capability of adapting to the changing needs and environment of Malawi society;
- 3. Professionalism in adhering to and maintaining the teaching profession's ethics and being imaginative in adapting, creating, and utilizing locally available resources suitable for the needs of their learners.

The IPTE curriculum rests its philosophy on the basis of the following principle: "To produce a reflective, autonomous, lifelong learning teacher, able to display moral values and embrace learners' diversity" (Malawian Institute of Education, 2017, p. ix). Therefore, preparing teachers of quality seems to be an important goal within this context, yet it is unclear how these principles and the main principles guide teachers' practice. Similarly, the syllabus for preparing primary teachers in Malawi focuses on three main skills needed for an effective teacher: competency, flexibility, and resourcefulness, but no transparency on the meaning of these skills is provided; for instance, what is meant by being "a resourceful teacher" in Malawi (Malawian Institute of Education, 2017, p. ix).

In general, primary teacher education has been an essential instrument in building a democratic system in Malawi (Kunje, Lewin, & Stuart, 2003). The existing teacher training guidelines define, to some extent, the characteristics needed by a teacher to attend to the demands of society. Recent reforms in the curriculum for preparing both primary and secondary pre-service teachers in mathematics have aimed for inclusive and equitable quality education and lifelong learning. These qualities encompass characteristics that are both unique and globally shared (profound knowledge of the subject matter and pedagogical content, abilities to work with larger classrooms and poor environmental conditions, and cultivation of specialized knowledge of resourcefulness). This information contributes to a better understanding of how the educational system for preparing elementary teachers in Malawi is constituted, which is significant to describe the context in which the current research took place.

Context of the Study

4 Methodology

4.1 Research Design

The method chosen for this research was based on a *qualitative case study approach* (Stake, 1995). Case study is often used in educational research to provide richness and depth to the understanding of individuals, groups, and institutions, as well as their beliefs and perceptions, interactions, challenges, and issues (Hamilton & Corbett-Whittier, 2013). Although case study design can also be used in quantitative and mixed-methods research to obtain numerical information or patterns related to the phenomena observed (Creswell & Plano Clarke, 2018), it is better suited for studying the subjectivity of the investigated phenomenon (Silverman, 2005). The case study approach is, therefore, more qualitative than quantitative because it involves *causality* (George & Bennett, 2005; Starman, 2013).

The aim of a case study in qualitative research is to examine the phenomenon's particularities in relation to its totality. In educational science, a case study design is typically adopted when the aim is to answer how and why questions (Stake, 2008). Such an approach is thus beneficial for investigations that aim to go beyond descriptions and obvious inferences about a case. Since a case can be an individual, group, situation, process, or relation, it allows researchers to decode the particularities and holistic aspects of the case through the actors' perspective (Tellis, 1997). Given these characteristics, a case study approach best suits investigations that examine subjective phenomenon-such as the present investigation that examines the understanding pre-service teachers develop of the knowledge necessary to teach mathematics-that cannot be perceived through one lens, but rather from a variety of lenses (Baxter & Jack, 2008).

A case study also allows researchers to unravel "the particularities and complexity of a single case, coming to understand its

Methodology

activity within valuable circumstances" (Stake, 1995, p. xi). In this context, Coimbra and Martins (2013) asserted that a case study "is a social study of a phenomenon, within the unity and totality of a system, which is temporally and spatially limited" (p. 391). Such conditions allow researchers to examine not only the main characteristics of the case within its real context, but also the processes connections and dynamics that surround the case, "especially when the boundaries between a phenomenon and context are not clear and the researcher has little control over the phenomenon and context" (Yin, 2002, p. 13). Thus, the case study approach is suitable for examining the development of preservice teachers' understanding of the knowledge needed to teach mathematics in the context of Malawian primary education.

Studying a case in its real context allows the results to be generalized and applied to similar settings. According to Gerring (2004), a case study is best defined as an intensive study of a single unit that is generalized across a broader set of units. Similarly, Johnson (2011) stated that although the primary goal of a case study is understanding the case itself, it can also be seen as a tool to examine a "specific understanding of a smaller group of pre-service teachers in a larger number of the other pre-service teachers in the same cohort" (p. 5). Further, Johnson (2011) complemented this view by asserting that case studies help researchers to develop a broader scope of data in which the cases are situated.

The decision to employ a case study as a practical approach for this research was based on more than a methodological deliberation. Several case study examples and models for teacher education can be found in pertinent literature. Still, few of them can be considered as a practical model (Rosenberg & Yates, 2007) or linked to a theoretical framework that examines the teaching knowledge (Tellis, 1997). Thus, the design of the present study was designed to adapt to the context of initial teacher education in Malawi, so the pre-service teachers' understanding of teaching knowledge and learning experience for teaching mathematics in primary schools could be examined.

Malawian primary teacher education colleges offer a two-year course comprising six terms (as described in Chapter 3). During the first and second terms, pre-service teachers take theoretical classroom-based courses, whereas in the third and fourth terms, they go to local schools to complete supervised teaching practice. In the last term, they return to the college for more theoretical courses and reflection activities, allowing them to learn further from their teaching experience. To align with these distinct phases of the teacher education program, this research was conducted in three phases, denoted here as *moments*: Initial Moment (IM), Second Moment (SM), and Third Moment (TM).

4.1.1 The Initial Moment

During the IM, a first meeting was held with a group of twentythree pre-service teachers from two beginning classes, who volunteered to participate in the study. During this meeting, all pre-service teachers completed a questionnaire comprising of both closed-ended and openended questions (see Appendix 1). These questions probed into the characteristics and profiles of the participants as well as their teaching experience (TE), mathematical interests in high school (MIHS), and mathematical interests for teaching during college (MIC). The preservice teachers' profiles were arranged according to six categories that combined their TE, MISH, and MIC, as illustrated in Figure 3 and summarized in Table 3.

Methodology



Figure 3. Number of participants during IM, and the selection process for the SM and TM.

The questionnaire also contained a five point Likert-type scale table (Krosnick, 1999), allowing the respondents to rate the relevance from *not at all important* to *extremely important* (see Appendix 1) of the knowledge and skills necessary to carry out tasks of teaching mathematics in Malawian primary schools. The list of specific knowledge types was created on the basis of the Ball et al. (2008) theory and related works, and it was a point of focus not only during IM but throughout SM and TM. The types of knowledge and skills the participants were required to rate included:

- a) Knowledge of mathematical concepts contained in the school curriculum,
- b) Knowledge of mathematical concepts outside (beyond those prescribed by) the school curriculum,
- c) Using mathematical terms and notations correctly,

- d) Ability to verify the accuracy of the mathematical definitions and examples in the textbooks,
- e) Ability to identify student errors,
- f) Ability to identify and explain where and how the students' errors occur,
- g) Understanding the methods proposed by the textbooks to solve mathematical problems,
- h) Knowledge of the different methods (generally not contained in the textbooks) that can be adopted to solve mathematical problems,
- i) Ability to introduce mathematical concepts in exactly the same way as the textbook suggests,
- j) Knowing how to introduce mathematical concepts and procedures in different ways (usually not contained in the textbooks),
- k) Ability to prove mathematical statements,
- 1) Knowing how to give contextual examples for underlying mathematical ideas,
- m) Knowledge of advanced mathematics,
- n) Ability to engage students in the learning process,
- o) Ability to explain how a particular mathematical topic is related to another mathematical topic,
- p) Ability to explain how a mathematical topic is associated with other subject(s),
- q) Knowing how to link mathematical topics to real-life situations,
- r) Ability to organize activities outside the classroom,
- s) Anticipating students' errors and common misconceptions,
- t) Interpreting students' ideas correctly,
- u) Ability to predict what students are likely to do when given specific tasks and what they will find interesting or challenging,
- v) Knowing how to design a lesson effectively,
- w) Ability to connect a lesson with another lesson,
- x) Ability to choose appropriate exercises for instructional tasks,

- y) Knowing how to use different teaching methods to teach mathematics,
- Ability to evaluate the advantages and disadvantages of using specific representations,
- aa) Comprehending the purposes and ethical values of education,
- bb) Knowledge of the history of mathematics,
- cc) Knowing how different cultures (or nations) develop and use mathematical ideas,
- dd) Willingness to conduct research to uncover new facts and ideas related to the curriculum,
- ee) Understanding what students find interesting and motivating in mathematics, and
- ff) Knowing what students find easy and difficult in learning mathematics.

This list of items was based on a comprehensive literature review of studies about the knowledge teachers need to possess to teach mathematics (Ball et al., 2008; Jakobsen et al., 2012; Shulman, 1987). Each of these items was arranged according to one of the six knowledge domains suggested by Ball et al. (2008), as shown in Appendix 1, allowing connections to be made among the three study moments rather than imposing any particular domain on any research process. As an adaptable methodology was embraced for the present study, allowing items to be added or removed as the data was being collected, allowed each item to be seen as a preliminary code that contributed to the organization and framing of the item(s) according to the perspective of the pre-service teachers (as discussed further in Chapter 4.3 Data analysis).

After all the participants completed the questionnaire, each attended an individual interview which explored their responses in depth. During these interviews, the participants also discussed their views and ways of understanding the items listed in the questionnaire. The goal of the interviews was to determine the relevance that Malawian pre-service teachers assign to the knowledge and skills entailed in teaching (Ball et al., 2008) when it comes to teaching mathematics in primary schools. The pre-service teachers were also prompted to discuss their motives for and expectations of studying and becoming a primary school teacher. The interviews were video recorded during the process. This opening moment with the pre-service teachers was fundamental for determining the understanding that pre-service teachers have of the knowledge needed for teaching mathematics at the beginning of their teacher education.

4.1.2 The Second Moment

The Second Moment (SM) was based on *systematic observations* (Jablon, Dombro & Dichtelmiller, 2007) of the pre-service teachers' lessons on specific mathematical topics in local primary schools. This moment occurred during the in-field activities in local schools with a smaller sample of pre-service teachers than in the IM. Due to time and resource limitations, only one pre-service teacher per category was selected, resulting in observations of six pre-service teachers with different teaching experience and subject preference in high school and for teaching in college, as outlined in Table 3.

Research sample selection criteria	Pre-service teachers' anonymized names	
TE/MIHS/MIC	Martin	
TE/No MIHS/No MIC	Mario	
TE/No MIHS/MIC	Clara	
TE/ No MIHS/MIC	Denise	
No TE/ MIHS/MIC	Patrick	
No TE/No MIHS/MIC	Daniel	

Table 3. Characteristics of the cases selected for the SM observations

TE, Teaching experience; MIHS, Mathematical interests in high school; MIC, Mathematical interests for teaching during college.

Table 3 shows the six types of profiles and the corresponding names given to the pre-service teachers. The first four pre-service teachers (Martin, Mario, Clara, and Denise) has previous experience in teaching. Martin is a 20-year-old, and he had one year of experience as a secondary teacher before entering the teacher education college. Martin expressed interest in mathematics during high school, as well as preferences for the mathematics courses at the teacher education college. On the other hand, Mario (22 years old), Clara (23 years old), and Denise (24 years old) demonstrated no interest in the mathematics subject during elementary school. Mario reported having no affection for teaching mathematics during college. While Mario and Denise both had one year of experience as primary school teachers, Clara had some experience as a home tutor in mathematics. At the bottom of Table 3, Patrick (23 years old) and Daniel (21 years old) presented no teaching experience prior to entering teacher college. While Patrick's favorite high school subjects were biology and mathematics, Daniel's was the English language.

The six pre-service teachers mentioned in Table 3, chosen among the twenty-three that took part in the IM, were selected based on three criteria that could reflect the diversity of the pre-service teachers' profile (Figure 2) and the feasibility of observing them during teaching practice in local schools. Although the six participants selected for SM were considered representative of the diversity of entering pre-service teachers' profiles in teacher education, the study also explored the cases in its singularity. According to Thomas (2011), "the subject (the case) is not selected based upon a representative sample, but rather is selected because it is interesting, unusual, striking, and may cause changes in the characteristics and specificities of the object" (p. 514). Some of the Malawian primary schools in which pre-service teachers were required to complete their practice sessions were far from urban areas and thus difficult to access. As each pre-service teacher was located in a different school assigned to a different standard, the topics of their lessons varied. In addition, as each pre-service teacher had a different lesson schedule, this had to be considered when planning the observations and interviews.

During the systematic observations, focus was given to the ways pre-service teachers employed at least one of the items listed in the IM questionnaire during their teaching practice, such as answering students' questions, connecting prior knowledge to the new lesson topic, or using resources to introduce a mathematical concept. The goal of these observations was to capture specific situations and (verbal and nonverbal) behaviors in which the pre-service teachers employ the knowledge listed in IM to carry out tasks that emerge when they teach mathematics in the primary school. For one week, a mathematical lesson provided by each pre-service teacher was video-recorded without interference.

The establishment of the items listed in the IM questionnaire survey was crucial for conducting systematic observations of pre-service teachers' lessons and in guiding the individual post-lesson interviews. These interviews included questions regarding the tasks that the preservice teachers faced during their teaching practice and the knowledge they drew upon to carry out these tasks. The discussions generated during these interviews revolved around the short videos of their lessons, which were presented to the pre-service teachers before asking them to elaborate on specific actions and the kind of knowledge used (or could have been used) to carry out the tasks in question effectively. This aspect of the study was essential to gain insight into the way Malawian preservice teachers negotiate their understanding of the knowledge needed for teaching mathematics while conducting lessons.

4.1.3 The Third Moment

As noted previously, the TM occurred in the last terms of the program when the pre-service teachers came back to college to take additional courses and reflect upon their teaching experience. The data for this final moment of the study was gathered via a *focus group discussion* (Creswell, 2005; Wilkinson, 2004) that aimed to encourage the participants to articulate their way of understanding the teaching knowledge. These discussions covered the items listed in the IM questionnaire, focusing on the answers the pre-service teachers provided during IM and SM post-lesson interviews. The aim was not only to determine the understanding that pre-service teachers have of teaching knowledge at the end of the program but also to examine its evolution since the beginning of their teacher education. Table 4 details each of these moments.

Moments throughout Teacher Education	Period	Objective	Instruments/Actions
Initial Moment (IM)	1 week during term 1 of the teacher education program	Obtain information of pre-service teachers' profile, motives and professional goals and find out their initial understanding of the knowledge necessary to teach mathematics in Malawian primary schools	Application of the questionnaire survey and like-scaled quiz about the relevance of the teachers' knowledge items proposed by the literature Semi-structured Individual Interviews about pre-service teachers' responses in the questionnaire survey

Table 4. Summary of the empirical material collected in all three study moment

Methodology			
Second Moment (SM)	6 months during terms 3 and 4 of the teacher education program	Gather data on how pre-service teachers carry out tasks of teaching during practice and how they understand the knowledge that was used to carry out these tasks	Observe and video- record the pre-service teachers' mathematical lesson Interview the pre- service teachers after each lesson
Third Moment (TM)	2 days during term 6 of the teacher education program	Find evidence of the development of pre-service teachers' understanding of teaching knowledge during teacher education	Focus group discussion with all pre-service teachers about the evolution of their understanding of teaching knowledge during college

4.2 Ethics Issues

Prior to commencing the study, ethical approval was obtained from the Norwegian Social Science Data Service (NSD). The study had also been approved by the head of the teacher education college from which the participants were recruited and by the principals of the local schools where pre-service teachers completed their teaching practice. Each pre-service teacher also gave written consent for participating in the study, acknowledging that he/she could withdraw any time without restrictions or penalties.

As Malawian teacher education is under development, all ethical issues concerning the protection of the pre-service teachers' integrity had to be considered. One potential ethical issue pertained to recording lessons, individual interviews, and anonymization of the participants. As young adults have an awareness of the consequences of their choices in social life, they are a non-vulnerable group (Liamputtong, 2007). The present study considered the issues according to the NSD standards.

4.2.1 Acknowledgment for the Study

Prior to taking part in the present study, all pre-service teachers who agreed to participate received written and oral information about the project and signed an informed consent form. The information letter was previously accepted by the NSD and was written according to the NSD's guidelines under the conditions that the project end-date should be clearly stated to the participants and detailed information on safeguarding personal data (notification that data will be anonymized) would be provided.

Two pre-service teachers (one male and one female) asked whether the video recordings were going to be shared via YouTube, which must have seemed an exciting prospect for them. When they were told that the videos were going to be used for research purposes only, several individuals were clearly disappointed but still agreed to take part in the project. All pre-service teachers were informed that their names would be replaced by pseudonyms in all research materials. Even though the disappointment expressed by several pre-service teachers may have affected their motivation to participate in the study, data anonymization is strongly recommended by Biesta (2007) to avoid distraction and unusual behaviors during data collection, which might reduce the validity and credibility of the analysis (Allmark et al., 2009).

During the SM, care had to be taken to protect the integrity of the students, although their involvement in lessons was not the focus of the study. The local schools have an agreement with the teacher training college which allows research and experimental activities involving their pupils to take place. Nonetheless, prior to the present study, the college's head and all schools' headmasters received a letter explaining the study protocols. In addition, prior to classroom observations, both pre-service

teachers and the researcher explained the study's objectives to the students, informing them about the presence of cameras in the classroom. This action was suggested by the headmasters of individual schools to ensure that the researcher's presence was relatively non-invasive and would not alter pupils' participation and performance during the lessons.

4.2.2 Issues Concerning Pre-service Teachers' Conduct

In all three study moments, pre-service teachers were interviewed regarding their views and understanding of the knowledge needed for teaching mathematics. Interviewing young adults presents specific challenges, such as *confidentiality* and *dual roles*, as articulated by Allmark et al. (2009) in a review article on research ethics of in-depth interviews. The interview subjects in this particular case were young adults who were expected to become professionals in teaching children. Hypothetically, this means that if a pre-service teacher participating in a research project displays a behavior, teaching practice, or opinion that goes against established norms for the profession, it could have negative work-related consequences and could be identified by colleagues or leaders in the final reports. Such legitimate concerns could preclude their participation in the project. Nevertheless, no misconducting behavior was observed, the focus (mathematical knowledge for teaching) was not particularly sensitive to the pre-service teachers, and they seemed pleased to contribute, so perhaps this issue is more of a challenge to the validity than it is to the ethics of the study.

4.3 Data Analysis

As all data gathered for this study was qualitative, it was subjected to *thematic analysis*. According to Braun and Clarke (2006), such an approach is a crucial tool for qualitative research since emerging themes allow researchers to examine "the ways in which events, realities, meanings, experiences and so on are the effects of a range of discourses operating within society" (p. 81). The thematic analysis enables

Methodology

researchers to identify and interpret important patterns or themes within the data to comprehend an issue, problem, or complex phenomenon (Vaismoradi, Bondas, & Turunen, 2013). Although criticized for its subjectivity and lack of transparency in the creation of themes (Attride-Stirling, 2001), the thematic analysis approach provides a rich and insightful understanding of the phenomena in focus since it can be applied across a range of theoretical and epistemological approaches, and used to expand or test a hypothesis (Braun & Clarke, 2006).

Thematic analysis is similar to content analysis (Javadi & Zarea, 2016; Vaismoradi et al., 2013), as the aim of both methods is to establish themes and categories. However, during content analysis, the frequency with which those categories appear in the data is also recorded (Bauer, 2000), whereas meaning of the data in context is the primary focus of thematic analysis. According to Joffe and Yardley (2004),

the aspiration of thematic analysis, in particular, is to stay true to the raw data, and its meaning within a particular context of thoughts, rather than attaching too much importance to the frequency of codes which have been abstracted from their context (p. 3).

Thematic analysis in qualitative research can be both inductive and deductive. As Braun and Clarke (2006) explained, themes or patterns within data can be identified either in an inductive "bottom up" approach (Frith & Gleeson, 2004), or in a theoretical, deductive "top down" way (Boyatzis, 1998; Hayes, 1997). In either case, Braun and Clarke (2006) suggested six step-by-step guides for conducting thematic analysis that include:

- 1. Familiarization with the data,
- 2. Generating initial codes,
- 3. Searching for themes,
- 4. Reviewing themes,
- 5. Defining and naming themes, and
- 6. Producing the report.

These six steps served as a reference for the analytical approach adopted in this study. Data pertaining to all six pre-service teachers' lessons and interviews was transcribed using the NVivo software (QS International Pty Ltd., 2018) and was organized according to the items used in the IM questionnaire. These transcriptions were read and re-read against the original recordings for familiarization with the data and to ensure transcription accuracy. This data transcription and organization method was used in all three study moments (IM, SM, and TM), allowing the analysis to focus on specific characteristics of the teaching knowledge domains proposed by Ball et al. (2008).

Initial codes for the study were based on the list of knowledge and skills necessary to teach mathematics (Appendix 1) and the five categories for the concept of *understanding* pre-established on the conceptual framework (connectivity, sense-making, applicability, and justification), as illustrated in Chapter 2: Theoretical and Conceptual Background and Relevant Research. Figure 4 is an example of how the initial codes (Justification, Application...) were generated from the segments of the transcriptions and the conceptual frameworks' items.

MKT Domain	Knowledge Items (Initial Code)	Except from Mario's IM interview	Criteria for Understanding
	Knowing mathematical	"For me, the content of the curriculum is important for	Justification
CCK concepts cont in the scho	concepts contained in the school curriculum	teachers to know because it helps them to be better prepared to teach."	Application

Figure 4. Organization of the data and generation of the initial codes within the conceptual framework.

The third phase of data analysis began with the elaboration of the themes. Each theme in this study was generated inductively to align with

Methodology

the research questions, rather than trying to fit it into a coding framework. The aim of this stage of the analytical process was to interpret the data to identify broader topics or headings applicable to the participants. According to Braun and Clarke (2006), this is a crucial stage of thematic analysis since it necessitates exploring the relationship among the codes and their different levels of connection. Some codes might be useful for building themes, while others might not; hence, it is the researcher's responsibility to combine, refine, or discard them to capture the contours of data.

Themes are not a fixed category of analysis (Maguire & Delahunt, 2017). The redefinition of themes in the fourth phase of this study was shown to be "an iterative and reflective process that develops over time and involves a constant moving back and forward between phases" (Nowell, Norris, White, & Moules, 2017, p. 4). For instance, the theme Knowledge of the mathematical concepts contained in the school curriculum was initially generated from one item in the conceptual framework. However, as the analysis process developed after reading the data, this theme had to be divided into three sub-themes (importance for teachers to know mathematics for professional qualification, importance for teachers to know mathematics to solve problems in the classroom, and implications of school mathematical content for students learning of mathematics). Figure 5 shows how one of these themes (initial codes) was later modified and incorporated into a broader category denoted as CCK for teaching and learning (as discussed in the first journal article of this thesis).
MKT Domain	Knowledge Items (Initial Code)	Except from Denise's IM interview	Criteria for Understanding	Theme
	Knowing mathematical concepts	"For me, uh it is important for the teacher to know the	Justification	COVA
ССК	contained in the school curriculum	content because he or she can help the learners to understand when they are learning mathematics."	Application	CCK for teaching and learning

Figure 5. Production of themes from the initial codes and the conceptual framework.

Developing themes is one of the most complex phases of thematic analysis (Costa, Brenda, Pinho, Bakas, & Durão, 2016). DeSantis and Ugarriza (2000) opined that "a theme captures and unifies the nature of the basis of the experience into a meaningful whole" (p. 362). At this stage, the researcher refines and adjusts the themes to identify "the 'essence' of what each theme is about (as well as the themes overall) and determining what aspect of the data each theme captures" (p. 92). For each theme identified in this study, the aim was to find and construct a narrative that could apply to the entire data set and relate directly to the research questions (Braun & Clarke, 2006). This process was crucial for demarcating and organizing segments of similar or related text. Figure 6 shows how the themes of analysis were adjusted into the conceptual framework and the criteria for the concept of understanding.

Figure 6. Process of elaboration of the themes within the framework



62

After defining and refining the themes, Braun and Clarke (2006) suggest writing reports that link the themes back to research questions and pertinent literature. This last phase of the analysis of the data is reported in Chapters 5 and 6. In these chapters, after outlining the scope and content of the themes in each article, the connections and meanings between these themes were explored in light of the literature and the main research question of this study.

5 Results

This chapter presents the four articles chosen to compose this thesis with an emphasis on reviewing the findings in each article. As established in Chapter 1, the overall aim was to present and discuss the results of a study that sought to contribute to improving the quality and capacity of mathematics teacher education in Malawi. The main question of the study (How do pre-service teachers develop their understanding of the knowledge necessary to teach mathematics throughout teacher education?) was explored through three sub-research questions:

1. What understanding do pre-service teachers have of the knowledge needed to carry out the tasks of mathematics teaching at the beginning of their teacher education?

2. To what extent does the pre-service teachers' understanding of the knowledge needed to carry out tasks of teaching evolve through the discussion of practical experiences in college?

3. How do pre-service teachers develop their understanding of the knowledge needed to carry out the tasks of teaching throughout teacher training?

These three questions considered what prior research has uncovered regarding the knowledge needed to teach mathematics in primary school and how pre-service teachers acquire and construct an idea of this knowledge during teacher education.

This chapter is organized into three sections that summarize the results from each article chosen to compose the synopsis.

Results

5.1 Article 1

Jacinto, E. J, & Jakobsen, A. (2020). Mathematical knowledge for teaching: How do primary pre-service teachers in Malawi understand it?, *African Journal of Research in Mathematics, Science and Technology Education*, 24(1), 31–40. Doi: 10.1080/18117295.2020.1735673

This article examined the understanding that six pre-service teachers have of the mathematical knowledge, within the scope of subject matter knowledge domains (CCK, HCK, and SCK), they need to carry out their work as teachers of mathematics. This was addressed through the following research question: How do Malawian pre-service teachers understand the mathematical knowledge for teaching in primary schools? This question relates to the first sub-research question of this thesis: What understanding do pre-service teachers have of the knowledge needed to carry out the tasks of mathematics teaching at the beginning of their teacher education? This article explored themes of analysis belonged to the KCC, KST, and KCT domains Ball et al.'s (2008) mathematics knowledge for teaching framework (see Figure 1).

Data for this article was based on a questionnaire survey and individual interviews with six pre-service teachers at the beginning of their teacher education. Article 1 drew upon four themes of analysis: CCK for Teaching and Learning; Relating Knowledge of Out-of-Curriculum Content to HCK; The Importance of SCK in Interpreting Students' Errors and Capacities; and SCK: Stimulating Mathematics Learning Through Different Approaches. The first theme focused on the case of three out of six pre-service teachers (Daniel, Denise, and Clara) who revealed traces of understanding that valued the relevance and applicability of mathematical content contained in the school curriculum for primary school instruction. These traces drew upon the students' needs and specificities and teachers' confidence about teaching mathematics. Based on their initial understanding, in-depth knowledge of school mathematical concepts was considered crucial for teaching mathematical concepts in different forms and helping students to meet the curriculum requirements, according to pre-service teachers' views at the beginning of their college education. Moreover, pre-service teachers assumed that subject matter knowledge should be used to encourage students to apply knowledge of familiar topics while in pursuit of new, more complex topics; they valued the knowledge of progressive learning of the subject matter to make connections between mathematical concepts.

The second theme embodied facets of the HCK domain. Although scholars recognized the differences between HCK and knowledge of content and curriculum (Jakobsen et al., 2012), the six preservice teachers involved in this study still referred to knowledge about content outside the curriculum as a curricular horizon rather than as a mathematical horizon. The relevance of this type of knowledge, however, varied among the six pre-service teachers. Four pre-service teachers placed knowledge beyond the school's curriculum as less important-arguing that the Malawian government determines what needs to be taught in classrooms and that teachers do not need to go beyond the curriculum content. The other two pre-service teachers, however, demonstrated a more balanced point of view, contending that teachers need to possess knowledge outside the school's curriculum to handle the tasks of teaching. Some examples were given related to Ball et al.'s (2008) lists of tasks of teaching, such as properly answering students' questions, making content easier for students to learn, and connecting topics being taught with topics from prior or future years. Additional examples involved reflecting on what they are teaching and how they are sequencing the content of the curriculum, a necessary element of effective teaching. Additional findings revealed that the preservice teachers acknowledge that content outside of the school curriculum can be essential, but it can be challenging for teachers in Malawi to access it, due to the work conditions and limited resources.

Results

The third and fourth themes relate to the pre-service teachers' understanding of the knowledge needed within the domain of SCK. Whereas the third theme focuses on the knowledge needed to interpret students' errors and capacities, the fourth covers the knowledge necessary to carry out different approaches in the classroom. The themes suggested that at the beginning of their training, the pre-service teachers revealed a reasonable understanding of why and how students make mistakes and what knowledge and skills can be employed to minimize these mistakes. Martin, Patrick, and Denise backed up their arguments by describing the implications of defining how a teacher should teach in Malawi. For them, the knowledge necessary to recognize student errors and capacities helps teachers understand students' thinking and make effective decisions to improve their education. Daniel, Clara, and Mario, in contrast, supported their claims with different reasoning. They concluded that one of the crucial attributes of such knowledge is the ability to guide students to discover the nature of their problems themselves. These pre-service teachers also revealed an awareness of the applications of the knowledge of students' abilities in helping teachers not only identify children's inaccuracies or errors but also assist them to understand why these problems occur and what can be done to overcome them.

5.2 Article 2

Jacinto, E. L., & Jakobsen, A. (2019). Pedagogical content knowledge for teaching mathematics: What matters for pre-service primary teachers in Malawi? In M. Graven, H. Venkat, A. Essien, & P. Vale (Eds.), *Proceedings of the 43rd Conference of the International Group for the Psychology of Mathematics Education: Research Reports* (Vol. 2, pp.424–431). Pretoria, South Africa: PME.

This article focuses on the understanding that three pre-service teachers (Martin, Carlos, and Clara) had of the knowledge needed to teach mathematics within the realm of pedagogical content knowledge. This was addressed through the following research question: how do preservice teachers perceive the pedagogical content knowledge for teaching mathematics? This question is also linked to the first subresearch questions of this thesis as it provides insights into what understanding pre-service teachers have of the knowledge needed to carry out the tasks of mathematics teaching at the beginning of their teacher education. Article 2 explored themes of analysis covering the domains of KCC, KST, and KCT, one side of the framework model of mathematics knowledge for teaching provided by Ball et al. (2008; see Figure 1).

As explained in the methodology chapter, these themes of the overall work were initially developed from the list of items in the questionnaire survey given at the beginning of the study. Later, the themes were revised and adjusted to the forms of knowledge and skills pre-service teachers revealed when reflecting on practical situations of teaching. Thus, for this article, the themes of analysis were decision-making in teachers' KCT, relations between KCT and KCC, and adaptations of the classroom activities from students' contributions and levels of understanding.

The first theme, decision-making in teachers' KCT, was examined through the knowledge needed to decide on the best examples and representations to use for given instructional objectives. Findings from Martin's case revealed that, at the beginning of teacher education, he recognized that decision making was an integral part of a primary school teacher's skill management for teaching, an idea that resembles KCT in terms of the knowledge of strategies and representations for teaching particular topics. For Martin, the knowledge of instructional practice design combines the knowledge not only of the organization of the lessons but also how to guide mathematical tasks in classrooms gradually, according to students' capacities for learning. Martin's views, however, revealed that the context in which such knowledge applies is a unique characteristic of teachers' pedagogical knowledge for teaching in crowded classrooms. For Martin, teaching mathematics under such circumstances should not be based solely on manuals, guidelines, and textbooks; the teacher's pedagogical skills should be focused on the general organization of the lessons and the conditions and possibilities given to the students to be familiar with the content.

The second theme, relations between KCT and KCC, comprised analyses of Carlo's perception of the pedagogical content knowledge for teaching mathematics. Such perception is framed by aspects of the knowledge that integrated elements from both KCC and KCT domains. Findings show that one crucial aspect of teaching mathematics effectively is the condition of being resourceful. For Carlos, effective teachers must possess appropriate knowledge of how to select, revise, and use appropriate didactical materials to facilitate student learning of mathematics. By developing the capacity to discern the advantages and disadvantages of using locally available resources, teachers in Malawi can create learning situations that are more accessible to the students, Carlos assumed. Such knowledge not only helps Malawian primary teachers to become more familiar with the tools needed for mathematical lessons but also improves their understanding of how simple objects can produce the need to learn mathematics in students.

The last theme explored the perceptions of Clara regarding features of KCS and knowledge about creating classroom activities based on students' contributions and level of learning. The findings revealed a significant aspect of teachers' KCS. Although students' ideas should be considered in the classroom, methods proposed by the teacher are still dominant. For Clara, the knowledge of the students' capacities can help teachers better understand and react to students' ideas while teaching, but the use of multiple approaches might not be helpful for those who are still learning the content. According to Ball et al. (2008), anticipating what students are likely to think and what they may find confusing is an essential skill for helping teachers balance and adapt their work according to students' contributions and level of learning. Moura (2010) reminds us that every idea exchanged is valuable for improving the quality of a teacher's work. By knowing and interacting with their students, teachers can expand their conceptions and learn new ways to act that would promote the development of learners' reasoning abilities (Moura, 2010).

This article concluded that pre-service teachers in Malawi acknowledged characteristics of pedagogical content knowledge that are pertinent for satisfying students' contextual needs. Although pedagogical content knowledge has assumed different forms of conceptualization in the literature, this article showed that pre-service teachers in Malawi can provide unique insights about the conceptualization of pedagogical content knowledge in the teaching of mathematics.

5.3 Article 3

Jacinto, E. J., Jakobsen, A., & Bjuland, R. (2020). Understanding of the knowledge necessary to sequence tasks in mathematical instruction: The case of Malawian pre-service teachers, *International Journal of Science and Mathematics Education*. (Accepted for revision, resubmitted)

This article examined the understanding that two pre-service teachers (Denise and Martin) had of the SCK when discussing knowledge demands for sequencing instructional tasks in mathematics. This was addressed through the research question: how do Malawian preservice teachers develop their understanding of the knowledge needed for sequencing tasks for mathematical instruction? This question relates to the second sub-research question of the overall work (To what extent does the pre-service teachers' understanding of the knowledge needed to carry out tasks of teaching evolve through the discussion of practical experiences in college?). The articles' question focuses on the knowledge needed to carry out one task of teaching (sequencing tasks for students during mathematics instruction) that is part of the SCK domain (Ball et al., 2008).

In this article, sequencing tasks were described as problems or activities that (pre-service) teachers developed and posed to students. The cases of Denise and Martin were worthy of investigation because, at the start of their teacher education, the questionnaire/interviews revealed differences in their teaching experience prior to starting teacher education. It also showed they had different subject preferences during high school and college but similar views on the importance of the knowledge of sequencing tasks for teaching mathematics. They also followed distinct and complementary paths of development regarding their understanding of specialized content knowledge.

Article 3 combined data from two moments in the study that occurred during the theoretical course at the TTC and supervised practice in local schools. In this second moment, two pre-service teachers (Denise and Martin) revealed a common understanding of the knowledge related to content development in practical situations. For them, something that makes teaching mathematics unique is knowing how to introduce mathematical concepts gradually, from simple to complex. Denise pointed out that the teacher should aim to ensure students' inclusion by making the content more comprehensive and useful. Such a process should be considered by the teacher so the students can follow the progression of the content and make sense of it from different perspectives. In contrast, Martin described the knowledge necessary to sequence tasks in mathematics instruction based on the demands of the school curriculum. In his view, the teachers should know how to introduce concepts and examples from simple to complex, according to textbook standards. It is also worth noting that both Denise and Martin displayed practical understanding in the earliest stage of the study by accomplishing task progression in mathematics as a way to achieve a twofold teaching goal: (1) the promotion of students' confidence and ability to solve mathematical problems and (2) alignment with the school textbook's standards.

The understandings Denise and Martin initially showed took different forms after their teaching practice in local primary schools. When teaching multiplication, Denise tended to value the order of representations when fostering students' mathematical learning. Although she knew multiplication can be commutative—that is, numbers may be multiplied together in any order-she believed it was crucial to mainly teach students the positional meaning posed by the coefficients rather than show them that numbers could be multiplied together in any order. It is important for teachers to have such knowledge, but there is a risk that it can confuse students and lead to instructional misdirection with the textbook guidelines. Denise believed that by knowing and teaching multiplication in a manner that students can follow gradually, teachers can help students develop generalizations about the content. This knowledge and belief provided a better picture of how Denise understood the knowledge needed to sequence tasks in the teaching of multiplication.

Martin's case was analyzed in relation to the knowledge necessary to sequence tasks for teaching fractions. When reflecting on a situation that demands a type of knowledge that helps students to develop fraction concepts through geometrical representation, Martin recognized the limitations of using only the curriculum to prepare mathematical lessons. The findings suggested a new understanding of what the work of teaching entails in Martin's case. At this stage, Martin acknowledged that although knowledge of content and curriculum is important, a teacher also needs to develop a sense of how students can interpret connections between tasks and the ascendant progression of concepts from simple to complex. Martin argued that the teacher plays a significant role in organizing more accessible and connective tasks to allow students to solve mathematical problems posed in the classroom. An additional finding that revealed traces of Martin's understanding of the knowledge necessary for sequencing tasks is that teachers need to possess a high degree of coherence and amplitude to teach mathematical contents progressively. When discussing ways of teaching fractions using geometrical representation, Martin asserted that a particular characteristic of an effective teacher is the autonomy to choose and modify tasks that are both easier and harder for the students, using knowledge they already possess. This crucial feature showed an evolving form of understanding.

5.4 Article 4

Jacinto, E. J. (2020). An analysis of pre-service teachers' understanding of the knowledge entailed in the work of teaching: Insights from Malawi. *Journal of Mathematics Teacher Education*. (Under review)

This article 4 was thought to answer the third sub-research question: How do pre-service teachers develop their understanding of the knowledge needed to carry out tasks of mathematics teaching throughout teacher training? The article addressed this question with a particular focus on the knowledge needed to organize instructional tasks progressively to help students solve mathematics problems and to use locally available resources to create multiple representations in mathematics. The data combined responses from the questionnaire surveys and individual interviews at the beginning of their teacher education, lesson observations and post-lesson interviews during teaching practice, and focus group discussion when the pre-service teachers were back at the college after teaching practice.

Article 4 focused on the case of three pre-service teachers (Denise, Martin, and Mario). Whereas Denise's and Martin's cases were studied under the theme Knowledge of Instructional Task Progression to Help Students Solve Mathematical Problems, Mario's case was examined under the theme Ability to Use Locally Available Resources to Create Multiple Representations. These two themes were part of the domain of SCK and were developed following the same process used in Articles 1, 2, and 3 (see Chapter 4, Methodology). Table 5 shows how data from Article 4 covered the SCK domain and sample subjects of the study.

Findings from the first theme—Knowledge of Instructional Task Progression to Help Students Solve Mathematical Problems-suggested that the pre-service teachers acknowledged the relevance of and need for the knowledge required to organize instructional tasks according to students' needs and curricular demands. In the case of Denise, such knowledge manifests as systematic expertise with the emphasis on proceeding in small steps and checking students' understanding, with the goal of promoting their problem-solving skills and reasoning. As was the case at the beginning of the study, Denise revealed a broader understanding of the knowledge needed to carry out task progression, but during the teaching practice, she expanded that the understanding by considering knowledge not only of differences between simple and complex content but also about the ways learners make sense of the content logically and critically during the lessons. Such a course of understanding seemed to have matured over time. During the focus group discussion, Denise expanded her thoughts when describing that the organization of tasks for students should be seen by the teacher not only in parts but as a whole when solving mathematical exercises.

In Martin's case, his understanding of task progression developed over the course of the teacher education, but in a different direction. In his first interview, as part of the first moment of the study, he presented an inadequate understanding by arguing there was no need for teachers to know much about how to introduce content, given that textbooks and curriculum guidelines are already recommended to be followed. However, Martin's view evolved as he gained practical teaching experience in local schools. By recognizing the limitations of the teacher's textbook in suggesting instructional tasks and examples for students, Martin allotted more value to teachers' autonomy and students' capacities for learning. Then, at the end of his teaching education, he sustained such thoughts by justifying the idea that teachers must identify and predict any problem students might have during mathematics lessons in addition to helping them comprehend the similarities and differences among examples within those lessons. Martin also opined that teachers need to use their knowledge of content and students to decide how to organize and present tasks in the classroom. In this regard, data show that by the end of the teacher education, Martin's understanding of the knowledge needed to carry out instructional tasks became more closely related to the concept of SCK provided in the literature.

Findings from the second theme of analysis—Ability to Use Locally Available Resources to Create Multiple Representations suggested that pre-service teachers can develop a meaningful understanding of the tasks and knowledge necessary to carry out these tasks properly in the Malawian context. The case study in this theme featured Mario, a pre-service teacher with teaching experience but no interest in expanding his mathematical knowledge.

During the first moments of the study, Mario expressed an intuitive interpretation of the knowledge needed for teaching using mathematical representations. His argument was that teachers must think of diverse ways of teaching a concept to provide multiple opportunities for students to learn mathematics. The use of locally available resources was described as crucial for teachers to introduce mathematical concepts better and to propose mathematical problems to students. In Mario's initial understanding, creating opportunities for students to interpret mathematical concepts through representations seemed to play a crucial part in teaching knowledge. During teaching practice, Mario's understanding of the knowledge needed to represent mathematical ideas expanded to include a new aspect: the connections between mathematical representations. This is a special component of mathematics teaching; concepts and procedures are enhanced in teaching to help students consider not only concrete but also pictorial and abstract representations. In the last moment of the study, Mario demonstrated an evolving understanding of the knowledge needed to carry out multiple representations in the classroom. For Mario, teachers not only need to be familiar with multiple representations but also need to be able to structure representations, understand the connections between them, and know how to help students gradually interpret and move between representations.

Mario's understanding of the knowledge of mathematical representation also seems to be driven by the specific purposes of promoting generalizations: one crucial aspect when teaching mathematics through representations is to focus on the meaning of mathematical concepts so students can understand and apply them in different situations. According to Mario, such knowledge allows teachers to build bridges from their personal representations to more realistic and useful ones, contributing to a better understanding of the teaching and learning of mathematics.

5.5 Summary of the Findings across Articles

The findings of the four articles presented in this chapter comprised a set of themes that helped to situate the thesis' object of study (the understanding pre-service teachers developed of the knowledge necessary to teach mathematics throughout teacher education). Collectively, the articles revealed the evolving facets of pre-service teachers' understandings within a respective type of knowledge needed for teaching mathematics. In summary, the articles provided insights that refined the main research question over the span of the following themes of analysis:

- 1. CCK for teaching and learning,
- 2. Relating knowledge of out-of-curriculum content to HCK,
- 3. The importance of SCK in interpreting students' errors and capacities,

Results

- 4. SCK: Stimulating mathematics learning through different approaches,
- 5. Decision-making in teachers' KCT,
- 6. Relations between KCT and KCC,
- 7. Adaptations of the classroom activities from students' contributions and levels of understanding,
- 8. Knowledge of how to sequence instructional tasks to foster students' learning of mathematics,
- 9. Knowledge of instructional task progression to help students solve mathematical problems,
- 10. Ability to use locally, available resources to create multiple representations.

Although referring to particular domains of mathematical knowledge for teaching, each of these themes contributed to answering the research questions. Again, these 10 themes of analysis are a refinement of types of knowledge initially designed for the study. Table 5 locates each theme according to the specific research question and the main research questions. The 'Th' inserted in the cells represents one of the 10 themes listed above.

Table 5. Summary of the themes according to the cases and research questions

				·		.	OV6	erall I	Overall Research Question:	rch (Juesti	on:						
	Ho	op wo	How do pre-service teachers develop their understanding of the knowledge necessary to teach mathematics throughout teacher education?	servic	e tea teac	chers h mat	e teachers develop their understanding of the know teach mathematics throughout teacher education?	lop th atics t	hroug	nders zhout	standi teac]	ng of her ec	f the] ducat	know ion?	ledge	nece	ssary	to
	Wh	Questi at unde	Question I (First Moment): What understanding do pre-service	irst Mo ng do p	ment): sre-ser	vice	δř	uestion what	Question II (Second Moment): To what extend the pre-service	cond M the pre	[oment] -servic	ں :: 0	Q How	Question III (Third Moment): How do pre-service teachers develop	n III (T -servic	hird M e teach	oment) ers dev	: elop
Cases	te	teachers needed math	achers have of the knowledge needed to carry out tasks of mathematics teaching?	f the kn y out ta s teach	owleds asks of ing?	9	te know of 1 pra	achers' dedge d teachin ctical e	teachers' understanding of the knowledge needed to carry out tasks of teaching evolve when discuss practical experiences in college?	standin to carr /e wher nces in	g of the y out to n discu colleg	e asks ss e?	their need t	their understanding of the knowledge needed to carry out tasks of teaching throughout teacher training?	tanding arry ou out tea	t of the t tasks cher tr	knowl of teac aining?	edge hing
		SMK			PCK			SMK			PCK			SMK			PCK	
	CCK	HCK	SCK	KCC	KCS	KCT	CCK	HCK	SCK	KCC	KCS	KCT	CCK	HCK	SCK	KCC	KCS	KCT
Martin	Th1	Th2	Th3			7ħ5			Th8						Th9			
Mario		Th2	Th3 Th4												Th10			
Patrick		Th2																
Daniel	Th1		Th3			Th6												
Denise	Th1	Th2	Th3 Th4						Th8						Th9			
Clara	Th1	Th2	Th3			Th7												
	A	Article			A	Article 2		A	Article 3	~					Article 4	4		

79

Results

Results

6 Discussion

This chapter aims to critically reflect on the key results presented in the previous chapter in relation to the findings yielded by other studies and to the theory on which this study is grounded. The chapter's content is cleaved into three sections, aligning the questions addressed in the four articles (Chapter 5) with the three sub-research questions of this thesis (Chapter 1). Findings from the data and analysis reported in the articles are also discussed in relation to the overall research question (Chapter 1) and a broader perspective linked to the literature, and previous research in the field (Chapter 2).

The overarching goal of the research reported in this thesis was to investigate how pre-service teachers develop their understanding of the knowledge necessary to teach mathematics as they progress through teacher education. The data analysis was conducted on the premise that effective teaching and extensive subject matter knowledge require a complete and genuine understanding of the knowledge and skills entailed in the practical work of teaching (Ball, 2017). Although the findings presented in Chapter 5 provided answers to the research questions, further elaboration is needed to draw meaningful conclusions and identify their implications for research and practice. Hence, in the sections that follow, the findings are discussed in relation to each subresearch question and the overall goal of this study.

6.1 Pre-Service Teachers' Initial Understanding of the Knowledge Needed to Carry out Tasks of Mathematics Teaching

Effective teaching often involves using the knowledge and skills required for the tasks of teaching (Ball & Forzani, 2009). As the ability to teach effectively demands much more than subject matter expertise (Ball et al., 2008), pre-service teachers are required to develop specialized knowledge that helps them not only engage students in the learning process but also meet the demands and challenges of society (Day, 2002; Darling-Hammond, 2006).

According to the Malawian IPTE curriculum, primary preservice teachers are expected to become autonomous agents and lifelong learners (see Chapter 3). However, the steps taken to attain this ambitious goal are not clearly delineated in this curriculum (Malawian Institute of Education, 2017). In this context, pre-service teachers seemed to be under considerable pressure to meet the requirements of the teacher education program which might be a factor that influences the preservice teachers learning (Salagi, 2018). As the findings in this thesis indicate, most pre-service teachers who took part in the present study demonstrated partial understanding of the tasks involved in the work of teaching at the beginning of teacher education; this aligned with Barkatsas and Malone's (2005) report on pre-service teachers' beliefs regarding the nature of mathematics knowledge. At the beginning of teacher education, most pre-service teachers could identify the core tasks of teaching that are characteristic of the Malawian context as noted by Jakobsen et al. (2017), even though they had difficulties in providing examples and making connections between students' needs and curricular demands. The current study showed that at the beginning of teacher education, pre-service teachers' understanding of teaching knowledge was mostly rooted in school curricula and IPTE program guidelines without further explanation of the origin of these sources.

One reason why the pre-service teachers demonstrated such partial understanding of the knowledge teaching during the early stages of teacher education might be linked to the fact that they possessed different views of teaching and diverse motives for entering teacher education programs (Bergmark, Lundström, Manderstedt, & Palo 2018; Watt & Richardson, 2008). These factors might have substantial implications for pre-service teachers' way of understanding the work of teaching and the skills necessary to conduct it effectively (Zhang, Hawk, Zhang, & Zhao, 2016). These views seem to apply to the Malawian context, given that the results reported in Article 2 indicate that preservice teachers have diverse educational backgrounds and expectations of the teaching profession. Nonetheless, the overall study indicates that most pre-service teachers expressed a strong motivation for covering the fundamental values stated in the Malawian school curriculum and understood the knowledge and skills necessary to perform these tasks as a primary source for teaching mathematics in primary school.

The initial understanding of teaching knowledge revealed by the pre-service teachers was also spontaneous. The analysis aligns with studies that suggest pre-service teachers appear to focus almost exclusively on the knowledge of the content rather than the knowledge of interpreting students' errors and capacities (Cady & Rearden, 2007; Marshman & Porter, 2013). Pre-service teachers tended to elicit events from practices they have experienced or observed in elementary schools to justify the necessary knowledge for primary school teachers in Malawi to possess (Articles 1 and 2). However, there was no evidence that preservice teachers were aware of important structures of the mathematical concepts (see Hill, Sleep, Lewis, & Ball, 2007) and the knowledge that goes beyond school content (Jakobsen et al., 2012; Wasserman & Stockton, 2013). Thus, it is not easy to assume how pre-service teachers will employ teaching knowledge in practice from their initial understanding at the beginning of teacher education (Waters-Adams, 2006).

The pre-service teachers who focused on aspects of specialized content knowledge revealed a concern about classroom management. For instance, in Article 1, the pre-service teachers, Mario and Denise, acknowledged the relevance for teachers to create a learning environment for all, using locally available resources. Still, there is a need for awareness of not only what and when specific didactical materials should be employed but also how these materials can help the teachers carry out the tasks of teaching effectively. This argument is supported by O' Neill and Stephenson (2012), and also related to the idea that at the beginning of teacher education, pre-service teachers can demonstrate an advancing form of understanding of the teachers' responsibilities and the tasks that involved different approaches to help students to learn properly (Ball, 2017; Ball & Forzani, 2009; Lauerman & Karabenick, 2013; Mitchell et al., 2014).

6.2 Resignification of Pre-Service Teachers' Understanding of the Knowledge Needed to Carry Out Tasks of Mathematics Teaching

As a result of the coursework in college and teaching practices in local schools, pre-service teachers presented a more complex view in their understanding of the knowledge needed to carry the tasks of teaching mathematics effectively. During the teaching practice, the preservice teachers found they had to deal with many of the tasks of teaching mathematics. After discussing some of these tasks, the pre-service teachers presented a deeper understanding of the knowledge needed to sequence tasks for mathematics instruction. They were able to provide alternative examples and approaches to engage students and instructional suggestions for helping students overcome errors in solving mathematical problems. For some researchers, other than the fact that previous experiences and ideas about teaching have a strong influence in the way pre-service teachers understand teaching, a critical factor that might contribute to its restructuring is instructional practice (Charalambous & Litke, 2018; Osmanoglu, 2016; Ulusoy, 2020; Yang, Kaiser, König, Blömeke, 2020).

The findings from the current study suggest that pre-service teachers tend to pay attention to both specific and general aspects of teaching rather than only focus on general tasks or events, as also found Discussion

by Star and Strickland (2008). This result is consistent with those by Chamoso, Cáceresa and Azcárateb (2012) and Snyder (2010) who observed that pre-service teachers could demonstrate an evolving understanding of the tasks and knowledge entailed in the work of teaching when discussing their actions, decisions, interactions with the students, and responses to situations that emerged during the teaching that took place during their teaching practice.

One of the teaching task characteristics of mathematics teachers in Malawi is the ability to create their own didactical materials for teaching (Kazima et al., 2016). Although such a task is not part of Ball et al.'s (2008) conceptualization of mathematical tasks of teaching, using teaching aids from local resources is one of the tasks that pre-service teachers are required to learn to carry out when they are in college. Grossen (1996) evaluates this demand by pondering the teachers' real function. The author further states, "to ask that teachers create all of their own tools and curricula is like asking doctors to invent all of their own drugs; like asking airplane pilots to build their own airplanes. When would teachers have time to do this?" (p. 20). For the pre-service teachers who participated in this study, it was determined that although the tasks of creating their own teaching resources can be demanding, it was also satisfying (Article 3). By creating their own materials, Freire (1996) argues that pre-service teachers are able to know their own knowledge and abilities (financially and mentally) to search, create and transform the locally available resources into learning mediation tools for the students' learning. Therefore, a teacher needs to be flexible, creative, and (s)he needs to have an explicit understanding of the nature of the taught mathematical content and the students' capacity to acquire such content (Article 4).

Another insight revealed in Article 3 was that pre-service teachers similarly recognized the need to organize instructional tasks to help students learn mathematics but from different perspectives. In Article 3, some pre-service teachers acknowledged that teachers should progressively introduce mathematical concepts from the simple to the more complex, as this accomplished a twofold teaching goal: (1) development of students' self-confidence in their ability to solve mathematical problems, and (2) alignment with the school textbook's standards. These findings are in alignment with extant research on teacher education that highlights the significance of teaching experience to shape pre-service teachers' conceptions of crucial aspects of the work of teaching (Hiebert, Morris, Berk, & Jansen, 2007; Hill et al., 2008; Jones & Vesilind, 1996).

According to Ryan, Carrington, Selva, and Healy (2009), teaching experiences in real schools are necessary for expanding preservice teachers' views of the complexity and dynamics of teachers' work. During teacher education, pre-service teachers must be given opportunities to connecting theory and practice since this prompts them to reconsider their initial conceptions of the work of teaching mathematics and to make strategic decisions based on critical reflection (Sheridan, 2016). Pre-service teachers' understanding of teaching knowledge is influenced by their preconceptions or knowledge involved in the task of teaching and the quality of the personal experiences and theoretical guidance they receive during teacher education (Darling-Hammond & Youngs, 2002). This was particularly evident for preservice teachers during teaching practice (Articles 3 and 4), whose understanding of the knowledge entailed in the work of teaching were initially aligned with the recommendations given in the teachers' guide and the students' learning needs.

However, pre-service teachers' understanding of teaching knowledge gradually evolved, primarily due to their ability to develop basic generalizations and connections between the mathematical content properties. This understanding seems to play a crucial role in the preservice teachers' learning since it provides them with opportunities to make connections and build self-confidence in their ability to provide effective instruction (Darling-Hammond & Bransford, 2005; Le Cornu & Ewing, 2008; Starkey, 2010). Consequently, the findings reported in this work shows how pre-service teachers evolve their understanding of the knowledge demands and the tasks of teaching when reflecting on their practical teaching experiences.

6.3 Development of the Pre-Service Teachers' Understanding of the Knowledge Necessary to Carry Out Tasks of mathematics Teaching

Results from Articles 1 and 2 align with the findings reported by Barkatsas and Malone (2005). These authors found that pre-service teachers begin teacher education with the beliefs and conceptions about teaching that are largely based on their own school experiences. At this stage of teacher education, pre-service teachers tend to demonstrate awareness of the common problems and tasks that teachers face in classrooms (Ball, 1990; Pajares, 1992) and the role teachers play in the students' learning (Enyedy, Goldberg, & Welsh, 2005). However, as evident from the findings presented in Articles 3 and 4, the pre-service teachers' views of what teaching entails might also continue to be influenced by standardized national curriculum and school textbooks.

Although research shows that pre-service teachers might present critical and open ideas about the work of teaching at the beginning of teacher education (Fajet, Bello, Leftwich, Mesler, & Shaver, 2005; Jao, 2017), only when discussing broader aspects of the work of teaching, the pre-service teachers were capable of justifying and making sense of the knowledge necessary to carry out the tasks of teaching mathematics (Article 1). In this regard, Letwinsky and Cavender (2018) and Quick and Siebörger (2005) clarify that when entering teacher education, preservice teachers often base their views on teachers' guidelines and approaches on former successful practices, which might lead to a fragmented view and understanding of crucial aspects necessary for conducting teaching effectively.

In Malawi, research has indicated that primary pre-service teachers struggle to develop proper mathematical knowledge for teaching during teacher education (Jakobsen et al., 2018; Kasoka et al., 2017). This study shows that although pre-service teachers might hold partial and intuitive ideas of the work of teaching on entering teacher education, they can create different interpretations of the tasks of teaching and present evolving forms of understanding of the knowledge needed to carry out these tasks as they progress through teacher education. According to Gardner and Williamson (2007), this is a crucial component that might explain why pre-service teachers often struggle to reach an adequate level of knowledge and skills regarding the work of teaching constituents. During teacher education, the pre-service teachers are still searching for meanings and ways to make sense of what is involved in the work of mathematics teaching (Articles 1, 2, and 4), which might indicate the degree to which they value certain knowledge to carry out teaching tasks (Pillen, Beijaard, & Brok, 2012).

Although in the current study pre-service teachers' understanding of teaching knowledge is directed towards conventional teaching approaches, findings in the Articles 3 and 4 corroborate findings reported in Sheridan's (2016) work that shows that the different forms of understanding and views pre-service teachers hold during their teacher education can evolve with incorporation of new features as they gradually mature and experience new ideas or situations. For example, as demonstrated in Articles 3 and 4, teaching practice considerably enabled the pre-service teachers to reconsider their prior knowledge and understanding of teaching and the knowledge needed for teaching mathematics, reinforcing Smith and Lev-Ari's (2005) insights into the role of a practicum in pre-service teacher education. Thus, it is assumed that pre-service teachers' views and understandings of teaching knowledge evolve throughout teacher education as they began to comprehend the dynamics and complexities of the tasks involved in the work of teaching (Ball & Forzani, 2019).

A foremost component of teaching knowledge explored in this thesis was the tasks and knowledge related to the SCK domain. Although the IPTE program curriculum does not provide explicit details of the tasks of teaching within this domain (Malawian Institute of Education, 2017), the current study shows that the pre-service teachers tended to think of the knowledge for carrying out tasks of teaching not as a mere list of competencies or techniques for teaching (as indicated in Article 1), but rather as generic skills that help teachers present the content in a way that makes it more accessible and useful to the students (Article 1).

SCK is a domain that clearly connects with the knowledge teachers need to do the work of teaching mathematics in the classroom, and an understanding of the tasks of teaching that pertain to such a domain is highly relevant for pre-service teachers to make sense of teaching and different approaches to make the content more comprehensible for students (Ball et al., 2008). However, as the concept of SCK is relatively new to the field, more research is needed to steer how pre-service teachers can better acquire and understand the nature of the knowledge so they can respond to the everyday tasks of teaching, especially the tasks of teaching in challenging contexts.

It is also noteworthy that the pre-service teachers who took part in this study demonstrated the ability to adapt and use locally available resources to foster students' learning of mathematics. For instance, as indicated in Article 4, Mario, one of the participating pre-service teachers, realized from the practicum that the knowledge needed to teach mathematics also involved using different representations. The literature also contains studies showing that throughout teacher education preservice teachers can become more aware of the tasks of teaching and the knowledge necessary to carry out these tasks if they are given the chance to explore and reflect on the teaching situations (e.g., Lauerman & Karabenick, 2013; Mitchell et al., 2014) By the end of teacher education, Mario's understanding of teaching knowledge involved a different facet from being familiar with multiple representations to being able to structure representations to understand the connections between them, and know how to help students gradually interpret and move between representations (Article 4). According to Pape and Tchoshanov (2001) and Tripathi (2008), these dimensions refer to the production of meaning regarding mathematical representations, an ability that Ball et al. (2008) have suggested is unique to the work of mathematics teacher.

Thus, based on the findings yielded by the present work, it can be argued that the development of SCK is critically important in teacher education since it can help pre-service teachers recognize and employ central aspects of effective teaching in practice. Various studies have also found that developing a deep understanding of SCK components is an important foundation for becoming a qualified teacher and capable of assisting students to learn mathematics (Chinnappan & White, 2015; Ding, 2013; Ndlovu et al., 2017). Moreover, by analyzing Mario's case from the perspective of the SCK domain—the knowledge of multiple representations to teach mathematics, in particular-it can be argued that pre-service teachers can acquire and deepen an understanding of the multifaceted nature of SCK and its role in the contexts of challenging teaching. Such a view is also shared by Provost (2013). This thesis complements these thoughts by supporting the view that the pre-service teachers' understanding of knowledge necessary for teaching is likely to evolve in different ways as they progress during teacher education. This peculiarity tends to help them get a sense of the theoretical landscape of effective teaching and the knowledge and skills that will better prepare them to teach mathematics (Ball, 2017; Ball & Forzani, 2009).

7 Conclusion and Implications

This chapter presents the thesis conclusion, a crucial component of the overall work. In this chapter, I sum up the most important insights, stress the limitations, and highlight the implications for further study.

As argued in Chapter 2, pre-service teachers have conceptions and beliefs about several different aspects of education. These conceptions and beliefs can have a significant influence not only in their learning process during teacher education but also in their future profession as teachers (Patrick & Pintrich, 2001). In this thesis, I focused on the understanding primary pre-service teachers develop of the knowledge necessary to carry out the tasks of teaching mathematics as a way to access their concepts and beliefs about the work of teaching mathematics. Furthermore, it is argued that any understanding of what the work of teaching (from the perspective of pre-service teachers) entails will be severely limited unless it incorporates an understanding of how pre-service teachers make sense of what teachers must know and do in the classroom (Brown & McIntyre, 1993). These constructs are central to educational research and are not usually core-content areas in teacher education programs, especially in countries where the educational system is under development.

A first step in developing this study was to formulate the research question and the possibilities to contribute to the field of teacher education. In Chapter 1, I explained that this process was initially based on on-site visits to primary schools and teacher education colleges in Malawi and reviews of literature and research conducted on the topic of teacher education and teacher knowledge. Moreover, by assuming that education is a crucial element to the successful implementation of the 2030 agenda for sustainable development by UNESCO (2019), I argued that efforts targeting the improvement of teacher education should consider forms of not only improving access to education but also the quality and conditions for pre-service teachers to develop proficiency in teaching.

In Malawi, the redesign of the IPTE two-year program (Chapter 3) led to a set of principles that emphasize the need for pre-service teachers to develop an in-depth understanding of mathematical knowledge for teaching in primary schools (Malawian Institute of Education, 2017). Its syllabus encompasses standards that require pre-service teachers to acquire subject matter knowledge and develop pedagogical ways to promote students' lifelong learning (Malawian Institute of Education, 2017). Although such a proposal seemed to be promising, the views that sustain the document were based on what the pre-service teachers should learn rather than what they already know or are capable of doing, especially at the beginning of their teacher education. Findings from Jakobsen et al.'s (2018) indicate possible gaps in this curriculum proposal as pre-service teachers still showed low level of improvements in their mathematical knowledge for teaching at the end of the program. Thus, there is a clear need for more awareness on what pre-service teachers know and have learned in their teacher education rather than what should be taught to them.

In this thesis, my goal was to provide a comprehensive picture of the pre-service teachers' understandings of the tasks and knowledge necessary for teaching mathematics and how they develop such understandings throughout their teacher education. In this thesis, I argued that it is important to consider the needs and specificities of preservice teachers regarding the knowledge entailed in the work of teaching. This thesis, therefore, marks a major step in the field by providing new data and insights on this a topic.

7.1 Responding to the Research Question

The overall research question of this study was: *How do pre*service teachers develop their understanding of the knowledge necessary *to teach mathematics throughout teacher education?* This question was divided into three specific research questions that intended to cover the general question (Chapter 1).

In response to the first sub-research question, *What understanding do pre-service teachers have of the knowledge needed to carry out the tasks of mathematics teaching at the beginning of their teacher education?*, I intended to get a better sense of the types of knowledge that pre-service teachers in Malawi understand to be crucial to carry out the tasks of teaching mathematics. I found that entering primary pre-service teachers in Malawi acknowledged the relevance of most types of knowledge widely accepted by the literature (Ball et al., 2008). Despite some variabilities, they tended to justify and make sense of teaching knowledge as being more closely related to practical experiences and the instructional guidelines from the IPTE program and school curricula.

Additionally, at the beginning of the teacher education program, Malawian pre-service teachers tended to view mathematics teaching as being dependent on the knowledge of content and the ability to use locally available resources in mathematics instruction. When the preservice teachers were asked about the knowledge that is not part of the instructional curriculum, few understood it as relevant to teaching mathematics. For them, this broader type of knowledge is crucial to facilitating the work of teaching in meeting the curriculum demands and helping students to get a general idea of the origins of mathematical content, but it was not as important for helping students to solve practical mathematical problems in Malawi.

Nonetheless, issues like overcrowded classrooms and lack of didactical resources can diminish the significance of teachers' SCK in carrying out tasks of teaching mathematics, as indicated by the preservice teachers at the beginning of teacher education. They were broadly consistent in explaining the specificities and connections between the tasks of teaching mathematics and the knowledge that are unique to the work of teaching, as described by Ball et al. (2008). Thus, as suggested in the present study, entering pre-service teachers in Malawi hold a partial and intuitive understanding of the knowledge needed to carry out the tasks of teaching mathematics in primary schools. This initial understanding was crucial to comprehend the pre-service teachers' learning process throughout teacher education.

In addressing the second sub-research question, To what extent does the pre-service teachers' understanding of the knowledge needed to carry out tasks of teaching evolve through the discussion of practical experiences in college?, I aimed to examine the pre-service teachers' understanding of the tasks of teaching and knowledge demands that manifested in their own mathematics lessons during teaching practice in local schools. I found that, at the stage of teaching practice, the preservice teachers could better describe the tasks of teaching that were necessary to fulfill the work of teaching mathematics. I also noticed that after teaching practice, pre-service teachers followed unique paths of evolution regarding their understanding of the knowledge needed to carry out these tasks effectively. At this stage, most of them became more aware of the limits in only considering the instructional guidelines proposed by the IPTE curriculum and school textbooks. The pre-service teachers recognized the need to develop broad knowledge and skills to create more consistent activities to meet students' needs and specificities of learning. As a result, pre-service teachers appeared to expand their intuitive understanding from the beginning of the program to a more complex one during teaching practice, even though they still endorse the institutional curricular guidelines.

In the third sub-research question, *How do pre-service teachers develop their understanding of the knowledge needed to carry out tasks of teaching throughout teacher training?*, I sought to analyze the dialogue, arguments, and reflection that pre-service teachers made during a focus-group discussion at the end of teacher education. To complement such an analytical process, I combined data from the two

aforementioned moments of the research. Thus, by taking a development perspective of the understanding that pre-service teachers revealed of teaching knowledge over the course of three research moments, I found that throughout teacher education, pre-service teachers developed a more nuanced understanding of the knowledge needed to carry out tasks of teaching mathematics in primary schools. They could clearly articulate their thoughts and ideas with principles suggested by the theories emphasized in the IPTE curriculum (Malawian Institute of Education, 2017).

By the end of teacher education, in particular, the pre-service teachers tended to reframe their initial understanding of teaching knowledge to a more useful form of application. For instance, in Article 4, Mario's reflections on tasks of teaching that are unique to the work of primary school teachers in Malawi showed he was aware of possible connections between different types of knowledge to carry out this task; he made several references to the knowledge of how to use locally available resources to create multiple representations to teach mathematics. Also, as he explained the difference of this knowledge with his initial understanding presented at the beginning of the program, it was clear that he had critical thought on the limits and potentialities of SCK to teach mathematics, showing that his intuitive understanding of teaching knowledge had prolonged to be more sophisticated.

The conclusions above demonstrate that entering Malawian preservice teachers tend to develop their understanding of the knowledge necessary to teach mathematics as they progress through teacher education. Such a development process, however, is complex and closely dependent on the activities and experiences they have during teacher education. As pre-service teachers gain more experience throughout studies about theories in the coursework, teaching classes in local schools, and reflection activities about their learning afterwards, it can be assumed they can revise and improve their intuitive ideas and thoughts in the light of their future role as teachers as well as of the Conclusion

theoretical constructions taught by the teacher education program. Therefore, the understanding pre-service teachers develop of the knowledge needed to carry out the tasks of teaching mathematics during teacher education might constrain the opportunities for conceptual development of essential theoretical constructs that are unique to the work of teaching if they are given the opportunity to think, experience and reflect. However, it was unclear if such awareness could indicate whether pre-service teachers' understanding of teaching knowledge can continue to improve after teacher education.

7.2 Limitations of the Study

Examining the understanding that pre-service teachers develop of the knowledge necessary to teach mathematics throughout teacher education imposes challenges for any study, particularly for a qualitative study.

One weakness of this study was the lack of a theoretical foundation based on previous research on the topic. Although the current study can be situated in the context of research about teachers' epistemic belief of teaching knowledge, there was very little, or no similar research that focused on the understanding pre-service teachers develop of the knowledge necessary to carry out tasks of teaching mathematics during teacher education (Chapter 2). Similar research on this topic had explored the teachers' mathematical knowledge for teaching as a theoretical construct, teachers' ability to articulate theoretical constructs of mathematical knowledge for teaching and practice, and teachers' knowledge of the tasks of teaching and skills demands to carry out these tasks in mathematics (see Chapter 2). Thus, the scope of works that have been done in consonance with the current study is limited and provides only limited support to understand the research problem investigated.

The case study sample size also limited further conclusions of this study. Many of the twenty-three pre-service teachers who participated in
the IM of the study provided relevant data. As the analyses focused only on six cases of pre-service teachers, a significant set of data could not be considered for this thesis. A larger sample—perhaps collected in different teacher education colleges—may have provided different insights into the focus of this study.

A third limitation of this study relates to conditions given to conduct the teaching observations in local schools. As explained in Chapter 4, after taking coursework during the two first terms at the college, pre-service teachers in Malawi went to local schools for practical teaching experience. Some schools were located in remote regions across the country, mostly in rural areas, making it difficult for the researcher to access those locations. Even with the help of some colleagues and teacher educators from the teacher college and the University of Malawi, it was difficult to trace the schools and have appropriate time to conduct the interviews with the pre-service teachers.

After accomplishing all the three moments of the study, I observed that it could have been done differently. If I had more time in my Ph.D. program, it probably would have been easier to have all the data from three moments at once, and transcribe and analyze the data later rather having to collect data from each moment, and transcribe and analyze before the subsequent moments. The analysis would have probably been more consistent and coherent with the focus of the study. Also, the study could have included new forms of analysis by analyzing pre-service teachers' cases from other teacher education programs. This could have been an encouraging way to find out whether the pre-service teachers' views and understanding of teaching knowledge correspond, an aspect that the current study did not cover.

7.3 Implications for Practice

One practical contribution of this study relates to teacher educators' teaching activities. Overall, the results showed that preservice teachers revealed different forms of understanding of the knowledge necessary for teaching mathematics throughout teacher education, a condition that suggests that pre-service teachers need distinct types of support and guidance to convene their learning needs during teacher education.

This study helps teacher educators to develop a better sense of how pre-service teachers understand the tasks and knowledge demand for teaching mathematics. Teacher educators could use the results of this work to improve their teaching to determine the most appropriate tasks and activities that could stimulate pre-service teachers to expand their views and knowledge about mathematical knowledge for teaching.

Teacher educators could implement the cases explored in this study as a teaching strategy to engage their students with reflections on how the participants of this study carried out the tasks of teaching during practical situations. Using case studies to prepare pre-service teachers for teaching will likely be an effective way for teacher educators to improve their teaching as the instances used are research-based cases. Pre-service teachers will have more opportunities to discuss and reflect on the lived experience and views that others had in their teacher education or professional development. The idea is not to make pre-service teachers think or employ the same strategy from other cases, but instead, help them become more familiar with the challenges of the work of teaching so they can use their academic skills to carry out tasks of teaching in practical contexts.

This thesis also has implications for future curricular reforms of teacher education guidelines in Malawi. As shown in Article 1, preservice teachers acknowledge the relevance of mathematical knowledge beyond the primary school curriculum. However, the syllabus for teacher education in mathematics in Malawi (Malawian Institute of Education, 2017) does not yet propose further discussion or activities for pre-service teachers to develop such knowledge. Another type of knowledge that is

not considered in detail in this document is the specialized content knowledge, a unique and crucial component for the education of teachers in mathematics (Ball et al., 2008). As reported in Articles 3 and 4, although aligned with Ball et al.'s (2008) definition of specialized content knowledge, pre-service teachers still seem to make more complex interpretations of this knowledge when reflecting practical situations. Future curricular reforms could consider implementing learning activities that encourage pre-service teachers to develop a better understanding of this knowledge so they can be better prepared to carry out mathematics teaching tasks. The curriculum could also include or describe how its principles and philosophy relate to UNESCO's (2015b) Sustainable Development Goals.

7.4 Methodological Implications

The overall study methodology was drawing upon the use of multiple data collection instruments in different phases of the fieldwork. In educational research, it is common to find case studies that explore a case using similar instruments and procedures repeatedly over time to maintain the reliability of the results, but as Parlett and Dearden (1977) reminded, a case study should also be flexible in terms of design as "the course of the study cannot be charted in advance" (p. 15). While this approach increases the complexity and amount of data that are evaluated, the use of several tools and procedures increases the reliability and validity of the study by avoiding problems and researchers' bias and levels of analysis, supports Stake (2005). Thus, the methodology of the present study serves as a model for longitudinal case studies that aim to collect data from many sources and shed light on the research question from many angles. This is particularly relevant for qualitative research where one phase of the study contributes to the elaboration and implementation of the next phases of the study, providing steady insights.

Beyond replicability for future research, a final methodological contribution of this thesis is the transparency of the methods used throughout the study. Transparency refers to the explicit information of the objectives, methods, and results of a study that has been implemented, and to how the study was interpreted and presented by the researcher(s) (Creswell, 2005). Sufficient transparency in qualitative research is of particular importance for clarifying the research settings, sampling procedures, and unexpected situations or challenges faced by the researcher (Aguinis & Solarino, 2019). The current study sought to provide explicit details and transparency around elaboration, development, and outcomes, so the presentation and final publications of this thesis can be used as an example for future research on the topic.

7.5 Theoretical Implications

A theoretical contribution of this thesis relates to the study of the tasks and knowledge needed for teaching. Researchers have drawn larger and smaller knowledge essential for teaching mathematics based on tasks identified during practical teaching of mathematics (e. g., Mitchel et al., 2014; Ball, 2017). This thesis examined the understanding pre-service teachers develop of the tasks of teaching and knowledge needed to teach mathematics in the context of Malawi. The empirical work shows that such a context reveals additional forms of tasks and knowledge demands for teaching mathematics (e.g., knowledge of how to select and convert locally available resources into learning materials in mathematics). The study of distinctive forms of the tasks and knowledge needed to carry out these tasks increases not only the understanding of the teaching experience and practice across different contexts but also contributes to the refinement or development of a framework for analyzing and understanding teaching, much needed in teacher education (Grossman & McDonald, 2008). Nonetheless, researchers can benefit from a greater understanding of how this knowledge might differ as context changes are necessary (Kazima et al., 2016).

Another theoretical contribution of this thesis can be related to the conceptual framework used in this study. In recent years, a few investigations have emerged in the field of teacher education concerning beliefs of teaching knowledge. Among the most promising works are those of Buehl and Fives (2009) and Mosvold and Fauskanger (2013), who provided theoretical tools to assess teachers' epistemic beliefs of teaching knowledge in mathematics. Although these are significant works for examining pre- and in-service teachers' beliefs of teaching knowledge, the lack of a clear definition of epistemic belief remains a concern in the field since scholars might denote it as knowledge about the nature of knowledge and knowing (Hofer & Pintrich, 1997) or as a lens through which a person interprets a phenomenon or situation (Rebmann et al., 2015).

In this thesis, while increasing engagement to conduct the empirical and analytical work was based on the researcher's personal experiences and educational principles (see Chapter 1), the outcome of this thesis might also contribute to the better clarification of the realm in which teachers' understanding of the tasks and knowledge necessary to teach mathematics can best be investigated in educational research. A combination of Smith and Siegel's (2004) criteria for understanding and Ball et al.'s (2008) domains of mathematical knowledge for teaching can be a more efficient way to structure and guide empirical and analytical studies about teachers' understanding of the knowledge necessary to teach mathematics. Although, the current study might shed light on the understanding of what epistemic belief is-defined by Philipp (1997) as "psychologically held understandings, premises, or propositions about the world that are thought to be true", it is an example that the development of a cognitive aspect of pre-service teachers' understanding can be studied and used to improve researchers' understanding of the nature and mathematical knowledge for teaching from the perspective of who are preparing to become teachers in mathematics.

7.6 Further research

The current research shows that pre-service teachers can develop their understanding of teaching knowledge as they progress in teacher education. The study sought to obtain a better picture of the types of tasks and knowledge demands that pre-service teachers though to be most crucial for teaching mathematics. The study also took a development perspective of this understanding in different moments of the teacher education program and concluded that pre-service teachers develop their understanding in different paths closely related to the curricular principles taught during teacher education. This conclusion, however, raises other questions, such as: Why did the pre-service teachers have different paths of development for their understanding of teaching knowledge? Would their understanding be the same if they had to teach the same mathematical topic? What other engaging teaching methods could create opportunities for pre-service teachers to develop their understanding of teaching knowledge? What kind of results will come out if pre-service teachers examine tasks of teaching mathematical lessons from teachers in different countries?

In relation to the last question, future research could consider what is happening across the globe by offering examples and insights of how pre-service teachers have developed their views and understanding of teaching knowledge during teacher education. These insights could be used to develop research beyond case studies such as cross-sectional research or action research. Findings from these other types of research would be important to the field, as it could increase our understanding of what we already know about teacher education and teacher knowledge.

7.7 Personal Growth

7.7.1 As a Researcher

I started the journey of this research enthused about how preservice teachers understand the knowledge necessary to teach mathematics, hoping that what would be learned could lead to a better understanding of how they develop mathematical knowledge for teaching and use it to create teaching activities that could help students to develop their best qualities as a human beings. However, throughout this research, I also developed some personal attributes and discovered several new ideas about teacher education.

I was always fascinated by the work of teaching. I was mostly intrigued by some teaching activities that could awaken students' curiosity and attention and make them work together to solve a problem. I always asked myself: Is that an activity that I could use to make my students better thinkers? If not, what could I do to make it more useful and meaningful? Most of the time, these questions led me to think about the quality of knowledge and skills necessary to create these activities.

During my Ph.D. research, I read and studied an abundance of educational literature about the knowledge teachers need to create effective teaching activities in the mathematical classroom. Above all the theories of teaching knowledge, I found Ball et al.'s (2008) ideas to be the most remarkable as they tried to map the tasks and knowledge that teachers must execute to teach mathematics effectively. Such an attempt did not only call the scientific community's attention but also opened a greater avenue for researchers to explore, refine, and adapt these components in different contexts of teaching. Their theory inspired me to explore the complexity of the work of teaching and persevere on the journey to improve the quality of education. I recognized my professional growth as a researcher, along with the theoretical principles of the mathematical knowledge for teaching realms. Furthermore, designing the research was an exciting task for me. The whole process has been an entirely new experience, as I was challenged by employing a possible methodology that would be consistent enough for interpreting the understanding of pre-service teachers who developed the knowledge necessary to teach mathematics during teacher education. I learned that having a well-structured methodological plan is not a guarantee that the researcher will be able to collect a good set of data. It is also necessary that the research take some risks (emotionally and physically) by interacting with the community, live and experience their agonies, and develop a spirit of improvisation and optimism.

7.7.2 As a Teacher Educator

As a teacher educator, it has been an illuminating opportunity to see how pre-service teachers learn, experience, and reflect on key aspects of their future profession. When I observed the pre-service teachers teaching their lessons to the children, I was reminded the importance of a teacher to a student and how much a children can be grateful when just a little attention is given to them. I always thought that planning a logical, well-organized, and high-tech activity could make students more engaged in learning mathematics. Still, after this research, I see that having a well-equipped classroom or an answer to every single question you make is not actually the primary purpose of education. The main goal is to create opportunities for students to develop their curiosity and critical thinking so they can learn how to learn and become lifelong learners. This was something that would not be possible without conducting this research with the pre-service teachers in Malawi. I was amazed at how pre-service teachers acquired and constructed the idea of effective teaching and kept working to achieve it regardless of the obstacles they faced in school. It was really a lesson as a teacher educator who seeks to encourage teachers worldwide to explore new forms of teaching mathematics that help students become better persons.

8 Bibliographical References

- Aguinis, H., & Solarino, A. M. (2019). Transparency and replicability in qualitative research: The case of interviews with elite informants. *Strategic Management Journal*, 40, 1–25.
- Akinsola, M. K., & Awofaba, A. O. A. (2009). Effect of personalization of instruction on students' achievement and self-efficacy in mathematics word problems. *International Journal of Mathematical Education in Science and Technology*, 40(3), 389–404.
- Allmark, P., Boote, J., Chambers, E., Clarke, A., McDonnell, A., Thompson, A., & Tod, A. M. (2009). Ethical issues in the use of indepth interviews: Literature review and discussion. *Research Ethics Review*, 5(2), 48–54.
- Attride-Stirling, J. (2001). Thematic networks: An analytic tool for qualitative research. *Qualitative Research*, *1*, 385–405.
- Axelrold, J. (1973). *The university teacher as artist*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey Bass.
- Ball, D. L. (1990). Prospective elementary and secondary teachers' understandings of division. *Journal for Research in Mathematics Education*, 21(2), 132–144.
- Ball. D. L. (2017). Uncovering the special mathematical work of teaching. In G. Kaiser (Ed.), *Proceedings from the 13th International Congress of Mathematics* Education (pp. 11–34). New York, NY: Springer.
- Ball, D. L., & Bass, H. (2000). Interweaving content and pedagogy in teaching and learning to teach: Knowing and using mathematics. In J.

Boaler (Ed.), *Multiple perspectives on mathematics teaching and learning* (pp. 83–104). Westport, CT: Ablex Publishing.

- Ball, D. L., & Forzani, F. M. (2009). The work of teaching and the challenge for teacher education. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 60(5), 497–511.
- Ball, D. L., Thames, M. H., & Phelps, G. (2008). Content knowledge for teaching: What makes it special? *Journal of Teacher Education*, 59(5), 389–407.
- Banda, K. N. (1982). *A brief history of education in Malawi*. Blantyre, Malawi: Dzuka Publishing Co.
- Barkatsas, A., & Malone, J. (2005). A typology of mathematics teachers' beliefs about teaching and learning mathematics and instructional practices. *Mathematics Education Research Journal*, 17, 69–90.
- Bassarear, T. (1997). *Mathematics for elementary school teachers*. Boston, MA: Houghton Mifflin.
- Bauer, M. W. (2000). Classical content analysis: a review. In M. W. Bauer and G.Gaskell (Eds.), *Qualitative researching with text, image and sound* (pp.131–151). London, UK: Sage.
- Baumert, J., Kunter, M., Blum, W., Brunner, M., Voss, T., Jordan, A., & . . .Tsai, Y. M. (2010). Teachers' mathematical knowledge, cognitive activation in the classroom, and student progress. *American Educational Research Journal*, 47, 133-180.
- Baxter, P., & Jack, S. (2008). Qualitative case study methodology: Study design and implementation for Novice Researchers. *The Qualitative Report*, *13*(4), 544–559.

Bendixen, L. D., & Feucht, F. C. (Eds.). (2010). Personal epistemology in the classroom: Theory, research, and implications for practices. Cambridge, England: Cambridge University Press.

Ben-Peretz, M. (2011). Teacher knowledge: What is it? How do we uncover it? What are its implications for schooling? *Teacher and Teacher Education*, 27(1), 3–9.

- Bergmark, U., Lundstrom, S. Manderstedt, L., & Palo, A. (2018). Why become a teacher? Student teachers' perceptions of the teaching profession and motives for career choice. *European Journal of Teacher Education*, 41(3), 266–281.
- Beswick, K. (2012). Teachers' beliefs about school mathematics and mathematicians' mathematics and their relationship to practice. *Educational Studies in Mathematics*, 79(1), 127–147.
- Biesta, G. (2007). Why "what works" won't work: Evidence-based practice and the democratic deficit in educational research. *Educational Theory*, *57*, 1–22.
- Bourdon, J., Frölich, M., & Michaelowa, K. (2010). Teacher shortages, teacher contracts and their effect on education in Africa. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society*, *173*(1), 93–116.
- Boyatzis, R. E. (1998). *Transforming qualitative information: Thematic analysis and code development*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Brant, J. (2006). Subject knowledge and pedagogic knowledge: ingredients for good teaching? An English perspective. *Edukacja*, 94(2), 60–77.
- Bråten, I. (2010). Personal epistemology in education: Concepts, issues, and implications. In E. Baker, B. McGaw, & P. Peterson (Eds.),

International encyclopedia of education (Vol. 5, pp. 211–217). Oxford, UK: Elsevier.

- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *3*(2), 77–101.
- Brown, S., & McIndyre, D. (1993). *Making sense of teaching*. Buckingham (UK) and Philadelphia (PA): Open University Press.
- Bruckmaier, G., Krauss, S., Blum, W., & Leiss, D. (2016). Measuring mathematics teachers' professional competence by using video clips (COACTIV video). ZDM Mathematics Education, 48, (1–2), 111–124.
- Cady, J. A., & Rearden, K. (2007). Preservice teachers' beliefs about knowledge, mathematics, and science. *School Science and Mathematics*, 107(6), 237–245.
- Carrillo, J., Climent, N., Contreras, L. C., & Muñoz-Catalán, M. C. (2013). Determining specialised knowledge for mathematics teaching. In B. Ubuz, C. Haser, & M. A. Mariotti (Eds.), *Proceedings of the Eighth congress of the European Society for Research in Mathematics Education* (pp. 2985–2994). Antalya, Turkey: METH.
- Chamoso, J. M., Cáceresa, M. J., & Azcárateb, P. (2012). Reflection on the teaching-learning process in the initial training of teachers. Characterization of the issues on which pre-service Mathematics teachers reflect. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 28(2), 154–164.
- Chanaiwa, D. (1993). Southern Africa since 1945. In A. Mazril & C. Wondji (Eds.), *General history of Africa VIII: Africa since 1935* (pp. 249–281). Berkeley, CA: Heinemann UNESCO.
- Charalambous, C. Y., & Litke, E. (2018). Studying instructional quality by using a content-specific lens: The case of the Mathematical Quality of Instruction framework. *ZDM Mathematics Education*, *50*, 445–460.

- Chevallard, Y. (2000). La recherche en didactique et la formation des professeurs: problématiques, concepts, problems. In M. Bailleul (Ed.), *Actes de la x e école d'été de didactique des mathématiques* (pp. 98-112). Caen, France: IUFM.
- Chinnapan, M., & White, B. (2015). Specialised content knowledge: Evidence of pre-service teachers' appraisal of students' errors in proportional reasoning. In M. Marshman, V. Gieger & A. Benisson (Eds.), Proceedings of the 38th Annual Conference of the Mathematics Research Group of Australasia (pp. 157–164). Sunshine Coast, Australia: Merga.
- Cohen, D. K. (2011). *Teaching and its predicaments*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Coimbra, M. N. C. T, & Martins, A. M. O. (2013). Case studying educational research: A way of looking at reality. *American Journal of Educational*, *1*(9), 391–95.
- Conley, A. M., Pintrich, P. R., Vekiri, I., & Harrison, D. (2004). Changes in epistemological beliefs in elementary science students. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 29, 186–204.
- Costa, C., Breda, Z., Pinho, I., Bakas, F., & Durão, M. (2016). Performing a thematic analysis: An exploratory study about managers' perceptions on gender equality. *The Qualitative Report*, 21(13), 34–47.
- Creswell, J. (2005). *Educational Research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research* (2nd Ed.) Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education.
- Creswell, J., & Plano Clark, V. (2018). *Designing and conducting mixed methods research*, (3rd Ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

- Darling-Hammond, L. (2006). Constructing 21st century teacher education. *Journal of Teacher Education*, *57*(3), 300–314.
- Darling-Hammond, L., & Bransford, J. (Eds). (2005). *Preparing teachers for a changing world: What teachers should learn and be able to do*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Darling-Hammond, L., & Youngs, P. (2002). Defining "Highly Qualified Teachers": What Does "Scientifically-Based Research" Actually Tell Us? *Educational Researcher*, 31, 13–25.
- Davis, B., & Simmt, E. (2006). Mathematics-for-teaching: An ongoing investigation of the mathematics that teachers (need to) know. *Educational Studies in Mathematics*, *61*, 293–319.
- Davydov, V. V. (1999). What is real learning activity? In M. Hedegaard & J. Lompscher (Eds.), *Learning activity and development*. (pp. 123–138). Aarhus, Denmark: Aarhus University Press.
- Day, C. (2002). *Developing teachers: The challenges of lifelong learning*. London, UK: Routledge.
- De Regt, H. W. (2004). Discussion note: Making sense of understanding. *Philosophy of Science*, *71*, 98–109.
- Delaney, S., Ball, D., Hill, H., Schilling, S., & Zopf, D. (2008). "Mathematical knowledge for teaching": Adapting U.S. measures for use in Ireland. *Journal of Mathematics Teacher Education*, 1(3), 171– 197.
- DeSantis, L., & Ugarriza, D. N. (2000). The concept of theme as used in qualitative nursing research. *Western Journal of Nursing Research*, 22(3), 351–372.

- Ding, M. (2016). Developing preservice elementary teachers' specialized content knowledge: The case of associative property. *International Journal of STEM Education*, *3*(9), 1–19.
- Dudek, C.M., Reddy, L.A., & Lekwa, A. (2019). Measuring teacher practices to inform student achievement in high poverty schools: A predictive validity study. *Contemporary School Psychology*, 23, 290– 303.
- Duthilleul, Y. (2005). Lessons learnt in the use of contract teachers. *International Institute for Educational Planning: Synthesis Report*. Paris, France: UNESCO, IIEP.
- Enyedy, N., Goldberg, J., & Welsh, M. (2005). Complex dilemmas of identity and practice. *Science Education*, *90*(1), 68–93.
- Fajet, W., Bello, M., Leftwich, S. A., Mesler, J. L., & Shaver, A. N. (2005). Preservice teachers' perceptions in beginning education classes. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 21(6), 717–727.
- Farrell, J., & Oliveira, J. (1993) (Eds.). *Teachers in developing countries: Improving effectiveness and managing costs*. Washington, DC: Economic Development Institute.
- Fennema, E., & Franke, M. L. (1992). Teachers' knowledge and its impact. In D. A. Grouws (Ed.), *Handbook of research on mathematics teaching and learning: A project of the National Council of Teachers of Mathematics* (pp. 147–164). New York, NY: Macmillan Publishing Co, Inc.
- Ferguson, L. E., & Brownlee, J. L. (2018). An investigation of preservice teachers' beliefs about the certainty of teaching knowledge. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, 43(1), 94–111.

- Fernandez, C. (2014). Knowledge base for teaching and pedagogical content knowledge (PCK): Some useful models and implications for teachers' training. *Problems of Education in the 21th Century*, 60, 79– 100.
- Fives, H., & Buehl, M. M. (2008). What do teachers believe? Developing a framework for examining beliefs about teachers' knowledge and ability. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, *33*, 134–176.
- Fives, H., & Buehl, M. M. (2010). Examining the factor structure of the teachers' sense of efficacy scale. *Journal of Experimental Education*, 78, 118–134.
- Fives, H., Lacatena, N., & Gerard, C. (2015). Teachers' beliefs about teaching (and learning). In M. G. Gill & H. Fives (Eds.), *International handbook of research on teachers' beliefs* (pp. 249–265). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Freire, P. (1985). *Pedagogia do oprimido* [Pedagogy of the Oppressed]. Rio de Janeiro, Brazil: Ed. Paz e Terra.
- Freire, P. (1996). Pedagogia da autonomia saberes necessários à prática educativa [Pedagogy of autonomy the necessary knowledge for educational practice]. São Paulo, Brazil: Editora Paz e Terra.
- Frith, H., & Gleeson, K. (2004). Clothing and embodiment: Men managing body image and appearance. *Psychology of Men & Masculinity*, 5(1), 40–48.
- Gage, N. L. (1978). *The scientific basis for the art of teaching*. New York, NY: Teacher College Press.
- Gardner, C., & Williamson, J. (2007). The complexities of learning to teach: "Just what is it that I am doing?" In T. Townsend & R. Bates (Eds.), *Handbook of teacher education: Globalization, standards and*

professionalism in times of change (pp. 691–710). Dordrecht, Netherlands: Springer.

- George, A. L., & Bennett, A. (2005). *Case studies and theory development in the social sciences*. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Gerring, J. (2004). What is a case study and what is it good for? *American Political Science Review*, *98*(2), 341–354.
- Givvin, K. B., Stipek, D. J., Salmon, J. M., & MacGyvers, V. L. (2001). In the eyes of the beholder: Students' and teachers' judgments of students motivation. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 17(3), 321–331.
- Goos, M. (2013). Knowledge for teaching secondary school mathematics: What counts? *International Journal of Mathematical Education in Science and Technology*, 44, 972–983.
- Government of Malawi. (2016). *Education sector performance report* 2015–16. Lilongwe, Malawi: Ministry of Education, Science, and Technology.
- Government of Malawi. (2018). 2018 Malawi population and housing census: Main report. Zomba, Malawi: National Statistical Office.
- Grimm, S. R. (2006). Is understanding a species of knowledge?, *The British Journal for the Philosophy of Science*, *57*(3), 515–535.
- Grossen, B. (Ed.). (1996). What was that project follow through? [Special issue] *Effective School Practices*, 15(1), 1–85.
- Grossman, P. L. (1990). *The making of a teacher: teacher knowledge and teacher education*. New York, NY: Teachers College Press.

- Grossman, P., & McDonald, M. (2008). Back to the future: Directions for research in teaching and teacher education. *American Educational Research Journal*, 45(1), 184–205.
- Grossman, P., Compton, C., Igra, D., Ronfeldt, M., Shahan, E., & Williamson, P. (2009). Teaching practice: A cross-professional perspective. *Teachers College Record*, 111(9), 2055–2100.
- Haddock, A., Millar, A., & Pritchard, D. (Eds.). (2009). *Epistemic value*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Hamilton, L., & Corbett-Whittier, C. (2013). Using case study in education research. Los Angeles, CA: Sage.
- Harper, D. (2016). *Online etymology dictionary*. Retrieved on March 24, 2020, from http://www.etymonline.com
- Hatisaru, V. (2018). Teachers' beliefs about knowledge of teaching and their impact on teaching practices. In B. Rott, G. Törner, J. Peters-Dasdemir, A. Möller, Safrudiannur (Eds.), *Views and Beliefs in Mathematics Education* (pp. 149–159). Cham, Switzerland: Springer.
- Hayes, N. (1997). Theory-led thematic analysis: Social identification in small companies. In N. Hayes (Ed.), *Doing qualitative analysis in psychology* (pp. 93–114). Hove, UK: Psychology Press.
- Hiebert, J., & Grouws, D. A. (2007). Effective teaching for the development of skill and conceptual understanding of number: What is most effective? Research Brief for NCTM. Reston, VA: National Council of Teachers of Mathematics.
- Hiebert, J., Morris, A. K., Berk, D., & Jansen, A. (2007). Preparing teachers to learn from teaching. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 58, 47– 61.

- Hill, H. C., Blunk, M. L., Charalambous, C. Y., Lewis, J. M., Phelps, G. C., Sleep, L., & Ball, D. L. (2008). Mathematical knowledge for teaching and the mathematical quality of instruction: An exploratory study. *Cognition and Instruction*, 26(4), 430–511.
- Hill, H. C., Rowan, B., & Ball, D. (2005). Effects of teachers' mathematical knowledge for teaching on student achievement. *American Educational Research Journal*, 42, 371–406.
- Hill, H. C., Sleep, L., Lewis, J., & Ball, D. L. (2007). Assessing teachers' mathematical knowledge: What knowledge matters. In F. Lester (Ed.), *Second handbook of research on mathematics teaching and learning* (pp. 111–156). Charlotte, NC: Information Age Publishing.
- Hofer, B. K. (2002). Personal epistemology as a psychological and educational construct: An introduction. In B. K. Hofer & P. R. Pintrich (Eds.), *Personal epistemology: The psychology of beliefs about knowledge and knowing* (pp. 3–14). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum
- Hofer, B. K., & Pintrich, P. R. (1997). The development of epistemological theories: Beliefs about knowledge and knowing and their relation to learning. *Review of Educational Research*, 67(1), 88–140.
- Jablon, J. R., Dombro, A., & Dichtelmiller, M. L. (2007). *The power of observation* (2nd Ed.). Washington, DC: Teaching Strategies.
- Jacinto, E. L., & Cedro, W. L. (2006). Semelhança de triângulos: atividades de ensino de geometria para o ensino fundamental. In: III Congresso de Pesquisa, Ensino, e Extensão - CONPEEX, Goiania, Brazil: UFG.
- Jacinto, E. L., & Cedro, W. L. (2012). A atividade pedagógica no PROEJA e a aprendizagem dos conceitos matemáticos [The

pedagogical activity in the PROEJA and the learning of mathematical concepts]. *Perspectivas da Educação Matemática*, *5*, 68–87.

- Jacinto, E. L., Kazima, M., Jakobsen, A., & Bjuland, R. (2020). Mathematics Teacher Education in Malawi. In D. R. Thompson, M. A. Huntley & C. Suurtamm (Eds.), *Research issues in mathematics education: International perspectives on mathematics teacher education* (in press). Charlotte, NC: Information Age Publishing.
- Jakobsen, A., Kazima, M., & Kasoka, D. N. (2018). Assessing prospective teachers' development of MKT through their teacher education: A Malawian case. In E. Norén, H. Palmér, & A. Cooke (Eds.) Papers of NORMA 17, The Eighth Nordic Conference on Mathematics Education, Stockholm, May 30–June 2, 2017 (pp. 219– 227). Göteborg, Sweden: Swedish Society for Research in Mathematics Education.
- Jakobsen, A., Thames, M. H., Ribeiro, C. M., & Delaney, S. (2012). Using practice to define and distinguish horizon content knowledge. In International Congress in Mathematics Education (Ed.), *Preproceedings of the 12th International Congress in Mathematics Education* (pp. 4635–4644). Seoul, Korea: International Congress in Mathematics Education.
- Jao, L. (2017). Shifting pre-service teachers' beliefs about mathematics teaching: The contextual situation of a mathematics methods course. *International Journal of Science and Mathematics Education*, 15, 895– 914.
- Javadi, M., & Zarea, K. (2016). Understanding thematic analysis and its pitfall. *Journal of Client Care*, *1*(1), 34–40.

- Joffe, H., & Yardley, L. (2004). Content and thematic analysis. In D. F. Marks & L. Yardley (Eds.), *Research methods for clinical and health psychology* (pp. 56–68). London, UK: Sage.
- Johnson, T. (2011). Elementary preservice teachers' mathematical knowledge for teaching: using situated case studies and educative experiences to examine and improve the development of MKT in teacher education (Doctoral dissertation). University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill.
- Jones, M. G., & Vesilind, E. M. (1996). Putting practice into theory: Changes in the organization of preservice teachers' pedagogical knowledge. *American Educational Research Journal*, *33*(1), 91–117.
- Kasoka, D. N., Jakobsen, A., & Kazima, M. (2017). Preparing teachers for teaching: does initial teacher education improve mathematical knowledge for teaching? In T. Dooley & G. Gueudet, *Proceedings of* the Tenth Congress of the European Society for Research in Mathematics Education (CERME 10) (pp. 3328–3336). Dublin, Irland: European Society for Research in Mathematics Education.
- Kayuni, H., & Tambulasi, R. (2007). Teacher turnover in Malawi's Ministry of Education: Realities and challenges. *International Education Journal*, 8(1), 89–99.
- Kazima, M. (2014). Universal basic education and the provision of quality mathematics in Southern Africa. *International Journal of Science and Mathematics Education*, *12*(4), 841–858.
- Kazima, M., Jakobsen, A., & Kasoka, D. N. (2016). Use of mathematical tasks of teaching and the corresponding LMT measures in the Malawi context, *The Mathematics Enthusiast*, 13(1), 171–186.
- Kennedy, M. M. (2008). Sorting out teacher quality. *Phi Delta Kappan*, *90*(1), 59–63.

- Kilic, H. (2015). Preservice teachers' perceptions about teacher knowledge. *Procedia Social Behaviour Sciences*, 191, 1838–1842.
- Koponen, M., Asikainen, M. A., Viholainen, A., & Hirvonen, P. E. (2016). Teachers and their educators' views on contents and their development needs in mathematics teacher education. *The Mathematics Enthusiast*, 13(1/2), 149–170.
- Krauss, S., Brunner, M., Kunter, M., Baumert, J., Blum, W., Neubrand, M., & Jordan, A. (2008). Pedagogical content knowledge and content knowledge of secondary mathematics teachers. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 100(3), 716–725.
- Krosnick, J. A. (1999). Survey research. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 50, 537–567.
- Kunje, D., Lewin, K., & Stuart, J. (2003). Primary teacher education in Malawi: Insights into practice and policy. London, UK: Department for International Development.
- Kvanvig, J. (2003). *The value of knowledge and the pursuit of understanding*. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Lauermann, F., & Karabenick, S. A. (2013). The meaning and measure of teachers' sense of responsibility for educational outcomes. *Teacher* and *Teacher Education*, 30, 13–16.
- Lavigne, A. L. (2014). Beginning teachers who stay: Beliefs about students. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *39*, 31–43.
- Le Cornu, R., & Ewing, R. (2008). Reconceptualizing professional experiences in pre-service teacher education... reconstructing the past to embrace the future. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 24(7), 1799–1812.

- Leikin, R., & Zazkis, R. (2010). The content-dependence of prospective teachers' knowledge: A case of exemplifying definitions. *International Journal of Mathematical Education in Science and Technology*, 4, 451–466.
- Letwinsky, K. M., & Cavender, M. (2018). Shifting preservice teachers" beliefs and understandings to support pedagogical change in mathematics. *International Journal of Research in Education and Science*, *4*(1), 106–120.
- Levitt, K. (2001). An analysis of elementary teachers' belief regarding the teaching and learning of science. *Science Education*, *86*, 1–22.
- Liamputtong, P. (2007). *Researching the vulnerable: A guide to sensitive research methods*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Lindquist, G., & Coleman, S. J. (2008). Introduction: Against belief? *Social Analysis*, 52(1), 1–18.
- Maguire, M., & Delahunt, B. (2017). Doing a thematic analysis: A practical, step-by-step guide for learning and teaching scholars. *All Ireland Journal of Teaching and Learning in Higher Education*, 8(3), 3351–3364.
- Malawian Institute of Education. (2017). Syllabus for initial primary teacher education: Mathematics ministry of education, science and technology. Domasi, Malawi: Malawi Institute of Education.
- Mapolelo, D. C., & Akinsola, M. K. (2015). Preparation of mathematics teachers: Lessons from review of literature on teachers' knowledge, beliefs, and teacher education. *American Journal of Educational Research*, 3(4), 505–513.
- Marshman, M., & Porter, G. (2013) Pre-service teachers' pedagogical content knowledge: Implications for teaching. In V. Steinle, L. Ball &

C. Bardini (Eds.), Mathematics education: Yesterday, today and tomorrow. *Proceedings of the 36th annual conference of the Mathematics Education Research Group of Australasia* (pp.474–481). Melbourne, Australia: Merga.

- Mazzoni, G., & Kirsch, I. (2002). False autobiographical memories and beliefs: a preliminary metacognitive model. In T. Perfect, & B. Schwartz (Eds.), *Applied metacognition* (pp. 121–145). Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Ministry of Education, Science, and Technology. (2016). *Malawi* government education statistics. Lilongwe, Malawi: Department of Education Planning.
- Ministry of Education. (2005). *Initial primary teacher education teaching syllabus: Numeracy and mathematics*. Domasi, Malawi: Malawian Institute of Education.
- Minor, L. C., Onwuegbuzie, A. J., Witcher, A. E., & James, T. L. (2002). Preservice teachers' educational beliefs and their perceptions of characteristics of effective teachers. *The Journal of Educational Research*, 96(2), 116–127.
- Mitchell, R., Charalambous, C. Y., & Hill, H. C. (2014). Examining the task and knowledge demands needed to teach with representations. *Journal of Mathematics Teacher Education*, *17*, 37–60.
- Moshman, D. (2016). Epistemic Cognition. In R. Levesque (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of adolescence*. New York, NY: Springer.
- Mosvold, R., & Fauskanger, J. (2013). Teachers' beliefs about mathematical knowledge for teaching definitions. *International Electronic Journal of Mathematics Education*, 8(2–3), 43–61.

- Mosvold, R., & Fauskanger, J. (2014). Teachers' beliefs about mathematical horizon content knowledge. *International Journal for Mathematics Teaching and Learning*, 9(3), 311–327.
- Moura, M. O. (Ed.). (2010). A atividade pedagógica na teoria Histórico-Cultural [The pedagogical activity in the Cultural-hitorical theory].
 Brasília, Brasil: Liber livro.
- Ndlovu, Z., Amin, N., & Samuel, M. A. (2017). Examining pre-service teachers' subject matter knowledge of school mathematics concepts. *Journal of Education*, 70, 46–72.
- Needham, R. (1972). *Beliefs, language, and experience*. Oxford, UK: Basil Blackwell.
- Neto, V. P. B., & Costa, M. C. (2016). Saberes docentes: Entre concepções e categorizações [Teacher knowledge: Between conceptions and categorizations]. *Tópicos Educacionais*, 22(2), 76–99.
- Ng, D., Mosvold, R., & Fauskanger, J. (2012). Translating and adapting the mathematical knowledge for teaching (MKT) measures: The cases of Indonesia and Norway. *The Mathematics Enthusiast*, 9(1–2), 149–178.
- Ng, W., Nicholas, H., & Williams, A. (2010). School experience influences on pre-service teachers' evolving beliefs about effective teaching. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 26(2), 278–289.
- Noble, H., & Smith, J. (2015). Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Evidence Based Nursing*, *18*(2), 34–35.
- Novak, J. D. (1998). *Learning, creating, and using knowledge: Concept maps as facilitative tools in schools and corporations*. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.

- Nowell, L., Norris, J., White, D., & Moules, N. (2017). Thematic analysis: Striving to meet the trustworthiness criteria. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *16*, 1–13
- O'Meara, N., Prendergast, M., Cantley, I., Harbison, L., & O'Hara, C. (2019). Teachers' self-perceptions of mathematical knowledge for teaching at the transition between primary and post-primary school. *International Journal of Mathematical Education in Science and Technology*, *51* (4), 497–519.
- O'Neill, S., & Stephenson, J. (2012). Does classroom management coursework influence pre-service teachers' perceived preparedness or confidence? *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 28, 1131–1143.
- Osmanoglu, A. (2016). Prospective teachers' teaching experience: Teacher learning through the use of video. *Educational Research*, 58(1), 39–55.
- Pajares, M. (1992). Teachers' beliefs and educational research: Cleaning up a messy construct. *Review of Educational Research*, 62(3), 307– 332.
- Pape, S. J., & Tchoshanov, M. A. (2001). The role of representation(s) in developing mathematical understanding. *Theory into Practice*, 40(2), 118–127.
- Parlett, M., & Dearden, G. (Eds.) (1977). Introduction to illuminative evaluation: studies in higher education Cardiff-by-the-Sea. California, USA: Pacific Soundings Press and Guildford, UK: Society for Research into Higher Education.
- Patrick, H., & Pintrich, P. R. (2001). Conceptual change in teachers' intuitive conceptions of learning, motivation, and instruction: The role of motivational and epistemological beliefs. In B. Torff & R. J. Sternberg (Eds.), Understanding and teaching the intuitive mind:

Student and teacher learning (p. 117–143). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.

- Perrenoud, P. (1993). Práticas pedagógicas, profissão docente e formação [Pedagogical practice, teacher profession and training]
 Perspectivas sociológicas. Lisboa, Portugal: Dom Quixote.
- Philipp, R. A. (2007). Mathematics teachers' beliefs and affect. In Lester, F.K. (Ed.), Second handbook of research on mathematics teaching and learning (pp. 257–315). Charlotte, NC: Information Age Publishing.
- Pillen, M., Beijaard, D., & Brok, P. D. (2012). Tensions in beginning teachers' professional identity development, accompanying feelings and coping strategies. *European Journal of Teacher Education*, 36, 240–260.
- Ponte, J. P. (2011). Teachers' knowledge, practice, identity: Essential aspects of teachers' learning. *Journal of Mathematics Teacher Education*, 14, 413–417.
- Provost, L. E., (2013). The multifaceted nature of mathematics knowledge for teaching: Understanding the use of teachers' specialized content knowledge and the role of teachers' beliefs from a practicebased perspective. (Doctoral Dissertation). Retrieved from https://scholars.unh.edu/dissertation/741
- QSR International Pty Ltd. (2018). *NVivo 12*. Version 12.1.249 [Computer software]. Retrieved from https://qsrinternational.com/nvivo-qualitative-data-analysis-software
- Quick, G., & Siebörger, R. (2005). What matters in practice teaching? The perception of schools and students. *South African Journal of Education*, 25, 1–4.

Rebmann, K., Schloemer, T., Berding, F., Luttenberger, S., & Paechter, M. (2015). Pre-service teachers' personal epistemic beliefs and the beliefs they assume their pupils to have. *European Journal of Teacher Education*, *38*(3), 284–299.

- Rockoff, J. E., Jacob, B. A., Kane, T. J, & Staiger, D. O. (2011). Can you recognize an effective teacher when you recruit one? *Education Finance and Policy*, 6(1), 43–74.
- Rosenberg, J. P., & Yates, P. M. (2007). Schematic representation of case study research designs. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 60(4), 447–452.
- Rowland, T. (2013). The knowledge quartet: The genesis and application of a framework for analyzing mathematics teaching and deepening teachers' mathematics knowledge. *Sisyphus-Journal of Education*, I(3), 15–43.
- Rowland, T., Huckstep, P., & Thwaites, A. (2005). Elementary teachers' mathematics subject knowledge: The knowledge quartet and the case of Naomi. *Journal of Mathematics Teacher Education*, 8(3), 255–281.
- Ryan, M. E., Carrington, S. B., Selva, G., & Healy, A. H. (2009). Taking a 'reality' check: Expanding pre-service teachers' views on pedagogy and diversity. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Teacher Education*, 37(2), 155– 173.
- SACMEQ (2010). *Trends in achievement levels of grade 6 learners in Malawi*. Policy Brief. Retrieved from www.sacmeq.org
- Salagi, E. (2018). *Exploring the changing context of initial primary teacher education in Malawi: Towards pre-service teacher retention from a recruitment and mentoring perspective* (Doctoral dissertation), University of Liverpool, UK.

- Sandoval, W. A. (2005). Understanding students' practical epistemologies and their influence on learning through inquiry. *Science Education*, *89*, 634–656.
- Schleicher, A. (2016). Teaching excellence through professional learning and policy reform: Lessons from around the world. International summit on teaching profession. Paris, France: OECD Publishing.
- Schommer, M. (1990). Effects of beliefs about the nature of knowledge on comprehension. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 82, 498–504.
- Schommer, M. (1994). Synthesizing epistemological belief research: Tentative understandings and provocative confusions. *Educational Psychology Review*, 6, 293–319.
- Schön, D. A. (1987). Educating the reflective practitioner: Toward a new design for teaching and learning in the professions. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass Higher Education Series.
- Selling, S. K., Garcia, N., & Ball, D. L. (2016). What does it take to develop assessments of mathematical knowledge for teaching? Unpacking the mathematical work of teaching. *The Mathematics Enthusiast*, 13(1/2), 35–51.
- Sheridan, L. (2016). Examining changes in pre-service teachers' beliefs of pedagogy. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, 41(3), 1–20.
- Shulman, L. S. (1986). Those who understand: Knowledge growth in teaching. *Educational Researcher*, *15*(2), 4–14.
- Shulman, L. S. (1987). Paradigms and research programmes in the study of teaching: a contemporary perspective. In M. Wittrock (Ed.), *Handbook of research on teaching* (pp. 505–526), New York, NY: Macmillan.

- Silverman, D. (2005). *Doing qualitative research: A practical handbook* (2nd Ed.). London, UK: Sage.
- Sinatra, G. M., & Kardash, C. A. (2004). Teacher candidates' epistemological beliefs, dispositions, and views on teaching as persuasion. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, *29*, 483–498.
- Sleep, L. (2009). The work of steering instruction toward the mathematical point: A decomposition of teaching practice. *American Education Research Journal*, 49(5), 935–970.
- Smith, K., & Lev-Ari, L. (2005). The place of the practicum in preservice teacher education: The voice of the students. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Teacher Education*, 33(3), 289–302.
- Smith, M. U., & Siegel, H. (2004). Knowing, believing, and understanding: What goals for science education? *Science & Education*, 13, 553–582.
- Snyder, D. W. (2010). Reflections of pre-service teachers on their own teaching practices. *Faculty Publications – College of Education*, 7, 55– 60.
- Stake, R. E. (1995). *The art of case study research: Perspective in practice*. London, UK: Sage.
- Stake, R. E. (2008). Qualitative case studies. In N. K. Denzin & Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.), *Strategies of qualitative inquiry* (pp. 119–149). Thoursand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Star, J. R., & Strickland, S. K. (2008). Learning to observe: Using video to improve preservice mathematics teachers' ability to notice. *Journal* of Mathematics Teacher Education, 11(2), 107–125.

- Starkey, L. (2010). Teachers' pedagogical reasoning and action in the digital age. *Teachers and Teaching: Theory and Practice*, 16(2), 233– 244.
- Starman, A. B. (2013). The case study as a type of qualitative research. *Journal of Contemporary Educational Studies*. 64(1), 28–43.
- Stephenson, J. (2018). A systematic review of the research on the knowledge and skills of Australian preservice teachers. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, 43(4). 121–137.
- Stipek, D., Givvin, K., Salmon, J., & MacGyvers, V. (2001). Teachers' beliefs and practices related to mathematics instruction. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 17(2), 213–226.
- Strauss, A., & Corbin, J. (1990). Basics of qualitative research techniques and procedures for developing grounded theory. London, UK: Sage.
- Street, C. T., & Ward, K. W. (2012). Improving validity and reliability in longitudinal case study timelines. *European Journal of Information Systems*, *21*(2), 160–175.

Stringer, E. T. (1996). *Action research: A handbook for practitioners*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

- Tardif, M. (2002). Saberes docente e formação professional. [Teacher knowledge and Professional Training]. Petrópolis, Brazil: Editoria Vozes.
- Tellis, W. (1997). Introduction to case study. *The Qualitative Report*, 3(2), 1–14.
- The Southern and Eastern Africa Consortium for Monitoring Educational Quality [SACMEQ]. (2010). SACMEQ III project results: Pupil

achievement levels in reading and mathematics. Retrieved November 1, 2019, from http://www.sacmeq.org

- Thomas, G. (2011). A typology for the case study in social science following a review of definition, discourse, and structure. *Qualitative Inquiry*, *17*(6), 511–521.
- Thompson, A. G. (1992). Teachers' beliefs and conceptions: A synthesis of the research. In D. A. Grouws (Ed.), *Handbook of research on mathematics teaching and learning: A project of the National Council of Teachers of Mathematics* (pp. 127–146). New York, NY: Macmillan.
- Tripathi, P. N. (2008). Developing mathematical understanding through multiple representations. *Mathematics Teaching in Middle School*, 13(89), 438–445.
- Turner-Bisset, R. (2001). *Expert teaching: Knowledge and pedagogy to lead the profession*. London, UK: David Fulton Publishers.
- Ulusoy, F. (2020). Prospective teachers' skills of attending, interpreting and responding to content-specific characteristics of mathematics instruction in classroom videos. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 90, 1–13.
- United Nations Development Program. (2018). Human development indicators and indices: 2018 Statistical update team. Retrieved November 2, 2019, from http://hdr.undp.org/sites/default/files/2018_human_development_stati stical_update.pdf
- United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization [UNESCO]. (2015a). Regional overview: Sub-Saharan Africa. Education for all Global Monitoring Report 2015. Retrieved

November 4, 2019, from https://en.unesco.org/gem-report/sites/gem-report/files/regional_overview_SSA_en.pdf

- United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization [UNESCO]. (2015b). Sustainable Development Goal for Education cannot advance without more teachers. UNESCO Institute for Statistics Fact Sheet 33. Retrieved January 3, 2020, from https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000234710
- United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization [UNESCO]. (2016a). Unpacking sustainable development goal 4 education 2030 guide. Retrieved November 12, 2019, from http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0024/002463/246300E.pdf
- United Nations Educational, Scientific, and Cultural Organization [UNESCO]. (2016b). *The world needs almost 69 million new teachers to reach the 2030 education goals*. Montreal, Canada. Retrieved January 21, 2020, from https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000246124.
- United Nations Educational, Scientific, and Cultural Organization [UNESCO]. (2019). *Meeting commitments: Are countries on track to achieve SDG 4? Global Education Monitoring Report – Target 4 Quality of Education*. Paris, France. Retrieved March 14, 2020, from https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000369009
- United Nations International Children's Emergency Fund [UNICEF].
 (2019). Education Budget Brief: Towards improved education for all in Malawi. Retrieved November 1, 2019, from https://www.unicef.org/esa/sites/unicef.org.esa/files/2019-04/UNICEF-Malawi-2018-Education-Budget-Brief.pdf

- Vaismoradi, M., Bondas. T., & Turunen, H. (2013). Content analysis and thematic analysis: Implications for conducting a qualitative descriptive study. *Journal of Nursing & Health Sciences*, 15, 398–405.
- Wasserman, N., & Stockton, J. (2013). Horizon content knowledge in the work of teaching: A focus on planning. For the Learning of Mathematics, 33(3), 20–22.
- Waters-Adams, S. (2006). The relationship between understanding of the nature of science and practice: The influence of teachers' beliefs about education, teaching and learning. *International Journal of Science Education*, 28(8). 919–944.
- Watt, H. M. G., & Richardson, P. W. (2007). Motivational factors influencing teaching as a career choice: Development and validation of the FIT-choice scale. *The Journal of Experimental Education*, 75(3), 167–202.
- Wideen, M., Mayer-Smith, J., & Moon, B. (1998). A critical analysis of the research on learning to teach: Making the case for an ecological perspective on inquiry. *Review of Educational Research*, 68(2), 130– 178.
- Wilkins, J. (2008). The relationship among elementary teachers' content knowledge, attitudes, beliefs, and practices. *Journal of Mathematics Teacher Education*, *11*(2), 139–164.
- Wilkinson, S. (2004). Focus group research. In D. Silverman (Ed.), *Qualitative research: Theory, method, and practice* (pp. 177–199). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Wilson, P. S., Cooney, T. J., & Stinson, D. W. (2005). What constitutes good mathematics teaching and how it develops: Nine high school teachers' perspectives. *Journal for Mathematics Teacher Education*, 8(2), 83–111.

- Wittgenstein, L. (2007). Zettel. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.
- Worden, D. (2015). The development of content knowledge through teaching practice. *Ilha do Desterro*, 68(1), 105–119.
- Yang, X., Kaiser, G., König, J., & Blömeke, S. (2020). Relationship between pre-service teachers' knowledge, beliefs and instructional practices in China. ZDM Mathematics Education, 52(3), 281–294.
- Yaya, S., Bishwajit, G., &, Shah, V. (2016). Wealth, education and urban–rural inequality and maternal healthcare service usage in Malawi. *BMJ Global Health*, *1*, e000085.
- Yin, R. K. (2002). *Case study research: Design and methods*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Zhang, Y., Hawk, S. T., Zhang, X., & Zhao, H. (2016). Chinese preservice teachers' professional identity links with education program performance: The roles of task value belief and learning motivations. *Frontiers Psychology*, *7*(573), 1–12.

Bibliographical References
Appendices

Appendix 1 – Questionnaire Survey

This questionnaire is an integral part of a research proposal that investigates the pre-service teacher' sense-making process about mathematical knowledge for teaching (MKT)³. It is designed to assess, upon the beginning of the teacher-training program, the perceptions of pre-service teachers about MKT in primary schools in Malawi. The questions below do not have a right or wrong answer; they seek to collect personal information and opinions. The questionnaire is confidential, and its answer will be used exclusively for research purposes. The questionnaire is divided into two parts: Identification and Mathematical knowledge for teaching.

Identification

a) Name:

b) Age: □ Less than 17 years old; □ From 18 to 20 years old; □ From 21 to 23 years old; □ From 24 to 27 years old; □ From 28 to 30 years old; □ More than 31 years old.

c) What language(s) do you speak? (Native language, dialectics, second language...)

d) What was (were) your favorite subject(s) in school?

³ Research project grounded by the University of Stavanger, supervised by Prof. Arne Jakobsen, Prof. Raymond Bjuland, Prof. Tone Bulien, and Prof. Mercy Kazima (University of Malawi).

	Append	ices	
GeographyOther:	Biology	□ Arts	□ Mathematics
Why?			

e) Do you have any teaching experience prior to entering the teaching training college? If yes, could you describe this experience?

f) What are your main subjects in the teacher-teaching program? (Arts, Biology, Geography, Mathematics...).

g) Have you taken any course in mathematics or mathematics teaching prior to entering the teaching-training program? If yes, please describe it.

Relevance of the Mathematical knowledge for Teaching

In your opinion, to what extent are the knowledge and skills below important for the work of teaching mathematics in primary school?

Knowledge and skills necessary to teach Mathematics	Not al all important	Slightly important	Moderately important	Very important	Extremely important
a) Knowledge of mathematical concepts contained in the school curriculum					
b) Knowledge of mathematical concepts outside (beyond those prescribed by) the school curriculum					
c) Using mathematical terms and notations correctly					
d) Ability to verify the accuracy of the mathematical definitions and examples in the textbooks					
e) Ability to identify student errors					
f) Ability to identify and explain where and how the students' errors occur					
g) Understanding the methods proposed by the textbooks to solve mathematical problems					
h) Knowledge of the different methods (generally not contained in the textbooks) that can be adopted to solve mathematical problems					
i) Ability to introduce mathematical concepts in exactly the same way as the textbook suggests					

F
~
\mathcal{O}
C)
~
2
2
0
~
2
0
~
∇
~

j) Knowing how to introduce mathematical concepts and procedures in different ways (usually not contained in the textbooks)	
k) Ability to prove mathematical statements	
1) Knowing how to give contextual examples for underlying mathematical ideas	
m) Knowledge of advanced mathematics	
n) Ability to engage students in the learning process	
o) Ability to explain how a particular mathematical topic is related to another mathematical topic	
p) Ability to explain how a mathematical topic is associated with other subject(s)	
q) Knowing how to link mathematical topics to real-life situations	
r) Ability to organize activities outside the classroom	
s) Anticipating students' errors and common misconceptions	
t) Interpreting students' ideas correctly	
u) Ability to predict what students are likely to do when given specific tasks and what they will find interesting or challenging	
v) Knowing how to design a lesson effectively	

2
0
C)
~
2
2
0
~
2
0
~
∇
~

w) Ability to connect a lesson with another lesson	
x) Ability to choose appropriate exercises for instructional tasks	
y) Knowing how to use different teaching methods to teach mathematics	
z) Ability to evaluate the advantages and disadvantages of using specific representations	
aa) Comprehending the purposes and ethical values of education	
bb) Knowledge of the history of mathematics	
cc) Knowing how different cultures (or nations) develop and use mathematical ideas	
dd) Willingness to conduct research to uncover new facts and ideas related to the curriculum	
ee) Understanding what students find interesting and motivating in mathematics	
ff) Knowing what students find easy and difficult in learning mathematics	

Appendix 2 – Interview Guide

Complementary Interview guide used by the researcher

This interview guide is compost of eight open-ended questions related to the first moment of research that investigates the pre-service teacher's understanding (and its evolution process throughout the theoretical training) of mathematical knowledge for teaching in primary schools. These questions do not pretend to obtain definitive answers but aim to discuss the motivations, necessities, and the ways in which the participants acknowledge the activities and experiences developed during their teacher education. The estimated time to cover all six questions is 50 minutes.

1) Why did you apply for this teacher-training program?

2) Could you walk me through what you have done in the first term of the program? (*Disciplines, mathematical contents, study activities...*)

3) Could you describe a typical day in the discipline of teaching mathematics?

4) Could you give me an example of a time in classroom that you enjoyed and disliked? Why?

5) How is the mathematical content you are learning so far important for teaching mathematics in primary school?

6) (This question considers the answers given throughout the questionnaire). To what degree do you think you possess the knowledge that you marked as mostly important for teaching mathematics in primary schools?

7) Since you started the teacher-training program have you become more or less motivated in becoming a teacher?

8) Do you feel that teacher-training program is preparing you to teach mathematics for primary school children?

Appendix 3 – NSD Approval

Everton Lacerda Jacinto			NSD
4036 STAVANGER			
Var dato: 12.04.2018	Var ref: 60052 / 3 / OASR	Deres dato:	Deres ref:

Vurdering fra NSD Personvernombudet for forskning § 31

Personvernombudet for forskning viser til meldeskjema mottatt 23.03.2018 for prosjektet:

60052	Preservice teachers' sense-making process of the work of teaching in primary schools in Malawi
Behandlingsansvarlig	Universitetet i Stavanger, ved institusjonens øverste leder
Daglig ansvarlig	Everton Lacerda Jacinto

Vurdering

Etter gjennomgang av opplysningene i meldeskjernæt og øvrig dokumentasjon finner vi at prosjektet er meldepliktig og at personopplysningene som blir samlet inn i dette prosjektet er regulert av personopplysningsloven § 31. På den neste siden er vår vurdering av prosjektopplegget slik det er meldt til oss. Du kan nå gå i gang med å behandle personopplysninger.

Vilkår for vår anbefaling

Vår anbefaling forutsetter at du gjennomfører prosjektet i tråd med: •opplysningene gitt i meldeskjemaet og øvrig dokumentasjon •vår prosjektvurdering, se side 2 •eventuell korrespondanse med oss

Vi forutsetter at du ikke innhenter sensitive personopplysninger.

Meld fra hvis du gjør vesentlige endringer i prosjektet

Dersom prosjektet endrer seg, kan det være nødvendig å sende inn endringsmelding. På våre nettsider finner du svar på hvilke endringer du må melde, samt endringsskjema.

Opplysninger om prosjektet blir lagt ut på våre nettsider og i Meldingsarkivet

Vi har lagt ut opplysninger om prosjektet på nettsidene våre. Alle våre institusjoner har også tilgang til egne prosjekter i Meldingsarkivet.

Vi tar kontakt om status for behandling av personopplysninger ved prosjektslutt Ved prosjektslutt 30.11.2020 vil vi ta kontakt for å avklare status for behandlingen av

Dokumentet er elektronisk produsert og godkjent ved NSDs rutiner for elektronisk podkjenning

NDD - Norsk senter for forskningsdata AS Harald Härfagens gate 29 Tel: +47-55 58 21 17 andijimd.au Org.tel. 985 321 884 NSD - Norwegiat Centre for Research Data NO-5007 Borgen, NORWAY Fake: +47-55 58 96 50 www.md.ten personopplysninger.

Se våre nettsider eller ta kontakt dersom du har sporsmål. Vi onsker lykke til med prosjektet!

Marianne Hogetveit Myhren

Øivind Armando Reinertsen

Kontaktperson: Øivind Armando Reinertsen tlf: 55 58 33 48 / Oivind.Reinertsen@rsd.no

Vedlegg: Prosjektvurdering

NSD

NOTIFICATION FORM

Nutlication form (version 1.5) for studient and research projects subject to notification or icense (cf. the Personal Data Act, the Personal Health Data Filing System Act and associated Regulations)

1. Intro		
Will deecity identifiable personal data be collected?	Yes • No o	A person will be directly identifiable through neme, social security number, or other uniquely personal
Р уез, рінане зросЯу	Name Social security number Address Franil Phone number Other	characteristics. Read more about personal data. NBI Even though information is to be avongeneed in four thesis report, check the boar il identifying person data is to be collected/wateristeed in connection with th propost. Read more about what percensing personal data
If other, please specify	Year of Birth and Gender.	entais.
Will directly identifiable personal data be knied to the data in g. through a scraebling keytrekrence number winds when to a separate ket of namen)?	Yes • No.o	Note that the project will be subject to notification even if you cannot access the scientising key, as the procedure often is when using a data processed
Will there be collected background information that may identify individuals (indencity identifiable personal data)?	Yes = No •	A person will be indirectly identifiable if it is possible to identify a person through a continuation of background information (such as place of insubnoce or workplaces/book_combined with information such as age, genter, ecception, etc.).
If yes, please specify		NBI In order for a voice to be considered as identifiable it must be registered in combination with other background information, in tauch a way that a person can be recognised
Will there be regainered personal data (investigineterchylvia IP or ensal address, etc.) using online surveys?	Yes ∘ No •	Read none about online surveys
Will them be ingatered personal data using digital photo or violen Nes?	Yes • No ⊙	Photo-Video recordings of faces will be regarited as alterificative personal data.
Have you applied for an assessment hum REC regulating whether the project, should be considered health research?	Yes = No.●	NET IF REC (Regional Committees for Medical and Health Temanoth Tarticul Jaia: assessed the properties within research, Tarticul Jaia: assessed the properties restministic and the second second second second These does not apply to projects using data from pre-uting-mode health registers.) Resalt news
		If you have not received a reply from REC, we recommend that you await thiring out a notification form until you have received a reply.
2. Project Title		
Project Title	Preservice teachers' sense-making process of the work of teaching in primary schools in Malawi	Please state the project title NBF This cannot be "Master's thesis" or the like, the must describe the content or aim of the project.
3. Responsible Institut	lon	
Institution	Universitetet i Stavanger	Select the netituitor to which you are affiliated. All admonistrative levels must be specified. If it is a student
SectoryFaculty	Fakultet for utdanningsvitenskap og humaniora	project select the institution to which the student is affliated. If your mathation is not listed, please contact the mathation
Department	Institutt for grunnskolelærerutdanning, idrett og spesialpedagogikk	Read more about the responsible instution (data controller).

4. Project Leader (Researcher, Supervisor, Research Fellow)

Personvernombudet for forskning



Prosjektvurdering - Kommentar

Prosjektnr: 60052

According to your notification form the sample will receive written and oral information and will give their consent to participate. The information letter we have received is well formulated. However, we ask that the following is added:

- Give the date for the end of the project and information about what will happen to the personal data (you have notified that the data will be anonymized).

The Data Protection Official presupposes that research is conducted in line with laws, regulations and guidelines in Malawi.

The Data Protection Official presupposes that you will process all data according to the Universitetet i Stavanger internal guidelines routines for information security. We presuppose that the use of a mobile storage device is in accordance with these guidelines.

The estimated end date of the project is 30.11.2020. According to your notification form/information letter you intend to anonymous the collected data by this date. Making the data anonymous entails processing it in such a way that no individuals can be identified. This is done by:

- deleting all direct personal data (such as names/lists of reference numbers)

 deleting/rewriting indirectly identifiable personal data (i.e. an identifying combination of background variables, such as residence/work place, age and gender)

- deleting video files.

Firstname	Everton	Fit is the name of the periori article will have the day is day responsibility for the project. In a student project, this will usually be the student's supervisor. Read mo about the role of the project leader.	
Sumame	Lecerde Jacinto	this will usually be the student's supervisor. Read more	
Position	PhD Research Fellow	The student and the supervisor should usually be attituted with the same estitation. If the subserving sup- endmark supervisor, the assistant supervisor at the student's place of study should be neglected as the project blader. Place of work must be affliated with the responsible estitution, e.g. a department, exclude or section. Place radify us if you change your e-mail address.	
Tatephone	+47		
Motide	92536903		
Email	eventon i jacinto@uis.no		
Atemative email	lacerdajacinto@gmail.com		
Place of work	University of Stavanger		
Addess (wolk)	Faculty of Arts and Education		
Postcode/uty (work)	403 STAVANGER		
5. Student (master, b	achelor)		
Stadori propot	Yes : No •	If the project will be carried out by more than one student, please choose one as contact person. Remaining students can be added under guestion 10.	
6. Objective			
What is the purpose of the project?	The purpose of the project is to understand how preservice teachers in Malaxi make sense of the mathematical knowledge for teaching (MKT) in primary schools. The three main research questions are: To what axient do preservice teachers' perceptions about MKT evolve throughout the theoretical disciplines of teacher training? How can reflective practice influence the evolution of preservice teachers perceptions about MKT? How do preservice teachers negotiate their (inew) perceptions about MKT in practical applications?	Bitelin describe the purpose or theme of the project and/or the research question.	
7. Sample			
Реже фофули затре	Children attending day-care institutions School children Patients Users/Clienta/customers Employees Children connected to child weifare Teachers Health/medical personnel Asylum seekers Other	Head more about different research topics and samples.	
Describe the sample participants	Preservice teachers in one of the eight teacher training college for primary schools in Malawi. 1 or 2 Mathematics teacher educators at the teacher training college will also be interviewed.	The sample refers to those who participate in the study or whom you collect information about.	
Recultrent and sampling	One of the eight teacher training colleges in Malawi is purposely selected (due to geographical location). At this college, a questioneniar will be expided in teo- different classes composed of 25 preservice teachers each. Based on their answers, 31o 4 groups of 2-3 preservice teachers will be chosen for interviews and observations regarding their learning process and teaching activities throughout the teacher training.	Bisely describe tow the sample will be recorded samples. The sample may be resulted through a comparison of control as poor in reparation, your social and the sample the or characteristic of the sample registries, such as the National Registry or patient registries. Please specify who will recruit/share the sample.	
Initial contact	The initial contact is through the principal at the teacher training college who will receive information about the project and will grant access to the beacher training college. The principal will introduce me to the mathematics teachers. I will introduce the project to the students (the prospective teachers) and I will as students to answer a questionnaire and I will as students to answer a questionnaire and I will and students to answer a questionnaire and I will and students to answer a questionnaire and I will as students to unaver a questionnaire and I will and students to answer a questionnaire and students for interview	Describe how indial contact withe the sample will be established, and by whom Read more about initial contact and different samples on our pages on, research logics.	

Page 2

Sample age	Children (0-15 years old) Adolescents (18-17 years old) Adults (18 years and/or older)	Read about research involving children on our web pages
Approximate number of sample/participants	25 for the first phase and 6 to 8 for the second phase	
Will sensitive personal stata be collected?	Yes ○ No ●	Read more about sensitive personal data.
ff yes, pionne specify	Racial or ethnic origin, or political opinions, philosophical or religious beliefs The fact that a person has been suspected of, charged with, indicted for or convicted of a criminal act charged with, indicated for or convicted of a criminal act dealth Sex life Trade-union membership	-
Will legal adults with impaired consent capacity be included in the sample?	Yes = No •	Read more about the inclusion of persons with impaire convent capacity.
Will there be collected personal data about persons who do not directly participate in the shady? (their persons)	Yes = No ●	Information about third persons is information which can (directly or indirectly) identify individuals not included in the sample, e.g. a calle again, student, client family memory. Read music
8. Method(s) for Data	Collection	
Please specify method(x) for data codection	Paper-based questionnaire Descronic questionnaire Personal interview Group interview Observation Participant observation Patricipant observation Disgrucoil media/internet Disgruco	Personal data cas he obtained decity hem the data stabled is g from a guedification, a personal information home. The Johanna Guedification and the second informa- tion and the second and Weller Adversation (NW), inc), and/or from second registers in g. Statistics. Howay: 480 fl genutinal data wil be collected from diverse persons (samples) or using development double to collect in teaching induced and the second train much be guedified in the Collected from diverse persons (samples) or using development double development to collect in teaching induced and the second train much be personal methods to be load. Read mere about regulare data data to second updated at the end of the collected hum. Be updated at the end of the collected hum. Be
	Registries	
	:: Other	
Comment	The methods for data collection will be applied in four distinct moments. The first two moments make only use of questionnaire and interviews. The other two momenta combine interviews, observations and discussions about the practical activities recorded.	
9. Information and Cor	nsent	
Specify how the sample will be informed about the project	Written Verbal They will not be informed	If the sample will not be informed about the processing of personal table, you must state the means for this. Read more Please attach a copy of the information internology the velocity of the information behavioral an example of our Information Letter. Read more about regimements for consent. NER Allachments can be sploaded at the end of the time.
Will the sample be asked to give their connect?	Yes No Several samples, not consent from all	In order to define a consent to participation in rewards as said, the consent must be fixedy given, specific and informed. A consent may be given in writing, snally or by action for induces, filling out a participation will be regarder as at active constell. If consent is not to be obtained, you must state a reason. Revel more

How where will the list of names be stored, and who will have access to 87	The participant's names will be colified into Preservice teachers PSTA, PSTB, PSTC, PSTD, PSTE, PSTF, PSTO, PSTH, and the preservice mathematics teacher educator(s) into PSMTA and PSMTB. The data will be accessed by the project leader.	
Will-derectly identifiable information be registered'stored in other ways ?	Yes • No ⊙	
Please specify	Video of interviews will be recorded and stored safely and secured through the project time	189 As a period rule directly identifiable personal data should rule be registered together with the rest of the data. We recommend the use of a scrambing key
How will personal data be regularend and siberdignoorised?	On a server in a network belonging to the institution An isolated computer belonging to the institution (i.e. with no connection to other computers or networks, informally or externally) C computer in a network with internet access belonging to the institution Private computer Video recordings/photographs Video recordings Nanuallyion paper Portable storage device (laptop, USB, memory card, CD, external hard drive, mobile phone etc.) Other	Please specify each of the different ways the data will be registered/processed. You may theck more than one box if applicable By "reithubon" we mean the institution responsible for the project. Hill Are a general rule, personal data should be stored on a research server biologing to the responsible relificant. Using other media for shoring - such a private - is lines longuistic - solid provide. Since a server - is lines
Other, please specify		sectore, and must therefore be given account for Such storing must also be clarified with the responsible entitlation, and personal data should be encrypted.
How will the data be protected from unsufficient access?	After video recordings, videos will be copied to a portable storage device. This device will have a password (eight cheracters longs with small and capital letters and numbers) and the device will be stored in locked office desk in a locked office. During transcription of data, part of the data will be on an isolated computer belonging to the institution.	For nationic, will the constraint to parameter proficient will the compare the keys in a builded noom, how will possible units, porticula, exceedings etc. be protected from unauthorized access?
Will data be gathered/processed by an external processor? If yes, places specify	Yes ∝ No. •	Element processor refers to survivore who gathers or i other ways peccesses personal data on behalf of the person/initiation responsible for the potent e.g. suppler of electronic questionality. Earnersphon service provider or despecter. These assignments may be required to a contract. Read more
Will personal data be gathered or transferred trough e-mail/the internet?	Yes ⇒ No •	For estance by transferring data to a collaborator, data processor etc.
If yes, please specify		If personal data is to be sent by email, the information should be adequately encrypted.
C 9 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 -		We do not recommend storing personal data on cloud services. Using cloud annices must be clarified with th responsible institution.
		As a prevent rule. If cloud services are used, a data processor agreement with the suppler of the service must be signed. He at more.
Will there be others working on the project, in addition to the project insdemstackers, who will have access to personal data?	Yes • No o	
If yes, who? (have and place of work)	My PhD supervisors: Professor Ame Jakobsen (University of Stavanger), Professor Raymond Bjuland (University of Stavanger), Associate professor Tone Bulan (University of Stavanger) and Professor Mercy Kazima (University of Malawi).	
Will personal data he shared with national or international institutions?	No Yes, national institutions Yes, institutions in other countries	Le in national or international multicenter studies when personal data is shared.
11. Assessmentlappro	val by other regulating bodies	
Will your project require a dispersation from the duty of confidentiality in order to gain access to data?	Yes = No •	In order to gain access to information which is sufficient to day of confidentiality, + g, data three hospitals, the Labour and Weither Administration (HAV), or other public methodors, you must apply for a dispersion
If yes, please specify		both the duty of confidentiality. A dispersation is normally guarted by the relevant government

Will your project require assessments approval form offer regulating bodies?	Yes • No o	In some research projects, it may be reconstany to seek additional permissions. For instance, the regaring owner may need to grant access to data, or permission may be needed from the management before a company	
if yes, ploane specify	University of Stavanger and University of Malawi have been granted a permission to do research on teacher education at all the public teacher training colleges in Malawi by the Malawi Ministry of Education. For this particular college, the principal at the teacher training college will be approached and I will ask for his consent to meet the mathematics teacher educators and their students.	 be needed twin the management before a company can be used as a subject in a memory broad, project. Read more about other approxim. 	
12. Period for process	sing of personal data		
Start of project	30.04.2018	Start of project. The date when the sample will be contached and/or when the collection of data will begin.	
End of project	30.11.2020	End of project. The date when the data will be anonymosed, deleted, or filed in order to be included in a follow-up project.	
Will personal data be putlished jdrecity or indeecity[7		Read more about dentity and indirectly contribute personal data. HBI If personally identifiable information is to be published, explaid consect must be collected from each person, and they should be given the apportunity to ineal fitnoight and approve of any quotes.	
What will happen to the data when the project is completed?	The data will be anonymised The data will be filed with personal identification	NBI Here we mean the data material, not the publication. Even if personal data is to be published, the remaining data in usually to be anonymeted Data which is anonymosed can no linger be flaced back to individuals. Read mere adout anonymising data.	
13. Finance		The second second second	
How will the project the financed?	The project is financed by Department of Educational and Sports Science at the University of Stavanger	To be filled out in the case of external financing (constrained research etc).	
14. Additional informa	tion		
Please add any additional relevant information		If the project is part of a project (or is to use data from a project) that almostly has been assessed by the Data Protection Original and/or has a locater it non the Data Protection Authority, describe this term and data the name of the project leader, the project little and/or the project number.	
15. Attachments	<i>U</i> .		
Attachments	Number of attachments; 3. • interview_guide.pdf • information_letter_phd_proposal_ei_aj.pdf • guestionnaire.pdf		

Appendix 4 – Article 1

Jacinto, E. J, & Jakobsen, A. (2020). Mathematical knowledge for teaching: How do primary pre-service teachers in Malawi understand it? *African Journal of Research in Mathematics, Science and Technology Education*, 24(1), 31–40. Doi: 10.1080/18117295.2020.1735673

<page-header></page-header>			African Journal of Researc Technology Education	h in Mathematics, Science and	Routledge
Ado Primary Pre-service Teachers in Malawi Understand it? Everton Lacerda Jacinto & Arne Jakobsen To citte this article: Everton Lacerda Jacinto & Arne Jakobsen (2020) Mathematical Knowledge for Teaching: How do Primary Pre-service Teachers in Malawi Understand (P. African Journal of Research in Mathematics, Science and Technology Education, 24:1, 31:40, DOI: 10.1080/18117295.2020.1735673 To link to this article: https://doi.org/10.1080/18117295.2020.1735673 Image: Provide Complexity Pre-service Teachers in Malawi Understand (P. African Journal of Research in Mathematics, Science and Technology Education, 24:1, 31:40, DOI: 10.1080/18117295.2020.1735673 To link to this article: https://doi.org/10.1080/18117295.2020.1735673 Image: Provide Complexity Provide			155N: 1811-7295 (Print) 2469-7656 (Online) Journa	homepage: https://www.tandfonline.com/koi/mse20	
To cite this article: Everton Lacerda Jacinto & Arne Jakobsen (2020) Mathematical Knowledge for Teaching: How do Primary Pre-service Teachers in Malawi Understand it?, African Journal of Research in Mathematica, Science and Technology Education, 24:1, 31-40, DOI: 10.1080/18117295.2020.1735673 To link to this article: https://doi.org/10.1080/18117295.2020.1735673		do I	Primary Pre-service Te		
for Teaching: How do Primary Pre-service Teachers in Malawi Understand it?, African Journal of Research in Mathematica, Science and Technology Education, 24:1, 31:40, DOI: 10.1080/18117295.2020.1735673 To link to this article: https://doi.org/10.1080/18117295.2020.1735673		Evert	on Lacerda jacinto & Arne Jakobs	en	
It 2020 The Author(s). Published by Informa UK Limited, trading as Taylor & Frances. Image: Published online: 20 Mar 2020. Image: Submit your article to this journal Image: Submit your article to this journal Image: Article views: 329 Image: View related articles Image: Submit your articl	1	lor Tea Journa	ching: How do Primary Pre-service Teache I of Research in Mathematics, Science and	rs in Malawi Understand it?, African	
Lik Limited, trading as Taylor & Francis Group Published online: 20 Mar 2020. Submit your article to this journal G Littl: Article views: 329 View related articles G	1	To link	to this article: https://doi.org/10.1080/	8117295.2020.1735673	
Submit your article to this journal C IIII Article views: 329 View related articles C	5	9	LIK Limited, trading as Taylor & Francis		
III Article views: 329 III View related articles IP		m	Published online: 20 Mar 2020.		
View related articles 2		ľ	Submit your article to this journal Of		
		lılıl	Article views: 329		
Ulew Crossenárk data C		à	View related articles CP		
	t,	۲	View Crossmark data 🕫		
	ę	-			

Full Terms & Conditions of access and use can be found at https://www.tandfonline.com/action/journalinformation/journalCode=rmse20



Keywords: Malawian teacher training: primary school education: mathematical knowledge for teaching

Introduction

In recent decades, some progress has been made in achieving global targets in education. However, there are significant gaps in the quality of teaching and learning in low-income countries, especially in the sub-Saharan region (Altinyelken, 2010; UNESCO, 2016). The Republic of Malawi—one of the first sub-Saharan countries to implement free primary education (Wanda & Mgomezulu, 2014)—has updated their teacher training curriculum to better prepare pre-service teachers for the challenges of teaching all subjects. In the field of mathematics, a recent study conducted at eight primary preservice teacher colleges in Malawi showed a statistically significant increase in the pre-service teachers' mathematical knowledge for teaching during their training (Jakobsen et al., 2018). However, the overall change in mathematical knowledge for teaching was relatively small, and most preservice teacher-training college. While the study of Jakobsen et al. (2018) looked at quantitative changes in pre-service tea-

While the study of Jakobsen et al. (2018) looked at quantitative changes in pre-service teachers' mathematical knowledge for teaching during teachers' first year at teacher-training college, there is still little knowledge about what beginner teachers think and experience in their teacher-training programme. Thus, the present study aims to gain a better understanding of how pre-service teachers in Malawi understand the mathematical knowledge needed to

Eventon Lacerda Jacinto and Ame Jakobsen

handle the tasks of teaching in primary schools. The main question is: How do Malawian pre-service teachers understand the mathematical knowledge for teaching in primary schools? By mathematical knowledge for teaching, we refer to the 'mathematical knowledge that teachers need to carry out their work as teachers of mathematics' (Ball et al., 2008, p. 4), which is grounded in Shulman and Sykes's (1986) definition of the knowledge base for teaching, which they describe as 'the body of understanding and skills, and device and values, character and performance that together constitute the ability of a teacher to teach mathematics' (as cited in Fernandez, 2014, p. 82).

Framing Teachers' Knowledge within the Malawian Context

32

There has been a significant increase in international research focusing on teachers' learning (Castle, 2013; Cochran-Smith, 2004; Darling-Hammond & Bransford, 2005; Putnam & Borko, 1997) and on different forms of knowledge needed to prepare pre-service teachers for their future profession (Cheng et al., 2014; Rowland & Tumer, 2007). In the USA and in some countries in Europe and Latin America, teacher-training programmes have in many ways advanced in these fields (Darling-Hammond, 2006; Fernández-Soria, 2013; Ries et al., 2016). These programmes have established guidelines that have contributed to the design of new educational policies, models for teaching training programmes and school curricula to assist teachers in responding to the problems arising in school. In contrast, although Asian and African countries have also presented some improvements in those areas, few studies have been conducted in these regions on pre-service teachers' learning and experiences during teacher education (Depagee et al., 2013).

In the sub-Saharan African region, recent reform efforts have focused on teachers' mathematical knowledge as the answer to several challenges in teaching and teacher education (UNESCO, 2016). In Malawi, the Ministry of Education recently implemented a new curriculum to improve initial primary teacher education. The document specifies that the main function of teacher training colleges should be to prepare future teachers to acquire the right knowledge, skills and competencies so that they can face the challenges in this context (Malawian Institute of Education, 2017). Most of the theoretical background behind this document is based on Shulman's (1986) ideas about subject matter knowledge, pedagogical content knowledge and curricular knowledge (Malawian Institute of Education, 2017).

Although Shulman's (1986) theory outlines a knowledge base needed for effective teaching, this study relies on the practice-based theory of mathematical knowledge for teaching (MKT) developed by Ball et al. (2008). Based on Shulman's (1986) ideas, Ball et al. (2008) count on a specific conception of teaching that emphasises teachers' abilities to transform subject matter knowledge into pedagogical methods to improve students' learning (Ball & Bass, 2000). Since the focus is on shaping and refining the knowledge and skills needed to conduct teaching effectively, not only does MKT help teachers and pre-service teachers to develop decision-making skills essential for teaching certain topics in the classroom (Johnson, 2009), but it also provides a sustainable theoretical base and practical implications for teacher education programmes (Hill et al., 2005).

The theory of MKT encompasses the following six teachers' knowledge domains: common content knowledge (CCK), horizon content knowledge (HCK), specialised content knowledge (SCK), knowledge of content and students, knowledge of content and teaching and knowledge of content and curriculum. In this article, we will focus on only the domains of CCK, HCK and SCK. The first domain (CCK) refers to the mathematical knowledge commonly used or produced in a variety of settings, including outside teaching. This type of knowledge 'is not specialized understandings, but questions that typically would be answerable by others who know mathematics' (Ball et al., 2008, p. 399). Using an algorithm to find the answer for a subtraction problem is an example of CCK.

HCK is the knowledge of how the content being taught is situated in and connected to the broader disciplinary territory' (Jakobsen et al., 2012, p. 4642). This category involves the understanding of the subject's origins and principles, as well as how valuable it can be to students' learning. As a contribution, HCK enables teachers' to make judgments about the importance of particular ideas or questions' of

Mathematical Knowledge for Teaching

students and address 'the discipline with integrity, all resources for balancing the fundamental task of connecting learners to a vast and highly developed field' (Jakobsen et al., 2012, p. 4642).

33

SCK is defined as 'the mathematical knowledge unique to the work of teaching' (Ball et al., 2008, p. 400). It 'involves an uncanny kind of unpacking of mathematics that is not needed—or even desirable—in settings other than teaching' (Ball et al., 2008, p. 400). It requires knowledge beyond solid content knowledge. The ability to present mathematical ideas during instruction and to respond to students' questions is an example of the tasks that teachers perform as part of their work, which requires mathematical knowledge unique to teaching mathematics. A list of mathematical tasks of teaching are listed in Figure 1.

In the Malawian context, the list of teaching tasks presented by Ball et al. (2008) reveals similarities with the tasks of Malawian mathematics teachers. Kazima et al. (2016) found that, although the Malawian context is very different from the US context, the work of teaching seems generally similar: some of the tasks are more commonly recognised by teachers as applicable to the Malawian context, while other tasks are found less relevant (Kazima et al., 2016, p. 184). A task that seems to be unique to the Malawian context as opposed to the US context is the fact that Malawian teachers regularly make use of local resources as an integral part of teaching mathematics. Owing to the lack of didactical materials, teachers use natural resources, such as stones and sticks, for teaching specific mathematical topics in elementary education, and they make their own teaching and learning aids (Kazima et al., 2016). Although Ball et al. (2008) do not draw any inferences on the ways in which the teaching tasks are carried out in Malawi, they provide essential insights about the main characteristics that underpin the work of mathematics teachers, a starting point that supports further investigation of teachers.

Methodology and Data Analysis

To explore how Malawian pre-service teachers understand the tasks of teaching mathematics in primary schools, we conducted a qualitative case study (Stake, 2006) with 23 pre-service teachers at the beginning of their teacher training. All of them volunteered to answer a questionnaire survey

> Presenting mathematical ideas Responding to students' "why" questions Finding an example to make a specific mathematical point Recognizing what is involved in using a particular representation Linking representations to underlying ideas and to other representations Connecting a topic being taught to topics from prior or future years Explaining mathematical goals and purposes to parents Appraising and adapting the mathematical content of textbooks Modifying tasks to be either easier or harder Evaluating the plausibility of students' claims (often quickly) Giving or evaluating mathematical explanations Choosing and developing useable definitions Using mathematical notation and language and critiquing its use Asking productive mathematical questions Selecting representations for particular purposes Inspecting equivalencies

Figure 1. Mathematical tasks of teaching identified by Ball et al. (2008)

Everton Lacerda Jacinto and Ame Jakobsen

that consisted of open-ended questions about their teaching experience¹ (TE), preferences for mathematics in high school (MIHS) and interests in teaching mathematics during college (MIC). Based on the pre-service teachers' answers, six different profiles of pre-service teachers were identified. The six profiles, with the number of teachers in each of the profiles indicated, were: four pre-service teachers possessing TE, MIHS, and MIC; three having TE, but not MIHS and MIC; six with no TE, but with MIHS and MIC; four with no TE and MIHS, but with MIC; two with no TE, MIHS and MIC; and four with TE and MIC, but no MIHS. For the purpose of this paper, we considered one pre-service teacher from each of the six profiles. The list with the details of the teachers and their pseudonyms appears in Table 1.

Table 1. Selection of the research sample according to their profiles

34

Criteria of selection of the research sample	Pre-service teachers' anonymized name	
TEMIHSMIC	Martin	
TE/No MIHS/No MIC	Mario	
No TE/MIHS/MIC	Patrick	
TE/No MIHS/MIC	Clara	
No TE/No MIHS/MIC	Daniel	
TE/No MIHS/MIC	Denise	

TE, Teaching experience; MIHS, preferences for mathematics in high school; MIC, interests in teaching mathematics during college.

Apart from the organisation and selection of the research sample, the questionnaire survey comprised a list of tasks of teaching framed by the theoretical constructs of Ball et al. (2008). The preservice teachers ranked the level of significance of each task with the Malawian context in mind. One example from this list was the task: 'respond to children's why questions'. This specific segment of the questionnaire was a precursor for conducting individual interviews with the preservice teachers.

In the interviews, the pre-service teachers identified and rated the significance of the tasks as important, very important or not at all important. They were also asked about their views, understanding and reasons for classifying the items on that scale. The pre-service teachers also provided insights into tasks that might be specific to the Malawian context, such as 'using natural resources in the classroom' and the type of knowledge pertaining to these tasks. This information was essential for better understanding the types of mathematical knowledge and tasks of teaching that pre-service teachers recognise as crucial for their in-field experience as a teacher as well as for their future profession.

The interviews were recorded, transcribed and analyzed using four categories, which included the significance of the mathematical knowledge used to handle the tasks of teaching in primary schools from the perspective of Malawian pre-service teachers. The four categories are: CCK for teaching and learning, relating knowledge of out-of-curriculum content to HCK, the importance of SCK in interpreting students' errors and capacities and SCK: stimulating mathematics learning through different approaches. These categories reflect the ways in which the pre-service teachers understood the tasks that might emerge in mathematics instruction, as well as the knowledge needed to tackle these tasks in the context of Malawian primary schools.

Findings and Discussion

CCK for Teaching and Learning

In this category, the pre-service teachers expressed their views and understanding about the importance of mathematical knowledge and how useful this can be for teachers and students in Malawi. The interview responses of three pre-service teachers are presented below to illustrate these views:

Daniel: The teacher should have a very good knowledge of the content before going to the classroom, so the learners can learn what they need to learn.

		_
Denise:	It is important for the teacher to know the content because he or she can help the learner understand when they are learning mathematics.	rs to
Clara:	If the teacher knows the content, he will have more confidence in the classroom, and the ners will know that he is wiser.	ear-
the curriculum be a crucial fa the idea that te	w extracts above, the three pre-service teachers acknowledge the importance of kno t content for the benefit of students' learning. Mastering the curriculum content seer actor for effective teaching and learning of mathematical content. These views reint eachers should be capable of teaching in several ways when possessing in-depth k put ar mathematical concepts (Ball et al., 2008). However, one pre-service teacher	orce owl- pro-

Daniel, Denise and Clara all acknowledge that good knowledge of the school's curriculum content is vital to ensure good quality teaching and student learning. However, it is unclear on what basis teachers decide what is important for students. In the particular case of Martin, the knowledge of subject matter is pictured as a method to encourage students to work from a topic they know (simple) towards an unknown topic (complex) or objective. From a practical perspective, the role of teachers in this context seems to be to place value on progressive learning of the subject matter.

Relating Knowledge of Out-of-curriculum Content to HCK

ical Konsisten for Tanti

This second category explores the relevance of teacher knowledge needed to teach mathematics in primary schools, from the perspective of the pre-service teachers. Although scholars recognise the differences between HCK and knowledge of content and curriculum (e.g. Jakobsen et al., 2013), in this study, the pre-service teachers still refer to knowledge about content that is not in the curriculum as a curricular horizon rather than as a mathematical horizon. This view, however, varies among the pre-service teachers. In the following passages, two pre-service teachers demonstrated a tendency to prioritise content in the curriculum rather than content outside the curriculum.

- Clara: The ministry of education already applies what the learners have to know at the primary level, so if the teacher is out of the curriculum, he can teach things that are not intended for primary learners.
- Martin: Since it is not part of the learners' curriculum, I don't think it is important.

Clara and Martin's responses tend to lessen the importance of knowledge beyond the school curriculum. In Clara's view, for instance, it is not necessary for teachers to know out-of-curriculum content since it is the governmental authorities who determine what is necessary to be taught in classrooms. In the same vein, Martin does not see teachers playing a role in deciding what to teach, nor does he acknowledge the need for knowing why something is taught. In contrast to the pre-service teachers' insights above, two other pre-service teachers demonstrate a

In contrast to the pre-service teachers' insights above, two other pre-service teachers demonstrate a more balanced point of view by illustrating positive and negative aspects of the teacher knowing and using contents not included in the school curriculum to teach mathematics.

- Denise: It is not so important to know mathematics outside the curriculum, but the teacher needs to know it, in order to make it easier for the learners. Daniel: So so ... The teacher might use it to answer some questions in the classroom, but it is not
- Daniel: So so ... The teacher might use it to answer some questions in the classroom, but it is not so important. He needs to focus on the contents the school suggests to teach. Each standard [grade] in Malawi has its specific content to be taught so the teacher can learn the content from the other standards to help the learner understand it, but it is not so important for that particutar level.

Denise and Daniel present a general view of the teachers' role that teachers need to possess knowledge outside the school curriculum in order to handle the tasks of teaching, such as answering

Eventon Lacerda Jacinto and Ame Jakobsen

students' questions or making the content easier to learn. Daniel's understanding, in particular, seems to be explicitly linked to the knowledge needed to be used in tasks involving 'connecting a topic being taught to topics from prior or future years' (Ball et al., 2008, p. 400). This view implies that the knowledge at the mathematical horizon is relevant but only for providing links with content from higher school levels

Patrick and Mario, in contrast, present a different view to Denise and Daniel. They suggested that teachers' knowledge should also include the ability to reflect on what they are teaching and to sequence the content of the curriculum, which is also needed for effective teaching (Ball et al., 2008).

Patrick:

It is very important because they can reflect on what they are teaching. Yes, it is important because, with other content, you can explain better, you can mix it, and Mario: you can add new ideas.

Patrick and Mario present a broad view of the relevance of the content outside of the curriculum, which implies that they think teachers should be open to exploring new ideas for the teaching of mathematics. Both pre-service teachers see teachers as taking an active role in mediating the school curriculum. They recognise the need for reflection on what is taught and how it can be improved. To acquire a better understanding of the content and new forms of teaching, for example, Mario believes that a teacher needs to experiment and try new ideas for teaching more effectively. This view reveals a link between the vertical and horizontal curriculum (Shulman, 1986), which are both important for mathematics instruction in primary schools. In the case of Patrick, incorporating 'complex concepts and new problems from real-life situations into the classroom may not be easy for the teacher, but it can challenge and stir creativity among the learners' (Patrick).

Patrick's assumption shows the type of knowledge that is particularly relevant and useful for teaching in Malawi: the knowledge at the mathematical horizon (Ball et al., 2008). In the literature, the concept of HCK refers to 'an awareness of how mathematical topics are related over the span of mathematics included in the curriculum' (Ball et al., 2008, p. 403). However, Patrick's idea of teaching complex concepts and incorporating problems from real-life situations into mathematics lessons seems to be a significant part of the teacher's knowledge and his/her ability to make links between curriculum topics. In this context, Kelly (1999) observes that, in some situations, curriculum content might 'limit the planning of teachers to a consideration of the content or the body of knowledge they wish to transmit or a list of the subjects to be taught or both' (p. 83). Knowledge of the content that lies outside the school curriculum can also be important to the work of teaching because it can help teachers to guide students to experience real-life situations that encompass multiple concepts (Freire, 1999).

The Importance of SCK in Interpreting Students' Errors and Capacities

Although expertise in the mathematical content both within and outside the primary school curriculum is an essential component of teaching, teachers are also faced daily with the task of evaluating the plausibility of students' claims. Any teacher who knows their students and their prior knowledge can identify, explain and predict what students can do or cannot do during learning activities (Freire, 1999). In this third category, we identified three sub-categories: thoughts of pre-service teachers concerning the limitations of identifying student capacities within their contextual settings; the role of the teacher in interpreting students' mistakes and identifying their capacities; and approaches that can be used for identifying students' problems. These insights are important to get a better picture of the pre-service teachers' understanding of the knowledge needed to explain why and how students make mistakes, and what knowledge and skills a teacher can use to minimise these mistakes. With regard to the first sub-category, three pre-service teachers spoke about the limits of knowing the students' capacities during mathematics lessons.

Teachers should know what the learners can do, but in Malawi, it is very difficut! We have so many children in the classroom that you cannot know everyone. [...] I used to teach in four Martin class is, each with more than one hundred students.

Mathematical Kn	wiedge for Teaching 37
Patrick:	Learners can come across with a different challenge or problem in their life, so the teacher needs
Denise:	to be familiar with it, or the learners will not be involved in the lesson. We need to give them a chance to interact with what we are teaching. Thus, they can help us
Denise.	create different lessons and improve our curriculum.
n Martin and	Patrick's comments, students' abilities seem to play a significant role in defining how a
	d teach in Malawi. However, they also believe that contextual factors, such as the large udents in the classroom, limit teachers' abilities to meet the specific needs of students.
	venise sees the understanding of students' abilities as a resource that can help teachers
o make effec	tive decisions to improve their lessons. By interacting with students' thinking, teachers
	lassroom practices, especially the approachability of the content being taught. with Martin's, Patrick's and Denise's emphasis on students' abilities, three other pre-
	ers highlight the importance of interpreting students' mistakes and dealing with them in
	n (second sub-category). While Martin, Patrick and Denise understand that teacher
	so includes the knowledge of interpreting students' mistakes and identifying their
	niel, Clara and Mario explained that it further includes the ability to guide students to dis-
over the nati	ure of their problems themselves.
Daniel	You are there to teach, so you are there to check the mistakes. You should correct them so they
	can have the correct information.
Clara:	You can help them by giving another view, so they can understand mathematics and solve the problems.
Mario:	The teacher must ask them, 'How did you come up with this answer? How did you solve it?' This
	way, the teacher can know where the problem comes from. Giving them the answer will not help them understand where they are wrong.
The views ab	ove encompass the third sub-category in which the pre-service teachers acknowledge
	e of helping students to become aware of their mistakes and of new ways of solving a
problem. Dan	iel's, Clara's and Mario's comments describe this knowledge as an important skill for
	I teachers to possess in Malawi: teachers should not only know how to identify children's
	and errors but also help them to understand why these problems occur. Such an under-
	cts a tendency for recognising and valuing different ways of helping students. It confirms
	how to interact with students is an important characteristic of primary school teachers
	08), as it gives students an opportunity to express their thoughts and ideas and reflect
	need to learn. From a sociocultural perspective, this view is also a valid constituent: chil-
	g does not occur outside a particular context or in isolation from others but through
	e familiar with the topic (i.e., a teacher) and capable of understanding and support stu- g process (Vygotsky, 1987).
ients iearnin	g process (vygolsky, 1967).
SCK: Stimul	ating Mathematics Learning Through Different Approaches
	ategory, the focus is on the way in which the Malawian pre-service teachers understand
he different fo	orms of teaching mathematics apart from what the textbook suggests. This component is
	haracteristic of SCK-a type of knowledge that allows teachers to engage children in
	activities in the classroom (Ball et al., 2008). The data from three pre-service teachers
pelow shows	multiple ways of teaching mathematics in primary schools in Malawi.

- Mario:
- When learners have a different situation in their life, they are facing a new challenge that requires new ways to solve it. So, teachers can use these challenges to teach mathematics. In Malawi, we have Kwacha. So, you can relate it in the classroom. How much does it cost to go to Blantyre? You must negotiate and think, you know ... Is it expensive? So, this can be a way to engage learners. There are many different ways to teach mathematics. In Malawi, we use **place-value boxes** and **abacuses**. It is cheap and easy to manage in the classroom. Patrick:

Denise:

Everton Lacerda Jacinto and Ame Jakobsen

In the passage above, the three pre-service teachers illustrate different ways of thinking about multiple approaches for teaching mathematics: creating problem situations and using materials or instruments that can be manipulated for the students. With regard to such problem situations, Moura (2010) describes these as contextualised problems that allow teachers to use students' natural curiceity in order to solve problems from real-life situations. However, this type of approach should be intentionally organised to develop students' autonomy and critical thinking (Moura, 2010). In Patrick's comments, for example, we note that such an idea takes form in a common situation in Malawi: *transportation* costs: Patrick also argued that [...] when coming to school, they [the children] have to take the minibus every day, so they can apply what they learn in class'. Therefore, contextual features appear to shape Patrick's view of SCK. Based on this finding, we can affirm that, in a Malawian setting, it seems to be important for teachers to know how to engage students in stimulating activities that challenge them, so that students can acquire concepts that emerge from and explain their reality.

Moreover, Denise presents an insightful perspective about the role of teaching tools. She understands that place-value boxes and abacuese are tools that teachers can use to help children develop a deep understanding of mathematics concepts. In this context, Miller and Stigler (1991) stress that tangible materials increase children's ability to perform mental calculations and representations, and that teaching mathematics through such materials improves the environment of the math classroom (Smith et al., 1999). Thus, the practical use of tangible materials in Malawi can also be a strong component in teachers' SCK, as it 'helps to spark students' inagination by letting them touch, move about, rearrange, and otherwise handle objects' (Kennedy, 1986, p. 9). The task of making teaching and learning more realistic and practical is also previously highlighted as a task that is more common in the Malawian context as opposed to other countries (Kazima et al., 2016).

Concluding Remarks

Scholars in educational science have outlined the importance of a distinctive brand of knowledge and skills unique to the work of teaching (Ball et al., 2008). In the framework developed by Ball et al. (2008), mathematical knowledge for teaching comprises two domains—subject matter knowledge and pedagogical content knowledge. Subject matter knowledge, in particular, has been extensively studied, as it has a significant impact on pre-service teachers' use of teaching strategies in classroom practice (Darling-Hammond & Bransford, 2005). In this paper, however, we reported on a study focusing specifically on the Malawian pre-service teachers' understanding of the knowledge related to the CCK, HCK and SCK—three domains of teachers' subject matter knowledge.

Our findings indicate that, although Malawian primary school pre-service teachers interpret the knowledge needed for teaching mathematics differently, they use solid arguments in parallel with the theoretical constructs proposed by Ball et al. (2008). By questioning the importance of the core elements that contribute to the effective teaching of mathematics (Ball et al., 2008), we observed that these pre-service teachers understand the knowledge of curricular mathematical concepts as crucial for shaping and supporting students' learning. In their view, in-depth understanding of curriculum content allows teachers to concentrate on what is essential for students to learn according to the curriculum. This ability is also seen as relevant for designing lessons that will increase student confidence as the content becomes more complex.

However, our findings also suggest that the participating pre-service teachers struggle with explaining basic characteristics of the knowledge at the mathematical horizon. Although pre-service teachers in Malawi recognise the relevance of mathematical knowledge outside the primary school curriculum, they discuss this within the sphere of the curricular, rather than the mathematical horizon. Furthermore, they regard the teacher's role in deciding what content students need to learn as limited, although they also think that teachers have ample opportunities to promote students' reflections on the nature of the mathematical concepts and their connections with different aspects of the school curriculum. These views imply a strong tendency to rely on the core curriculum as a primary source for teaching and learing at an equivalent standard, whereas the links with different school levels and real-life situations are understood as complementary sources for acquiring teaching knowledge. In sum, the participants in Mathematical Knowledge for Teaching

this study concur that teachers should utilise a range of sources, methods and tools to promote stu-

39

dents' understanding of mathematical concepts. The insights that have emerged from this study contribute to the understanding of the ways in which pre-service teachers understand the knowledge needed to carry out tasks of teaching mathematics in primary schools in Malawi. However, further research is needed to ascertain whether pre-service teachers' understanding of what is useful for the work of teaching corresponds with the strategies they later adopt in their teaching practice. The present study is also beneficial for the enhancement of teacher training programmes, while contributing to a better understanding of the main concepts of the practice-based theory of mathematical knowledge for teaching.

Disclosure Statement

No potential conflict of interest was reported by the authors.

Note

1. For those pre-service teachers with prior teaching experience, the experience ranged from three months up to one school year, usually as volunteers or teacher assistants in primary schools.

ORCID

Everton Lacerda Jacinto O http://orcid.org/0000-0002-5662-298X Ame Jakobsen 6 http://orcid.org/0000-0002-7427-5723

References

Attinyeken, H. K. (2010). Pedagogical renewal in sub-Saharan Africa: The case of Uganda. Comparative Education, 46(2), 151–171. https://doi.org/10.1080/03050061003775454

Ball, D. L., & Bass, H. (2000). Interveaving content and pedagogy in teaching and learning to teach: Knowing and using mathematics. In J. Boaler (Ed.), Multiple perspectives on mathematics teaching and learning (pp. 83–104). Ablex Publishing, Ball, D. L., Thames, M. H., & Phelps, G. (2008). Content knowledge for teaching: What makes it special? Journal of

Teocher Education, 59(5), 389–407. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022487108324554
Castle, K. (2013). The state of leacher research in early childhood teacher education. *Journal of Early Childhood*

Teacher Education, 34(3), 268–266. https://doi.org/10.1080/10901027.2013.816807
Cheng, M. M. H., Tang, S. Y. F., & Cheng, A. Y. N. (2014). Differences in pedagogical understanding among student-teachers in a four-year initial teacher education program. *Teachers and Teaching: Theory and Practice*, 20(2), 152–168. https://doi.org/10.1080/13540602.2013.846566

Cochan-Smith, M. (2004). Taking stock in 2004: Teacher education in dangerous times. Journal of Teacher Education, 55(1), 3–7. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022487103261227

Darling-Hammond, L. (2006). Constructing 21st century teacher education. Journal of Teacher Education, 57(X), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022487105285962

Darling-Hammond, L., & Bransford, J. (eds.), (205). Preparing teachers for a changing world: What teachers should learn and be able to do. Jossey-Bass.

anotati winn and be adde to do cossey-basis.
Depagep, F., Verschaffel, L., & Kelchtermans, G. (2013). Pedagogical content knowledge: A systematic review of the way in which the concept has pervaled mathematics educational research. *Teaching and Teacher* Education, 34, 12–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2013.03.001
Fernandez, C. (2014). Knowledge base for teaching and pedagogical content knowledge (PCK); Some useful

models and implications for teacher training. Problems of Education in the 21st Century, 60, 79–100. Fernández-Soria, J., M. (2013). Problems and challenges for the politics of education before the change of promi-

nence experienced by educational actors. New Approaches in Educational Research, 2(2), 63–71. https://doi.org/ 10.7821/neer.2.2.63-71

Freire, P. (1999). Pedagogy of autonomy. Necessary knowledge to educational practice. Peace and Earth.

40	Evenon Lacerda Jacinto and Ame Jakobsen
	flects of teachers' mathematical knowledge for teaching on student Research Journal, 42(2), 371–406. https://doi.org/10.3102/
their teacher education: A Malawian case. In eighth Nordic conference on mathematics e Society for Research in Mathematics Educa	
mathematics teaching. In B. Ubuz, C. Hase	(2013). Delineating issues related to horizon content knowledge for r, & M. A. Mariotti (Eds.), Proceedings of CERME 8, the eighth con- in mathematics education (pp. 3125–3134). Middle East Technical
content knowledge. In International Congres of the 12th international congress on mathe	k Delaney, S. (2012). Using practice to define and distinguish horizon as on Mathematics Education. In Sung Je Cho (Ed.), Pre-proceedings amatics education (pp. 4635–4644). ICME <i>iher education: A sociocultural penspective</i> . Routledge.
Kazima, M., Jakobsen, A., & Kasoka, D. N. (2	there advised on a social state of teaching and the corresponding Mathematics Enthusiast, 13(162), 170–186.

Kelly, A. V. (1999). The curriculum: Theory and practice (4th ed.). Paul Chapman Publishing Ltd.

Kelly, A. V. (1999). The curriculum: Theory and practice (4th ed.). Paul Chapman Publishing Ltd.
Kennedy, M. L. (1986). A rationale. Antimetic Teacher, 33, 6–7.
Malawian Institute of Education. (2017). Syllabox for initial primary teacher education: Mathematics ministry of education, science and technology. Malawi Institute of Education.
Miler, K., & Stigler, J. (1991). Meanings of skill: Effects of abacus expertise on number representation. Cognition and instruction. 8(1), 29–67. https://doi.org/10.1020/n152690xi0801.2
Moura, M. (2010). A atividade pedagógica na perspectiva histórico-cultural. Liber libro.
Putnam, R., & Borko, H. (1997). Teacher learning: Implications of new views of cognition. In B. J. Biddle, T. L. Good, & I. F. Goodson (Eds.). The international handbook of teachers and teaching (pp. 1223–1296). Kluwer.
Res, F., Cabrena, C. Y., & Carriedo, R. G. (2016). A study of teacher training in the United States and Europe. The European Journal of Social and Behavioral Sciences, 18(2), 2029–2054. https://doi.org/10.15405/ejsbs.184
Rowland, T., & Tumer, F. (2007). Developing and using the Knowledge Quartet: A framework for the observation of mathematics teaching. The Mathematics Educator, 10(1), 107–124.
Shulman, L. S. (1986). Those who understand: Knowledge growth in teaching. Educational Researcher, 15(2), 4–14. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X015002004

Shulman, L. S., & Sykes, G. (1986). A national board for teaching? In search of a bold standard. Carnegie Forum on

Shulman, L. S., & Sykee, G. (1986). A national board for teaching in search or a ocustandard, camage induction Education and the Economy.
Smith, N. L., Babione, C., & Vick, B. J. (1999). Dumpling soup: Exploring kitchens, cultures, and mathematics. Teaching Children Mathematics, 6, 148–152.
Stake, R. E. (2006). Multiple case study analysis. The Guilford Press.
United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO). (2016). Incheon declaration and fra-mework for action for the implementation of sustainable development Goal 4. Towards inclusive and equitable mework for action for the mytementation of sustainable development Goal 4. Towards inclusive and equitable quality education and illefong learning opportunities for all. Education 2030. UNESCO. Retrieved September 26, 2019, from https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark/:48223/pf0000245656
Vygotsky, L. S. (1987). Thinking and speech. In R. W. Rieber, & A. S. Carton (Eds.), The collected works of L. S. Vygotsky. Vol. 1. Problems of general psychology (pp. 39–285). Plenum.
Wanda, N., & Mgomezulu, V. (2014). The crisis in public education in Malawi. International Journal of Advanced Research, 2(4), 323–331.

Appendix 5 – Article 2

Jacinto, E. L., & Jakobsen, A. (2019). Pedagogical content knowledge for teaching mathematics: What matters for pre-service primary teachers in Malawi? In M. Graven, H. Venkat, A. Essien, & P. Vale (Eds.), *Proceedings of the 43rd Conference of the International Group for the Psychology of Mathematics Education: Research Reports* (Vol. 2, pp.424–431). Pretoria, South Africa: PME.





Cite as:

Graven, M., Venkat, H., Essien, A. & Vale, P. (Eds). (2019). Proceedings of the 43rd Conference of the International Group for the Psychology of Mathematics Education (Vol 2). Pretoria, South Africa: PME.

Website: https://www.up.ac.za/pme43

Proceedings are also available on the IGPME website: http://www.igpme.org

Copyright © 2019 left to authors All rights reserved

ISBN (Volume 2, print): 978-0-6398215-2-8 ISBN (Volume 2, electronic): 978-0-6398215-3-5

Printed by Minute Man Press, Hatfield Logo designed by GA Design

PEDAGOGICAL CONTENT KNOWLEDGE FOR TEACHING MATHEMATICS: WHAT MATTERS FOR PRESERVICE PRIMARY TEACHERS IN MALAWI?

Everton Jacinto, Arne Jakobsen

University of Stavanger

This paper examines how Malawian preservice teachers perceive the mathematical knowledge needed for teaching in primary schools. Drawing on the practice-based theory of mathematical knowledge for teaching, the study highlights the main elements constituting the pedagogical knowledge required for teaching mathematics in remote areas of scholarly education. Data collection instruments included a questionnaire survey and individual interviews with three entrant preservice teachers attending a teacher-training college in Malawi. The results yielded by thematic data analysis show that preservice teachers conceived components of pedagogical content knowledge in different but complementary ways to those noted in pertinent literature.

INTRODUCTION

For decades, education researchers have been exploring practices and teaching techniques to learn what can improve teachers' knowledge. They have argued that, by possessing a specific type of knowledge, a teacher is able to organize potential activities that can transform subject matter content into forms more comprehensible to students (Abell, 2007; Grossman, 1990; Hurrell, 2013; Marks, 1990; Shulman, 1987). Thus, the knowledge of how teachers think, construe, and evaluate their own teaching provides valuable evidence on what comprises and enhances the nature of such knowledge.

A particularly significant contribution to this line of research was the idea of *Pedagogical Content Knowledge* (PCK), developed by Lee Shulman (1986). In his view, PCK intersperses pedagogical and subject matter knowledge, and allows teachers to make scientific subjects meaningful and useful to learners (Shulman, 1986). This idea was further elaborated by a research team led by Debora Ball. The group made observations of preservice teachers' teaching practices and identified six domains pertinent to effective teaching of mathematical subjects (Ball, Thames, & Phelps, 2008). Those domains led to the development of the *practice-based theory of mathematical knowledge for teaching* (MKT).

Drawing on a larger study about teacher education in Malawi, this paper explores how preservice teachers perceive the elements that compose the teacher's mathematical knowledge for teaching, in particular, the PCK for teaching mathematics. Consequently, the general goal is to contribute to a new understanding of how those domains take place in remote areas of teacher education.

2019. In M. Graven, H. Venkat, A. Essien & P. Vale (Eds.). Proceedings of the 43rd Conference of the International Group for the Psychology of Mathematics Education (Vol. 2, pp. 424-431). Pretoria, South Africa: PME.

^{2 - 424}

TEACHERS' KNOWLEDGE DOMAINS

The particular forms of content that embody teachers' professional knowledge have become a central issue of the 21st century educational practice, raising questions whose answers can affect many educational institutions around the world. In this context, the practice-based theory of MKT comprises of the following six fundamental domains of teacher' knowledge in mathematics: *Common Content Knowledge* (CCK), *Horizon Content Knowledge* (HCK), *Specialized Content Knowledge* (SCK), *Knowledge of Content and Students* (KCS), *Knowledge of Content and Curriculum* (KCC), and *Knowledge of Content and Teaching* (KCT). Together, those domains constitute a promising conceptual framework for research on teacher knowledge (Ball, Hill, & Bass, 2005).

CCK is the first domain that incorporates the subject matter knowledge. Ball et al. (2008) described it as the type of knowledge "used in settings other than teaching" and related to circumstances typically common by others who know mathematics (p. 399). In contrast, SCK refers to a specialized knowledge unique to the work of teaching. This domain entails the mathematics knowledge and skills that a teacher needs to possess in order to create necessary conditions for students to learn the subject. SCK reflects the teachers' capacity for dealing with the teaching tasks, such as "looking for patterns in student errors" and "understanding different interpretations of the operations in ways that students need not explicitly distinguish" (Ball et al., 2008, p. 400). In addition to these domains, HCK concerns "a kind of mathematical 'peripheral vision' needed in teaching, a view of the larger mathematical landscape that teaching requires" (Ball & Bass, 2009, p. 1). HCK helps preservice teachers be aware of "how the content being taught is situated in and connected to the broader disciplinary territory" (Jakobsen, Thames, Ribeiro, & Delaney, 2012, p. 4642) and "how mathematics topics are related over the mathematics span included in the curriculum" (Ball et al., 2008, p. 403).

The second set of domains (KCT, KCS, and KCC) resides in the pedagogical content for teaching—a singular type of knowledge that allows teachers to create and be oriented in a conducive learning environment. For Freire (1996), this is the most fundamental skill, indispensable from the beginning of teaching, that helps educators, teachers, and preservice teachers to understand that "teaching is not about transferring knowledge but creating possibilities for its production or its construction" (p. 47) (Translation by the authors).

The domain of KCT addresses methodological aspects that allow teachers to understand and choose the appropriate ways to meet students' learning needs. KCT concerns lesson design and use of appropriate activities in the classroom (Herbst & Kosko, 2014). Such knowledge helps teachers to develop effective teaching practice and conceptualize their own teaching. Additionally, KCT can contribute to the future teachers' learning by addressing specific ways to organize lessons that help to them deal not only with the ongoing adaptations in the classroom environment (Goodnough, 2006) but also with problems that permeate much of our current society (Freire, 1996).

PME 43 - 2019

2 - 425

The second domain, KCS, pertains to the development of teachers' specialized content knowledge (Philipp et al., 2007). KCS mainly focuses on the students' mathematics learning and understanding, i.e., how they think about mathematics, their limits, and difficulties they experience when learning the subject. From this context, Ball et al. (2008) explained that:

When assigning a task, teachers need to anticipate what students are likely to do with it and whether they will find it easy or hard. Teachers must also be able to hear and interpret students' emerging and incomplete thinking as expressed in the ways that pupils use language. Each of these tasks requires an interaction between specific mathematical understanding and familiarity with students and their mathematical thinking. (p. 9)

While KCS supports teachers' ability to listen to their students, KCC helps them to identify, select, and decide how a particular set of curriculum materials can benefit students' learning. This last domain, in the context of initial teacher education, appears as a potent tool for preservice teachers to explore the curriculum and instructional materials relevant for teaching (Ball et al., 2008). Possessing an effective KCC, however, implies not only knowing the curricular content that need to be followed, but also how those content areas can be better introduced in the lessons.

The introduction of these last three components by Shulman (1986) and their reconceptualization by Ball et al. (2008) has been an important step toward a better comprehension of teachers' knowledge. Moreover, as Depaepe et al. (2013) pointed out, although a significant body of research on PCK has been conducted in the US and European countries, there is evident paucity of studies focusing on the African countries. Thus, further research is necessary with the aim of providing not only new insights about the idea of PCK, but also discussing the possibilities and limits in applying those concepts in African contexts.

PRESERVICE PRIMARY TEACHER EDUCATION IN MALAWI

There are eight teacher-training colleges in Malawi. They operate with local primary schools in neighboring regions by offering a two-year program for candidates aspiring to become primary school teachers. As a part of this program, candidates review the basic topics taught in primary schools, analyze lesson models given by in-service teachers, and develop teaching activities for lower and upper grades. At the core of their training, a modular structural curriculum combines studies with a special focus on the pedagogical content knowledge for teaching and competencies for ensuring learning with understanding (Malawian Institute of Education, 2017).

Although this new curriculum appears adequate for preparing preservice teachers to teach in Malawi, a recent study conducted at the eight Malawian teacher colleges indicated that most preservice teachers begin their college program with a poor understanding of basic mathematics. Consequently, their essential knowledge and skills for teaching mathematics typically do not improve as a consequence of the teacher education (Kasoka, Jakobsen, & Kazima, 2017). These results highlight the need to better understand what beginner teachers do in their teacher-training programs

2 - 426

PME 43 - 2019

in Malawi, how they understand and evaluate their own lessons, and on what bases they choose to act in particular ways instead of others.

THE RESEARCH DESIGN

The larger research study that this paper draws upon was based on a qualitative multiple-case study (Stake, 2009) with 23 primary preservice teachers selected due to the diversity in their backgrounds and teaching subject preferences. The broader study was divided into three research moments following the teacher-training calendar. The first moment consisted of asking all 23 primary preservice teachers to complete a questionnaire inquiring into their previous teaching experience and subject preferences for teaching, and individual interviews about characteristics of effective mathematics teaching in Malawi. The current investigation focuses solely on the information obtained within the first moment from three preservice teachers presenting similar traits on those criteria.

The data was organized into three units of analysis bounded by the domains of teachers' PCK (KCT, KCC, and KCS). Based on these domains, three distinct categories emerged from the data: *Decision-making in teachers' KCT; Relations between KCT and KCC*; and *Adaptations of the classroom activities from students' contributions and level.* These categories provided insight into the particularities of Malawian preservice teachers' perceptions of PCK for teaching mathematics.

FINDINGS

Decision-making in teachers' KCT

The passage presented in this category occurred during the interview with Martin, a preservice teacher with previous teaching experience, and a preference for teaching sciences and mathematics in primary schools. The starting point was based on the type of "knowledge needed to decide on the best examples and representations to use for given instructional objectives" (Herbst & Kosko, 2014, p. 24). This idea is perceived as a significant element in KCT, as it is vital for the work of teaching mathematics (Ball et al., 2008). The evidence that frames this notion is given below:

Researcher: Martin, is it important for teachers to think about the design of the lesson or any strategy before starting the classes?

Martin: Yes, it is very important!

Researcher: Why? Don't you have a [teacher] manual? You have to follow it, right?

Martin: Yes, we have to follow the manual! But a good teacher also has to think about what is good or bad for the learners. He needs to think about the lesson before, so if something happens, he or she can manage what to do. The big problem is that, in Malawi, there are so many students, that teachers cannot pay attention to everyone all the time. If they do that, they will never finish the content. So, the teacher needs to decide when it is time to give attention to students and when it is time to move on.

Researcher: How does he know it is the time to move on?

PME 43 - 2019

2 - 427

Martin:

If the majority understand the topic, it is time to move on. Learners can take revision lessons at the end of the term, so there is no problem if one or two students have problems. They will have an opportunity to review it. So this I something teachers need to consider when they are teaching.

For Martin, the knowledge about instructional practice design combines the knowledge of the organization and conduction of mathematical tasks in classrooms. Decisionmaking was also considered as an integral part of the primary school teacher's skill management for teaching, an idea that resembles KCT as the "knowledge of strategies and representations for teaching particular topics," as proposed by Borko and Putman (1996, p. 677). However, the context in which such skill is applied was a distinctive characteristic in Martin's view: "The number of pupils in Malawian primary classrooms usually ranges from seventy-five to more than one hundred." Martin also implied that teaching under such circumstances should be based on more than following manuals; it demands organization, decision-making, and a sense of time and place for learning.

Relations between KCT and KCC

This section contains a segment of the interview by Carlos, a preservice teacher with a similar background and preferences as Martin. Carlos's responses not only describe a singular characteristic for an effective teaching in Malawi, but also show how KCC might interact with the domain of KCT from a broad curricular perspective.

Researcher: Carlos, how do you describe an effective teacher?

	and the set of the set
Carlos:	Ok, I think an effective teacher needs to be resourcive [resourceful]. He needs to know how to use the right [teaching] resources to engage the learners in learning a topic.
Researcher:	How does he know if the [teaching] resource is good or bad for the learners?
Carlos:	If the resource is too complicated, it is, of course, not a good resource.
Researcher:	Can you give an example of a good resource?
Carlos:	It is hard to say because in Malawi we don't have enough material, you know but if you are teaching in standard four, you can use small stones to teach multiplication by nine, but just multiplication of small numbers. Multiplication by nine is part of the curriculum in standard four, you know But, in standard five, if you use stones to teach multiplication of big numbers, it won't be a good idea because it will take too much time for the students to count the stones. So, for teaching multiplication involving big numbers, you need to think about using other sources.
this nassage	Carlos used the word "resourcive" to describe the way a teacher

In this passage, Carlos used the word "resourcive" to describe the way a teacher considers effective teaching resources in the classroom. This characteristic reflects the teacher's capacity for selecting, revising, and using appropriate didactical materials to facilitate student learning. Carlos cogitated that if a teacher is capable of discerning the advantages and disadvantages of using didactical resources, he/she could create conditions that are more favorable for the learners, so that they can learn by doing. If

PME 43 - 2019

^{2 - 428}

the material is incompatible with students' learning pace, it would be for the teacher to search for proper teaching resources, explains Carlos.

Although Shulman (1987) described curriculum knowledge as a major category that includes "the grasp of the materials and programs that serve as tools of the trade" (p. 8), the knowledge and skills related to teaching materials were only recently introduced into the KCC domain (Sleep, 2009). Thus, the example provided by Carlos—the use of small stones to teach multiplication of small numbers by nine—depicted KCC not only as the teacher's ability to familiarize with the tools for delivering mathematical lessons, but also his/her capacity for understanding how simple objects can help a concept become a learning need for students.

Adaptations of the classroom activities from students' contributions and level

The passage below is an excerpt of the interview conducted with Clara, a preservice teacher who also acquired some teaching experience before starting her training program. She too has expressed affinity for teaching mathematics and science foundations in primary schools. The passage portrays her perceptions of focal features in KCS.

	Researcher:	If a student uses a different method to solve a problem, what do you think the teacher needs to do?
	Clara:	I think the teacher needs to consider it because, in Malawi, you know students have many different methods, so the teacher must consider it.
	Researcher:	But if you are teaching multiplication, for example, you know there are many ways to teach it. How do you choose it?
	Clara:	Well first, the learners have to learn the method of the teacher. Then, you can discuss the other methods. If the teacher stops the class to explain every single method, it will confuse those learners who are trying to learn.
	Researcher:	But how do you know which method is better?
	Clara:	Usually, the method of the teacher is easier. A good teacher will always choose the easy way for the learners.
	Researcher:	So, would you use the same method in all classrooms?
	Clara:	No, it would be different because you have to use the method according to the level of students. In standard four, for example, you have to use methods that show why this number is like this, why this is this so the method also has to show the details. In standard five, you don't need to explain the details, you can just apply it.
1	e transcripti	on above reveals a significant aspect of teachers' KCS. Although

The transcription above reveals a significant aspect of teachers' KCS. Although students' ideas should be considered in the classroom, methods proposed by the teacher are still dominant. For Clara, the knowledge about the students' capacities can be beneficial for teachers to better understand and react to the students' ideas while teaching, but the use of multiple approaches might not be helpful for those who are still learning the content.

PME 43 - 2019

2-429
Jacinto & Jakobsen

According to Ball et al. (2008), anticipating what students are likely to think and what they can find confusing is an essential skill that helps teachers balance and adapt their work according to students' contributions and level of learning. Moura (2010) reminds us that every idea exchanged is valuable for improving the quality of teacher's work. By knowing and interacting with their students, teachers can change their conceptions and learn new ways of acting that would incite development of learners' reasoning ability (Moura, 2010).

CONCLUSION

All three segments presented in this paper focused on PCK; more specifically, they reflected what preservice teachers in Malawi perceived as crucial for the domains of KCT, KCC, and KCS. Although each of these components assumed different forms of conceptualization, they provide a new perspective on how PCK takes place in remote areas of scholar education. Moreover, over the last decades, the concept of PCK has received different conceptualizations by the academic community, posing a challenge that many educational institutions find difficult to put in practice. These insights are relevant not only for teacher educators in Malawi, who can use them to consider their activities based on preservice teachers' specificities and needs for teaching mathematics, but also for deepening and developing the theory of MKT.

References

- Abell, S. (2007). Research on science teacher knowledge. In S. Abell & N. Lederman (Eds.), Handbook of research on science education (pp. 1105–1149). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Ball, D. L., & Bass, H. (2009). With an eye on the mathematical horizon: Knowing mathematics for teaching to learners' mathematical futures. Paper presented at The 2009 Curtis Center Mathematics and Teaching Conference, Oldenburg, German.
- Ball, D. L., Hill, H. C., & Bass, H. (2005). Knowing mathematics for teaching: Who knows mathematics well enough to teach third grade, and how can we decide? *American Educator*, 29(3), 14–46.
- Ball, D. L., Thames, M. H., & Phelps, G. C. (2008). Content knowledge for teaching: What makes it special? *Journal of Teacher Education*, 59(5), 389–407.
- Borko, H., & Putnam, R. (1996). Learning to teach. In D. Berliner & R. Calfee (Eds.), Handbook of educational psychology (pp. 673–708). New York, NY: MacMillan.
- Depaepe, F., Verschaffel, L., & Kelchtermans, G. (2013). Pedagogical content knowledge: A systematic review of the way in which the concept has pervaded mathematics educational research. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 34, 12–25.
- Freire, P. (1996). Pedagogia da Autonomia: saberes necessários à prática educativa. São Paulo, Brazil: Paz e Terra.
- Goodnough, K. (2006). Enhancing pedagogical content knowledge through self-study: an exploration of problem-based learning. *Teaching in Higher Education*, 11(3), 301–318.

PME 43 - 2019

^{2 - 430}

Jacinto & Jakobsen

- Grossman, P. L. (1990). The making of a teacher: teacher knowledge and teacher education. New York, NY: Teachers College Press.
- Herbst, P., & Kosko, K. (2014). Mathematical knowledge for teaching and its specificity to high school geometry instruction. In J. Lo, K. Leatham, & L. Van Zoest (Eds.), *Research* trends in mathematics teacher education (pp. 23–46). New York, NY: Springer.
- Hurrell, D. P. (2013). What teachers need to know to teach mathematics: An argument for a reconceptualised model. Australian Journal of Teacher Education, 38(11), 54–64.
- Jakobsen, A., Thames, M. H., Ribeiro, C. M., & Delaney, S. (2012). Using practice to define and distinguish horizon content knowledge. In *Proceedings of the 12th International Congress in Mathematics Education* (pp. 4635–4644). Seoul: ICME.
- Kasoka, D. N., Jakobsen, A., & Kazima, M. (2017). Preparing teachers for teaching: does initial teacher education improve mathematical knowledge for teaching? In T. Dooley & G. Gueudet (Eds.), Proceedings of the Tenth Congress of the European Society for Research in Mathematics Education (CERME 10), 1–5 February, 2017 (pp. 3328–3335). Dublin, Ireland: ERME.
- Malawi Institute of Education. (2017). Syllabus for initial primary teacher education: Mathematics Ministry of Education, Science and Technology. Domasi, Zomba: Malawi Institute of Education.
- Marks, R. (1990). Pedagogical content knowledge: From a mathematical case to a modified conception. Journal of Teacher Education, 41, 3–11.
- Moura, M. (2010). A atividade pedagógica na perspective histórico-cultural. Brasilia, Brazil: Liber libro.
- Philipp, R. A., Ambrose, R., Lamb, L. C., Sowder, J. T., Schappelle, B. P., Sowder, L., Thanheiser, E., & Chauvot, J. (2007). Effects of early field experiences on the mathematical content knowledge and beliefs of prospective elementary school teachers: An experimental study. *Journal for Research in Mathematics Education*, 38, 438–476.
- Sleep, L. (2009). Teaching to the mathematical point: Knowing and using mathematics in teaching. Doctoral dissertation, University of Michigan, Michigan.
- Shulman, L. S. (1986). Those who understand: knowledge growth in teaching. Educational Researcher, 15(2), 4–14.
- Shulman, L. S. (1987). Knowledge and teaching: foundations of the new reform. Harvard Educational Review, 57(1), 1–22.

PME 43 - 2019

2-431

Stake. R. E. (2006). Multiple case study analysis. New York, NY: The Guilford Press.

Appendix 6 – Article 3

Article 3

Jacinto, E. J., Jakobsen, A., & Bjuland, R. (2020). Understanding of the knowledge necessary to sequence tasks in mathematical instruction: The case of Malawian pre-service teachers, *International Journal of Science and Mathematics Education*. (Accepted for revision, resubmitted)

Understanding of the Knowledge Necessary to Sequence Tasks in Mathematical Instruction: The Case of Malawian Pre-Service Teachers

Everton Lacerda Jacinto, <u>everton Ljacinto@uis.no</u> Ame Jakobsen, <u>ame jakobsen@uis.no</u> Raymond Bjuland, <u>raymond bjuland@uis.no</u> Faculty of Arts and Education, University of Stavanger, Norway

Abstract

Ability to organize tasks in a consistent manner, in line with students' needs, is a key skill pre-service teachers need to develop during teacher education. However, it is still unclear how pre-service teachers comprehend this ability and knowledge entailed in carrying out this work. This article examines how pre-service teachers develop their understanding of the knowledge necessary to sequence tasks given to students in mathematical instruction. A case study was conducted with two pre-service teachers enrolled in a two-year teacher education program in Malawi. Data was collected at two different time points (moments) in the program—at the start of their teacher education, and during their first period of teaching practice in primary schools. Data was analyzed with respect to the theoretical framing of mathematical knowledge for teaching. focusing specifically on the specialized content knowledge domain. A close examination of the gathered data revealed correspondences in the operationalization of this knowledge in their teaching practice. The results yielded by this study highlight the need for coherent teacher education proposals, as well as didactical strutegies combining theory with practice.

Keywords: Malawian primary education, specialized content knowledge, mathematics teacher education, sequencing instructional tasks.

Introduction

Over the past several decades, significant progress has been made in achieving the targets of universal primary education, but much work remains to be done to ensure adequate supply of qualified teachers (UNESCO, 2016). In the Republic of Malawi—one of the Sub-Saharan African countries with the highest ratio of pupils per qualified teacher in primary schools (80:1) according to UNICEF (2019)—curricular reform attempts have been made to better prepare teachers and pre-service teachers for the challenges of their profession (Kazima, 2014). One significant initiative in this context has focused on ensuring that preservice teachers acquire the knowledge, skills, and competences required to teach children effectively (Malawian Institute of Education, 2017).

Findings yielded by a recent study conducted by Jakobsen, Kazima, and Kasoka (2018), covering all teacher education colleges in Malawi, indicate that a significant change in pre-service teachers' measurable mathematical knowledge for teaching occurs as they progress through their teacher education. However, the overall growth of mathematical knowledge for teaching was small, and significant differences in the attained knowledge gains were observed across teacher education colleges. Consequently, as pointed out in our previous investigation, more research needs to be done to elucidate how this knowledge is developed and can be enhanced in Malawi (Kasoka, Jakobsen, & Kazima, 2017).

In order to respond to this call, the following research question is addressed in the present investigation: How do Malawian pre-service teachers develop their understanding of the knowledge needed for sequencing tasks¹ for mathematical instruction? In the sections that follow, we provide a literature review on the conceptualization of teachers' knowledge for teaching and the role of Specialized Content Knowledge (SCK) in teacher education across different countries, with specific focus on Malawi. This is followed by the description of the methodology used in the study, and an overview of the content of the lessons provided by the two participating pre-service teachers. The findings drawn from the analysis of the postlesson interviews are then presented and discussed in relation to the research question.

Mathematical Knowledge Needed for Teaching

One of the current debates among researchers, educators, and educational stakeholders relates to the knowledge needed for teaching mathematics (Carrillo, Climent, Contreras, & Muñoz-Catalán, 2013; Fennema & Franke, 1992; Kruuss, Baumert, & Blum, 2008; Ma, 1999). In addition, diverse categorizations of teacher knowledge have been developed, such as the Mathematical Knowledge in Teaching (Rowland, Tumer, Thwaites, & Huckstep, 2005); Knowledge for Teaching (Davis & Simmt, 2006); and Mathematical Knowledge for Teaching (Ball, Thames, & Phelps, 2008).

When examining the mathematical knowledge for teaching, Ball et al. (2008) highlighted the need to develop three domains pertaining to a teacher's pedagogical content knowledge —Knowledge of Content and Students (KCS), Knowledge of Content and Teaching (KCT), and Knowledge of Content and Curriculum(KCC)—and three domains related to the subject matter knowledge—Common Content Knowledge (CCK), Horizon Content Knowledge (HCK), and SCK.

SCK is a special type of knowledge that is unique to the work of teaching mathematics (Ball et al., 2008). It refers to the capability of "making features of a particular content visible and learnable by students" (Ball et al., 2008, p. 400). Such knowledge goes beyond content knowledge itself, it "addresses both mathematics substance and pedagogical appropriateness," aiming to unpack "a mathematical concept into its subcomponents to make it comprehensive for children" (Ding, 2016, p. 2). For instance, when teaching division to elementary students need to follow, but also develop an instructional sense of the differences between "take-away" and "comparison" models of division. In other words, "specialized content knowledge demands and also promotes common content knowledge" (Ding, 2016, p. 2).

Researchers that have sought to study mathematical knowledge required for effective teaching have found that tasks presented in the list above are often applicable across different

¹ We define tasks as the problems or activities that pre-service teachers developed and posed to students.

cultures (Cole, 2012; Fauskanger, Jakobsen, Mosvold, & Bjuland, 2012; Ng, 2012). However, Kazima, Jakobsen and Kasoka (2016) found that not all of these tasks of teaching provided by Ball et al. (2008) are relevant in the Malawian context and are thus rarely adopted by teachers in classroom instruction. On the other hand, due to the lack of didactical materials, Malawian teachers regularly use locally available resources (such as stones and sticks) to ensure that students can gradually grasp and properly learn the content (Jacinto & Jakobsen, 2020). This is in line with the Malawian pre-service teacher education program, which emphasizes the need for teachers to be able to design instructional tasks that would introduce students to progressively more difficult mathematical concepts (Malawian Institute of Education, 2017).

Despite the importance of sequencing instructional tasks for students, Ball et al. (2008) did not provide a detailed account of this aspect of teaching. Rather, the authors assumed that this is a sub-component of the following tasks of teaching: "linking representations to underlying ideas and to other representations," "connecting a topic being taught to topics from prior or future lessons," "appraising and adapting the mathematical content of textbooks," and "modifying tasks to make them either easier or harder" (Ball et al., 2008, p. 400). This shows that, even though educational researchers have not vet fully understood and defined what mathematical knowledge for teaching entails, there is a need to investigate how teachers and pre-service teachers learn and employ its constructs in different situations (Hine, 2015). This article contributes to this research stream by focusing on the development of the understanding that Malawian pre-service teachers have of the knowledge needed to sequence instructional tasks given to foster students' learning of mathematics Gaining insight into the understanding pre-service teachers have of the knowledge needed to carry out related tasks will not only increase our understanding of how SCK is conceived and implemented in practice in the Malawian educational context, but will also elucidate how this domain can help to reconfigure teacher education practice and curricular demands. Methodology

Research Design

In order to investigate how pre-service teachers in Malawi develop their understanding of the knowledge needed for sequencing tasks in mathematical instruction, a case study (Stake, 2016) involving two pre-service teachers (henceforth denoted by their pseudonyms Denise and Martin) attending a primary teacher-education college in Malawi was conducted. The college is located in the southeastern region of the country and is one of the eight institutions that prepares pre-service teachers for working in primary schools in nural areas. During their two-year course (three plus three terms), pre-service teachers must complete three components: theoretical courses at the college (terms 1 and 2); supervised teaching practice in schools (terms 3 and 4); and reflectivity activities at the college after teaching practice (terms 5 and 6).

The teacher education program follows a practitioner model of teacher education that intersperses theory and practice, as well as content and pedagogy, in teacher and learning. Its curriculum covers three learning areas denoted as Education Foundations Studies, Numeracy and Mathematics, and Literacy and Languages. The mathematics curriculum is aligned with the standards that require pre-service teachers to acquire subject matter knowledge and to develop pedagogical ways to promote students' lifelong learning (Malawian Institute of

Education, 2017). Pre-service teachers need to complete all three components to receive qualifications as primary school teachers.

Data for the present study was collected at two specific time points, defined as Initial Moments (conducted during a theoretical course in the college) and Second Moment (period when pre-service teachers are teaching in primary schools). These two data collection phases were related to the two first components of the primary teacher education program (theoretical course at the college and supervised practice). Data pertaining to the third component, reflectivity activities at the college (time when pre-service teachers return to college to take more theoretical courses and reflect on their teaching experience), was not yet available when data analysis for this study took place.

In the Initial Moment, Denise and Martin answered a questionnaire survey and took part in individual interviews. The questionnaire consisted of two sections, the first of which contained questions about favorite subject in high school, teaching experience, and preference for teaching a particular subject that developed during college. The aim of these questions was to obtain a profile of these pre-service teachers at the beginning of the course. The second section of the questionnaire included a list of types of teacher knowledge² adapted from the work of Ball et al. (2008). For each item on the list, the pre-service teachers were required to indicate level of significance (on a five-point Likert scale), as this helped identify the types of teaching tasks that were more/less relevant to the Malawian context. Subsequent individual interviews were guided by the questionnaire responses, as the preservice teachers were asked to elaborate on their answers, as well as provide examples and a brief description of the motives and expectations they hold for their future career as a primary school teacher.

Data related to the Second Moment was gathered via a week-long systematic observation of Denise's and Martin's teaching practices, as well as post-lesson interviews. Since the two participating pre-service teachers were located in different schools and were teaching in a different class and standard³, the post-interviews focused on situations that occurred during classroom instruction, resembling the teaching tasks listed in the first phase of the research. After viewing video-recordings of their own lessons, the pre-service teachers reflected and commented on the tasks they encountered in the classroom, as well as the knowledge needed to handle them effectively. The goal was to engage the pre-service teachers in a reflective analytical process that could offer better insights into their understanding of the knowledge needed to carry out tasks of teaching mathematics in primary classrooms.

Data was analyzed using thematic analysis, an approach that, according to Attride-Stirling (2001), allows researchers to "explore the understanding of an issue or the signification of an idea, rather than to reconcile conflicting definitions of a problem" (p. 387). The objective of thematic analysis is to analyze the patterns of meaning (themes) across a dataset or one particular aspect of phenomenon in depth (Braun & Clarke, 2012). This article reports analysis on the theme knowledge needed to sequence tasks in mathematical

² An example of these tasks and knowledge domains can be found in Jacinto & Jakobsen (2020).

³ Primary school education in Malawi comprises eight grades, referred to as Standard 1-8.

5

instructional. The list of teaching tasks adopted from the Ball et al.'s (2008) framework was initially used to generate data (see Figure 1). After transcribing the recordings and identifying similarities and patterns in the data related to the two pre-service teachers, a common theme related to task sequencing emerged. This theme was later redefined for referential adequacy and was analyzed at the two previously defined time points (Initial and Second Moment).



Figure 1. Theme in focus of analysis adapted from characteristics of the SCK domain proposed by Ball et al. (2008).

Participants

Denise, one of the two pre-service teachers in focus of this investigation, was 24 years old and grew up in a small village located in the central region of the country. She was the youngest sister of three, and her parents were farmers. After completing secondary school, Denise had worked as a volunteer in a primary school near her hometown, assisting a veteran teacher in organizing activities and managing children during lessons. She also had an opportunity to teach some lessons on her own when the veteran teacher was absent. In the questionnaire survey, Denise stated that she had no interest in mathematics during high school. At the college, however, she expressed preference for teaching science foundations and agriculture, two of the school subjects in the Malawi primary school curriculum. Denise stated that she wanted to become a primary school teacher so that she could be "a model for her daughter, allowing her to see education as very valuable for our life" (Denise, Initial Moment—Interview). Denise intended to complete her course and apply for a job in a primary school near her birthplace.

The second case study pertained to Martin—a 20-year-old man coming from the capital city of the country. His father was a secondary school teacher and his mother a housekeeper. Martin had some teaching experience prior to entering the teacher education college, and expressed interest in mathematics during high school, as well as preferences for the mathematics courses at the teacher education college. After graduation, Martin intended to obtain credentials to teach in secondary schools. He explained that being qualified to teach in both primary and secondary school "can give many opportunities to work, so I can give my family a better life quality" (Martin, Initial Moment—Interview). Despite notable differences in their teaching experience and subject preferences, Martin and Denise shared a similar view on the importance of the knowledge for sequencing tasks in mathematical instruction. The following section is divided into two themes, the first of which is titled Meaning

The following section is divided into two durines, the first of which is three memory and value of sequencing tasks for mathematical instruction: Initial understandings, where the aim is to examine the pre-service teachers' initial views on the knowledge needed for developing a sequence of tasks used to teach a mathematical concept. As a part of the second theme—Forms of understanding when reflecting on teaching practice—how the pre-service teachers develop such understanding is analyzed, taking into account their own teaching experience.

Findings and Discussion

Meaning and Value of Sequencing Tasks for Mathematical Instruction: Initial Understandings

In the Initial Moment of the study, the two pre-service teachers (Denise and Martin) shared similar views on the knowledge needed for sequencing tasks for mathematical instruction, defining it as knowledge required to introduce new concepts gradually, from simple to complex. Denise specifically stated that "the ability to make learners understand the content is one of the main characteristics of an effective teaching" (Denise, Initial Moment—Interview). She explained that "sometimes mathematics can be very difficult for learners, so a good teacher needs to know mathematics very well to show learners that it is not [difficult]!" Then, she clarified this argument by saying that "The teacher needs to teach from simple to complex, so everyone [students] can learn and use at!" In making sense of these statements, Denise pointed out that "teachers can help them [the learners] by giving another view, so they can learn mathematics step-by-step."

In a similar vein, Martin stated that "good teachers should know how to design a lesson in a logical way, from simple to complex, as in the textbook" (Martin, Initial Moment—Interview). During his interview, Martin elaborated on this further, referring specifically to student learning, "teaching is about helping learners to learn from known to unknown," and to the teacher guidelines, "the curriculum [the primary school curriculum] already tells us the simple concepts that they need to learn to understand the more complex ones, so the teacher does not need to do much about it."

The importance of appropriately sequencing tasks for mathematical instruction was clearly recognized by Denise and Martin. This demand for the work of teaching is expressed in the form of simple-to-complex approach, allowing students to gradually master the content. While Denise tended to approach this task from the students' perspective, Martin seemed to favor the school curricular guidelines. For Denise, correct sequencing of tasks given to students demands from the teachers a proper content knowledge, as well as knowledge of students' capacities. Martin, on the other hand, conceded such knowledge plays a limited role in teaching, as he claimed that the school curriculum already prescribes how teachers should introduce new concepts and examples during mathematical instruction. At this stage of the study, Denise and Martin seemed to appreciate distinct but complementary features of the knowledge entailed in the work of teaching as suggested in extant literature (Ball et al., 2008).

When examined through the lens of Ball et al.'s (2008) theory of mathematics knowledge for teaching, Martin's and Denise's views resemble some features related to SCK, for instance, "recognizing what is involved in using a particular representation," "connecting a topic being taught to topics from previous and future lessons," and "appraising and adapting the mathematical content of textbooks" (Ball et al., 2008, p. 400). Moreover, the "simple-tocomplex" teaching approach, which both pre-service teachers mentioned as the knowledge unique to teaching mathematics in Malawi, seems to rely on the designing of class activities in line with students' abilities. This particular characteristic of knowledge is likely to be used to carry out teaching tasks, such as "selecting representations for particular purposes" and "evaluating the plausibility of students' claims" (Ball et al., 2008, p. 400).

It is also worth noting that both pre-service teachers expressed the idea of a simple-tocomplex approach as a way to encompass a twofold goal in teaching: (1) promotion of students' confidence and ability to solve mathematical problems, and (2) alignment with the school textbook's standards. These findings provide insight into the understanding Martin and Denise have about the knowledge needed to sequence instructional tasks for mathematics teaching, which is linked to the domain of SCK in the context of Malawian primary education.

Forms of Understanding when Reflecting on Teaching Practice

This section focuses on Denise's and Martin's insights on the knowledge teachers must possess in order to appropriately sequence instructional tasks. The examples discussed here relate to practical situations observed during Denise's and Martin's lessons. The lesson excerpt analyzed to examine Denise's perspective pertains to multiplication by 3, while Martin's excerpt relates to geometrical representation of fractions. These teaching situations, given in the form of excerpts, were an important analytical source, since they were used when prompting these pre-service teachers to consider ways to improve their students' learning of mathematics.

Teaching multiplication by 3. The first excerpt pertains to Denise's instruction on multiplication by 3. She began the class by organizing her students in groups and asking them to provide the solution for the expression 2×3 she wrote on the blackboard. Then, one student from each group came to the blackboard and answered (by writing 6 after the = sign). Denise then drew two sets of three vertical lines (III III), and explained to the students that the figure represented the expression 2×3 . In the sequence, Denise provided another task for the students (4×3), followed by four sets of three vertical lines (III III), as illustrated in Figure 2.



Figure 2. Representations used by Denise to explain multiplication by 3.

8

Denise's choice of representing multiplication by 3 is based on the *order of operations*. This means that the position of each number in the expression determines how such combination proceeds. In the excerpt below—taken from the post-lesson interview—Denise explicates how she interpreted this particular model of teaching multiplication.

Excerpt I: Denise's insights on the order of operations

	Interlocutor	Speech			
1	Researcher:	Ok, here you are also teaching them how to multiply five by three, but it seems that you are also teaching multiplication of three by five, is that right?			
2	Denise:	Yes! But multiplication of three by five is level! In Standard 2, we start with small m			
3	Researcher:	Ok, but somehow you are also teaching m numbers by five, aren't you?	Ok, but somehow you are also teaching multiplication of numbers by five, aren't you?		
4	Denise:	Yes! But there is a difference. Here, this one [first column] represents the number of groups and this one [second column] is the quantity of objects in each group.	First Column		
5	Researcher:	So, the goal is?	3 × 3 = 9 4 × 3 = 12		
6	Denise:	They have to understand the meaning, you know the numbers in that position mean what? First, they [the learners] have to find the number of the groups, and then, they have to find the number of objects in each group.	5 x 3 × 15 Second Column		
7	Researcher:	Hum that is why you used the same stre the lesson?	structure throughout		
8	Denise:	'es! Because if I change it, it will be different. The learner vill be confused!			
9	Researcher:	But they would understand, right? I mean, able to solve, for example, 3 multiplied by	3 multiplied by 5? ; it will be very difficult for them.		
10	Denise:	Hum maybe! But I think it will be very They are not used to such expressions!			

Multiplication is one of the four elementary arithmetic operations that reflects one's ability to perform repeated additions in groups (Steffe, 1994). In Denise's lesson, however, teaching of multiplication seems to include not only the idea of joining equal quantities but also a conceptual understanding of the principles that relate to each expression's factor (as indicated in Line 4 and 6 in Excerpt I). Denise acknowledged that, although both expressions 5×3 and 3×5 give the same answer (15), they can be interpreted to mean or represent two different situations: longitudinal representation in this context implies that the multiplicand symbolizes the number of groups, and the multiplier the number of units in each group. She also stated that, by changing the order of the expression, the meaning of the expression would also change, resulting in a lesson that is not designed for children in Standard 2 in Malawi (as indicated in Line 2, 8, and 10 in Excerpt I).

As can be seen from Excerpt I, multiplicand and multiplier played a substantial role in Denise's views on how multiplication by 3 should be taught in Standard 2. Denise felt that, to adopt this approach, teachers had to know the commutative property, but this was not necessary for students to learn—an assumption that implies inconsistences regarding the reasons for teachers to possess such mathematical knowledge if it is not used in practice. Nonetheless, it is worth noting that teacher's guide for primary schools in Malawi does not include commutative property as a lesson topic. Rather, teachers and pre-service teachers are advised to introduce the concept of multiplication gradually. Indeed, according to the primary school curriculum, children in Standard 2 need to learn multiplication by 2 and 3, while those in Standard 3 and 4 need to learn multiplication by 4, 5, and 6, and 7, 8, 9, and 10, respectively. In this way, children in Standard 2 nearn how to calculate 7×3, for example, but will learn how to solve 3×7 in Standard 4. The principle of ordering factors according to the meaning of their positions is adopted in all primary school Standards in Malawi.

Such way of conceiving teaching of multiplication gives insight into Denise's understanding of SCK, and specifically the knowledge of sequencing tasks for multiplication instruction (Line 2) considering the students' academic level (Line 10). Teacher's awareness of students' capabilities was cited by Denise to justify the ways she chooses to make representations and explanations of the topic. As Denise's goal was not only to instruct the students on using a particular method to solve a mathematical problem, but also to teach them how multiplication works, we assumed that such type of vision, although not well-advanced, reflects how she understands SCK in a practical teaching situation. Phillip et al. (2007) also endorsed such idea by explaining that the knowledge of content and the knowledge of students can be used as a means to develop a better understanding of what constitutes SCK. This view was also shared by Thanheiser, Staples, Bartlo, Stiomer, and Heim (2010), who noted, "Connecting children's thinking and the elementary mathematics curriculum is also constituent of teachers' specialized content knowledge" (p. 12).

The next excerpt shows how Denise acknowledges such mode of teaching multiplication, as well as its effects on the students' learning. We began this particular session by asking her about the didactical resources she used for the lesson.

10

Excerpt II: Denise's views on the order of expressions for teaching multiplication

	Interlocutor	Speech
17	Researcher:	So, you used sticks in this lesson, right?
18	Denise:	Yes! I used sticks in this lesson!
19	Researcher:	Why sticks?
20	Denise:	Well For example, last week, I was teaching multiplication of numbers by two, so I was using shoes, because these objects come in twos. I was using shoes, ears, eyes, lands so that students can be familiar with that concept and can apply it in everyday life. I wanted to make them curious and motivate them to find objects that exist in pairs. Now, for three objects, it is more difficult, because practical examples are not locally available. So, I used stones and sticks because they are more or less similar. I asked the learners to pack them in threes, and them use those packs to solve the problems.
21	Researcher:	How about in Standard 4 and 5?
22	Denise:	In Standard 4, we teach them to count legs of tables, desks, chairs and in Standard 5, we use, for example, fingers, toes
23	Researcher:	1 see! So, if I am going to teach this topic, do I need to know that?
24	Denise:	Yes! You must know how to model multiplication to help learners to understand the meaning. Because it is valuable for them [the learners] to know how to put them together and use it to multiply different groups of objects.
25	Researcher:	But, they will still multiply different groups of objects according to their levels? I mean in Standard 2, multiplications only involve 2 and 3, in Standard 3, they learn multiplication by 4 and 5
26	Denise:	Yes! According to their levels According to the lesson!

The procedure used to multiply numbers by 2 is the same as the one adopted when teaching multiplication by 3. In both cases, students learn how to count in groups (of two and three objects, respectively), which is, according to Denise, necessary to allow students to handle real situations where counting of equal groups of objects is required (Line 20 in Excerpt II). Her approach to teaching multiplication by 3 supported the idea that in nature objects rarely exist in groups of three (Line 20). Consequently, Denise opined that teachers should be aware of this limitation in order to help students make proper generalizations of the topic (Line 24).

According to Denise, teaching multiplication by grouping numbers is a beneficial approach for teachers, as it allows students to grasp the concepts and properties of multiplication by 3. However, by aligning the lesson with her students' level, she aimed to develop generalizations that emphasize the order of operations. In Standard 2, for instance, learners are also introduced to multiplication of two-digit numbers by 3, such as 11×3 and 12×3, but with products not exceeding 99. Therefore, the idea that learners need to know how to place objects into groups in order to multiply correctly (Line 24) meant they need to be able to count groups of numbers at the level that is determined for them by curriculum designers. Yet, despite these constraints, according to Denise, the notion of grouping helps students understand the concept of multiplication in general.

Based on these insights, we can see that Denise's views concerning the method of teaching multiplication are congruent with what she understood as an exclusive component of the work of teaching. This also aligns with the notion of SCK that allows teachers to transform content knowledge into pedagogical content knowledge (Worden, 2015). However, it is evident that, according to Denise, in order for teachers to ensure that scholarly content is understandable for students, teachers need to give precedence to certain aspects of the concept itself, rather than its properties (associative, commutative, etc.). In other words, Denise's understanding of the knowledge entailed in the teaching task aligns with the recommendations given in the teachers' guide. Nonetheless, she now provides evidence of an understanding on how abstract principles related to mathematical concepts can also benefit teaching and learning of mathematics in primary education.

Denise's case indicates that the knowledge she employs to carry out the tasks of teaching multiplication relies primarily on students' ability to develop basic generalizations, even though this overlooks certain abstract properties that could contribute to the development of complex generalizations. Thus, the notion of SCK, from the perspective of this pre-service teacher, is only a fragment of the mathematical knowledge that allows teachers to engage students in particular activities, involving different ways of representing and manipulating mathematical ideas towards the understanding of and ability to solve unusual problems, with a focus on the concepts' particularities (Hill, Ball, & Schilling, 2008).

Representing fractions in geometrical form. The analyses presented in this section illustrate how Martin understands the knowledge needed to sequence tasks for assisting students' learning of fractions. Although this can be viewed as one characteristic of a teacher's SCK domain, the primary aim is to better comprehend how Martin developed his understanding of the ways SCK can assist in the teaching of mathematics.

The example in focus of analysis occurred during a lesson on fractions—one significant topic in the primary school curriculum in Standard 4. Martin began his lesson by writing different fractions on the blackboard. Alongside each fraction, he also drew a fraction bar (or a strip diagram) in which the number of squares matched the value of its respective denominator. Martin explained: "The goal of the lesson was to make students explore ways to represent fractions in geometrical format" (Second Moment—Post-lesson Interview), a type of ability that helps them "to develop a notion of parts of a whole" (Second Moment—Postlesson Interview). Figure 3 shows five randomly chosen students working on the blackboard to complete the fraction bars proposed by Martin.

Appendices



12

Figure 3. Standard 4 students filling out strip diagrams according to their respective fractions.

As expected by Martin, the students completed the task without any problems, as "most of them were already familiar with this type of representation." Once this task was completed, Martin provided three similar exercises, with the exception of the last one, in which bars were perpendicular to each other (Task 3 in Figure 4).



Figure 4. Students' response to Task 3 regarding representing fractions in geometrical form.

In Figure 4, the student on the left failed to complete one piece of the column in Diagram 3. As the strip diagrams in all previous figures was presented horizontally, students were required to provide almost identical answers. However, in Task 3, the horizontal-vertical combination of bars necessitated that students consider different forms of representation. The particular form of representation given by the student above was discussed in the post-lesson interview with Martin in order to explore Martin's thoughts on the response provided by this particular student.

Excerpt III: Martin's understanding of connections among tasks to assist students' learning

	Interlocutor	Speech
1	Researcher:	In this situation, why did that student choose to do that? Do you think this was a mistake?
2	Martin:	Yes! This was a mistake. She was supposed to put them all together not isolated!
3	Researcher:	But look at the answer is it not the same?
4	Martin:	Yes, the answer is the same, but I wanted her to put all colored strips together.
5	Researcher:	Why?
6	Martin:	Because you know we need to follow the textbook, otherwise, the others [students] will be confused!
7	Researcher:	But did you tell them you wanted all colored blocks to be joined together?
8	Martin:	No, I did not! But I should have done that! It could avoid this mistake.
9	Researcher:	Ok so, for this particular student, is there anything you could have done to help her?
10	Martin:	Yes, I could have added another example before this one, a simpler one. Like this

Martin illustrated his idea by drawing the following figure.



П	Martin:	So, you can see that this example is much easier than the last one. So, it would help learners to understand and solve more complex problems like this one. [Martin points to the figure in Item 3 that represents the 8/9 fraction]
12	Researcher:	Hum Ok! But here in this situation, would you not consider what she did as correct?
13	Martin:	I can consider it, but sometimes it is very hard to know what the learners will do That's why I think it is valuable, first, to focus on the textbook.
14	Researcher:	Interesting! So, if I come to Malawi as a teacher and decide to teach this content in Standard 4, what should I know? What should I do?
15	Martin:	If you are going to teach this topic in Malawi, you must consider what learners already know and use the textbook as the main reference.

It is clear from Martin's response that he sees the student's answer as incorrect purely because it does not conform to the prescribed rules. He also highlights the importance of following the textbook to ensure that every student can develop a sense of grouping and make complex geometrical representations of fractional numbers (Line 11 in Excerpt III). In his view, "it can be hard for them to count the bars if they don't put them together; as I said, they can get confused" (Second Moment-Post-lesson Interview). To sustain this argument, Martin conceded that the students might have developed a better understanding of the task if he had explained to the students before the assignments that they needed fill the bars without leaving any gaps between them (Line 8 in Excerpt III). Martin also acknowledged that, as students need proper guidance, teachers must conduct mathematical lessons in a logical way, as long as this is in line with the directions provided in the textbook for that particular grade (Lines 13 and 15 in Except III).

Providing easier and connective tasks for students to solve complex mathematical problems emerged as a new level of thinking related to sequencing tasks for instruction. To better help his students to understand and represent fractions in different diagram forms, Martin suggested an extra task (Line 10 in Excerpt III) similar to the crossing-strips network proposed in Item 3 (Figure 3), but with a reduced number of bars. Such figure, according to Martin, would not only help learners to consider the individual strips conjointly, but would also mitigate possible difficulties in solving problematic situations in the classroom. "They [learners] also have to know how to apply what they learn in the classroom in other diverse situations, not only in what is common to them," Martin commented.

Although the intermediate task proposed by Martin would not necessarily avoid confusion, as the figure representing the fraction 4/5 (Line 10 in Excerpt III) can also prompt students to draw bars in a crossing-strip diagram separately, it still points to aspects that should be considered when sequencing tasks for effective mathematical instruction. This way of thinking seems to be related to the idea of selecting and designing class activities (Rivas,

Godino, & Castro, 2012) and modifying tasks to be both easier and harder for the studentstwo crucial characteristics for teaching mathematics that require SCK (Ball et al., 2008).

The design of Martin's lesson, therefore, suggests a progressive understanding based on visual representations of particular mathematical content. Once students are capable of solving tasks involving horizontal bar representations of fractions, they can start to solve more complex tasks that eventually might go beyond textbook content (Line 11 in Excerpt III). According to Martin, the knowledge of the tasks involved in such a transition is fundamental for any teacher who aims to help students to build upon knowledge they already possess (Line 15 in Excerpt III). Moreover, expanding, reducing, or modifying a lesson based on students' abilities seems to play a significant role in Martin's ways of understanding SCK in practice. Martin not only searches for ways to help students to make sense of mathematical content, but also continually assesses students' content knowledge to capitalize on it in his new proposals for mathematical tasks.

Conclusion

The work presented here provides insights into pre-service teachers' understanding of the knowledge entailed in the work of mathematics teaching. This issue is prevalent and demands attention in teacher education research. The article focused on the knowledge demands for sequencing tasks given to students in mathematical instruction, a particular component of teachers' SCK (Ball et al., 2008). Findings yielded by analyzing data pertaining to two Malawian pre-service teachers, collected at the beginning of their teacher education and during teaching practice, suggested that these pre-service teachers gradually developed their understanding of what is entailed in the work of sequencing instructional tasks, as they reflected on teaching practice. In this sense, although pre-service teachers develop different forms of understanding throughout teacher education, they appreciate the relevance of such knowledge for teachers to meet students' needs and curriculum requirements.

Several studies about the knowledge needed for teaching can be found in the literature. Still, very few authors have examined how teachers and pre-service teachers acquire and develop an understanding of such knowledge. This is particularly relevant in the Malawian context where the teacher education programs are under development. The present study provides pedagogical implications for the pre-service teachers' education in mathematics. Teacher educators could use the information provided in this article to design activities for pre-service teachers to reduce misunderstandings or discrepancies with the knowledge involved in the work of teaching. In this context, greater awareness of pre-service teachers' cognitive development could inform which strategies would facilitate acquisition of new theoretical constructs and their use in practical applications.

However, it is acknowledged that the present work is neither exhaustive nor comprehensive. Although capturing a significant portion of the problem in question, a much larger research landscape is needed to examine other types of knowledge embedded in the work of teaching mathematics. Unpacking the complexity and dynamics that encompass the teachers' learning during teacher education is a first step toward effective teacher education proposals as well as the design of valuable institutional policies for education.

References

Ball,	D. L., Thames, M. H., & Phelps, G. (2008). Content knowledge for teaching: What makes it special? <i>Journal of Teacher Education</i> , 59(5), 389–407.
Brau	n, V., & Clarke, V. (2012). Thematic analysis. In H. Cooper, P. M. Camic, D. L. Long, A. T. Panter, D. Rindskopf, & K. J. Sher (Eds.), APA handbook of research methods in psychology, 2. Research designs: Quantitative, qualitative, neuropsychological, and biological (pp. 57–71). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
Carri	Ilo, J., Climent, N., Contreras, L. C., & Muñoz-Catalán, M. C. (2013). Determining specialized knowledge for mathematics teaching. In B. Ubuz, C. Haser, & M. A. Mariotti (Eds.), Proceedings of the Eighth Congress of the European Society for Research in Mathematics Education (pp. 2985–2994). Ankara, Turkey: Middle East Technical University and ERME.
Cole	Y. (2012). Assessing elemental validity: The transfer and use of mathematical knowledge for teaching measures in Ghana. ZDM – The International Journal on Mathematics Education, 44, 415–426.
Davi	s, B., & Simmt, E. (2006). Mathematics-for-teaching: An ongoing investigation of the mathematics that teachers (need to) know. <i>Educational Studies in Mathematics</i> , 61(3), 293–319.
Ding	M. (2016). Developing preservice elementary teachers' specialized content knowledge: The case of the associative property. <i>International Journal of STEM Education</i> , 3(9), 1–19.
Faus	kanger, J., Jakobsen, A., Mosvold, R., & Bjuland, R. (2012). Analysis of psychometric properties as part of an iterative adaptation process of MKT items for use in other countries. <i>ZDM – The International Journal on Mathematics Education</i> , 44(3), 387–399.
Ferm	ema, E., & Franke, L. M. (1992). Teachers' knowledge and its impact. In D. A. Grouws (Ed.), Handbook of research on mathematics teaching and learning (pp. 147–164). New York, NY: MacMillan.
Hill,	H., Ball, D. L., & Schilling, S. G. (2008). Unpacking pedagogical content knowledge: Conceptualizing and measuring teachers' topic-specific knowledge of students. <i>Journal for Research in Mathematics Education</i> , 39(4), 372–400.
Hine	G. S. C. (2015). Self-perceptions of pre-service mathematics teachers completing a Graduate Diploma of Secondary Education. <i>Issues in Educational Research</i> , 25(4), 480–500. Retrieved from http://www.ier.org.au/ier25/hine.html

 development of MKT through their teacher education: A Malawian case. In E. Norén, H. Palmér, & A. Cooke (Eds.), <i>Papers of NORMA 17, the Eighth Nordic Conference on Mathematics Education</i> (pp. 219–227). Goteborg, Sweden: Swedish Society for Research in Mathematics Education. Kasoka, D. N., Jakobsen, A., & Kazima, M. (2017). Preparing teachers to teaching: Does initial teacher education improve mathematical knowledge for teaching? In T. Dooley & G. Gueudet (Eds.), <i>Proceedings of the Tenth Conference of the European Society for Research in Mathematics Education</i> (pp. 3373–3380). Dublin, Ireland: DCU Institute of Education & ERME. Kazima, M. (2014). Universal Basic Education and the provision of quality mathematics in Southern Africa. <i>International Journal and Science and Mathematics Education</i>, <i>12</i>, 841–858. Kazima, M., Jakobsen, A., & Kasoka, D. N. (2016). Use of mathematical tasks of teaching and the corresponding LMT measures in the Malawi Context. <i>The Mathematics Enthusiast</i>, <i>13</i>(1–2), 171–186. Krauss, S., Baumert, J., & Bhun, W. (2008). Secondary mathematics teachers' pedagogical content knowledge and content knowledge: Validation of the COACTIV constructs. <i>International Journal on Mathematics Education</i>, <i>40</i>, 873–892. Ma, L. (1999). <i>Knowing and Teaching Elementary Mathematics: Teachers' Understanding of Fundamental Mathematics in China and the United States</i>. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates. Malawian Institute of Education. (2017). <i>Syllabus for initial primary teacher education: Mathematics. Ministry of Education, Science and Technology</i>. Domasi, Malawi: Malawian Institute of Education. Ng, D. (2012). Using the MKT measures to reveal Indonesian teachers' mathematical knowledge: Challenges and potentials. <i>ZDM – The International Journal on Mathematics Education</i>, <i>44</i>, 401–413. 		17
 H. Palmér, & A. Cooke (Eds.), Papers of NORMA 17, the Eighth Nordic Conference on Mathematics Education (pp. 219–227). Goteborg, Sweden: Swedish Society for Research in Mathematics Education. Kasoka, D. N., Jakobsen, A., & Kazima, M. (2017). Preparing teachers to teaching: Does initial teacher education improve mathematical knowledge for teaching? In T. Dooley & G. Gueudet (Eds.), Proceedings of the Tenth Conference of the European Society for Research in Mathematics Education (pp. 3373–3380). Dublin, Ireland: DCU Institute of Education & ERME. Kazima, M. (2014). Universal Basic Education and the provision of quality mathematics in Southern Africa. International Journal and Science and Mathematics Education, 12, 841–858. Kazima, M., Jakobsen, A., & Kasoka, D. N. (2016). Use of mathematical tasks of teaching and the corresponding LMT measures in the Malawi Context. The Mathematics Enthusiast, 13(1–2), 171–186. Krauss, S., Baumert, J., & Blum, W. (2008). Secondary mathematics teachers' pedagogical content knowledge and content knowledge: Validation of the COACTTV constructs. International Journal on Mathematics Education, 40, 873–892. Ma, L. (1999). Knowing and Teaching Elementary Mathematics: Teachers ' Understanding of Fundamental Mathematics in China and the United States. Mahwali, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates. Malawian Institute of Education. (2017). Syllabus for initial primary teacher education: Mathematics. Ministry of Education, Science and Technology. Domasi, Malawi: Malawian Institute of Education. Ng, D. (2012). Using the MKT measures to reveal Indonesian teachers' mathematical knowledge: Challenges and potentials. ZDM – The International Journal on Mathematics Education, 44, 401–413. Philipp, R. A., Ambrose, R., Lamb, L. C., Sowder, J. T., Schappelle, B. P., & Sowder, L. (2007). Effects of early field experiences on the mathematical content knowledge and behefs of prospective elementary school teachers: An experimental	Primary Pre- in Mathemati	service Teachers in Malawi Understand it?, African Journal of Research ics, Science and Technology Education, DOI:
 & G. Gueudet (Eds.), Proceedings of the Tenth Conference of the European Society for Research in Mathematics Education (pp. 3373–3380). Dublin, Ireland: DCU Institute of Education & ERME. Kazima, M. (2014). Universal Basic Education and the provision of quality mathematics in Southern Africa. International Journal and Science and Mathematics Education, 12, 841–858. Kazima, M., Jakobsen, A., & Kasoka, D. N. (2016). Use of mathematical tasks of teaching and the corresponding LMT measures in the Malawi Context. The Mathematics Enthusiast, 13(1–2), 171–186. Krauss, S., Baumert, J., & Blum, W. (2008). Secondary mathematics teachers' pedagogical content knowledge and content knowledge: Validation of the COACTIV constructs. International Journal on Mathematics Education, 40, 873–892. Ma, L. (1999). Knowing and Teaching Elementary Mathematics: Teachers' Understanding of Fundamental Mathematics in China and the United States. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates. Malawian Institute of Education. (2017). Syllabus for initial primary teacher education: Mathematics. Ministry of Education. Ng, D. (2012). Using the MKT measures to reveal Indonesian teachers' mathematical knowledge: Challenges and potentials. ZDM – The International Journal on Mathematics Education, 44, 401–413. Philipp, R. A., Ambrose, R., Lamb, L. C., Sowder, J. T., Schappelle, B. P., & Sowder, L. (2007). Effects of early field experiences on the mathematical content knowledge and beliefs of prospective elementary school teachers: An experimental study. Journal for 	development H. Palmér, & on Mathemat	of MKT through their teacher education: A Malawian case. In E. Norén, A. Cooke (Eds.), Papers of NORMA 17, the Eighth Nordic Conference ics Education (pp. 219–227). Goteborg, Sweden: Swedish Society for
 Southern Africa. International Journal and Science and Mathematics Education, 12, 841–858. Kazima, M., Jakobsen, A., & Kasoka, D. N. (2016). Use of mathematical tasks of teaching and the corresponding LMT measures in the Malawi Context. The Mathematics Enthusiast, 13(1–2), 171–186. Krauss, S., Baumert, J., & Bhum, W. (2008). Secondary mathematics teachers' pedagogical content knowledge and content knowledge: Validation of the COACTIV constructs. International Journal on Mathematics Education, 40, 873–892. Ma, L. (1999). Knowing and Teaching Elementary Mathematics: Teachers' Understanding of Fundamental Mathematics in China and the United States. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates. Malawian Institute of Education. (2017). Syllabus for initial primary teacher education: Mathematics. Ministry of Education. Science and Technology. Domasi, Malawi: Malawian Institute of Education. Ng, D. (2012). Using the MKT measures to reveal Indonesian teachers' mathematical knowledge: Challenges and potentials. ZDM – The International Journal on Mathematics Education, 44, 401–413. Philipp, R. A., Ambrose, R., Lamb, L. C., Sowder, J. T., Schappelle, B. P., & Sowder, L. (2007). Effects of early field experiences on the mathematical content knowledge and beliefs of prospective elementary school teachers: An experimental study. Journal for 	initial teacher & G. Gueude for Research	education improve mathematical knowledge for teaching? In T. Dooley t (Eds.), Proceedings of the Tenth Conference of the European Society in Mathematics Education (pp. 3373–3380). Dublin, Ireland: DCU
 and the corresponding LMT measures in the Malawi Context. <i>The Mathematics</i> <i>Enthusiast</i>, 13(1-2), 171–186. Krauss, S., Baumert, J., & Blum, W. (2008). Secondary mathematics teachers' pedagogical content knowledge and content knowledge: Validation of the COACTIV constructs. <i>International Journal on Mathematics Education</i>, 40, 873–892. Ma, L. (1999). <i>Knowing and Teaching Elementary Mathematics: Teachers' Understanding of</i> <i>Fundamental Mathematics in China and the United States</i>. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates. Malawian Institute of Education. (2017). <i>Syllabus for initial primary teacher education:</i> <i>Mathematics: Ministry of Education, Science and Technology</i>. Domasi, Malawi: Malawian Institute of Education. Ng, D. (2012). Using the MKT measures to reveal Indonesian teachers' mathematical knowledge: Challenges and potentials. <i>ZDM – The International Journal on</i> <i>Mathematics Education</i>, 44, 401–413. Philipp, R. A., Ambrose, R., Lamb, L. C., Sowder, J. T., Schappelle, B. P., & Sowder, L. (2007). Effects of early field experiences on the mathematical content knowledge and beliefs of prospective elementary school teachers: An experimental study. <i>Journal for</i> 	Southern Afr	그는 것 같은 것 같
 content knowledge and content knowledge: Validation of the COACTIV constructs. International Journal on Mathematics Education, 40, 873–892. Ma, L. (1999). Knowing and Teaching Elementary Mathematics: Teachers' Understanding of Fundamental Mathematics in China and the United States. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates. Malawian Institute of Education. (2017). Syllabus for initial primary teacher education: Mathematics. Ministry of Education, Science and Technology. Domasi, Malawi: Malawian Institute of Education. Ng, D. (2012). Using the MKT measures to reveal Indonesian teachers' mathematical knowledge: Challenges and potentials. ZDM – The International Journal on Mathematics Education, 44, 401–413. Philipp, R. A., Ambrose, R., Lamb, L. C., Sowder, J. T., Schappelle, B. P., & Sowder, L. (2007). Effects of early field experiences on the mathematical content knowledge and beliefs of prospective elementary school teachers: An experimental study. Journal for 	and the corre	sponding LMT measures in the Malawi Context. The Mathematics
 Fundamental Mathematics in China and the United States. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates. Malawian Institute of Education. (2017). Syllabus for initial primary teacher education: Mathematics. Ministry of Education, Science and Technology. Domasi, Malawi: Malawian Institute of Education. Ng, D. (2012). Using the MKT measures to reveal Indonesian teachers' mathematical knowledge: Challenges and potentials. ZDM – The International Journal on Mathematics Education, 44, 401–413. Philipp, R. A., Ambrose, R., Lamb, L. C., Sowder, J. T., Schappelle, B. P., & Sowder, L. (2007). Effects of early field experiences on the mathematical content knowledge and beliefs of prospective elementary school teachers: An experimental study. Journal for 	content know	ledge and content knowledge: Validation of the COACTIV constructs.
 Mathematicz. Ministry of Education, Science and Technology. Domasi, Malawi: Malawian Institute of Education. Ng, D. (2012). Using the MKT measures to reveal Indonesian teachers' mathematical knowledge: Challenges and potentials. ZDM – The International Journal on Mathematics Education, 44, 401–413. Philipp, R. A., Ambrose, R., Lamb, L. C., Sowder, J. T., Schappelle, B. P., & Sowder, L. (2007). Effects of early field experiences on the mathematical content knowledge and beliefs of prospective elementary school teachers: An experimental study. Journal for 	Fundamentai	Mathematics in China and the United States. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence
 knowledge: Challenges and potentials. ZDM – The International Journal on Mathematics Education, 44, 401–413. Philipp, R. A., Ambrose, R., Lamb, L. C., Sowder, J. T., Schappelle, B. P., & Sowder, L. (2007). Effects of early field experiences on the mathematical content knowledge and beliefs of prospective elementary school teachers: An experimental study. Journal for 	Mathematics	Ministry of Education, Science and Technology. Domasi, Malawi:
(2007). Effects of early field experiences on the mathematical content knowledge and beliefs of prospective elementary school teachers: An experimental study. <i>Journal for</i>	knowledge: O	hallenges and potentials. ZDM - The International Journal on
	(2007). Effect beliefs of pro	ts of early field experiences on the mathematical content knowledge and spective elementary school teachers: An experimental study. <i>Journal for</i>
		100

	18
Rivas, M., Godino, J. D., & Castro, W. (2012). Development of knowledge for teaching proportionality in prospective elementary teachers. <i>Bolema, Rio Claro</i> , 26(42B), 588.	
Rowland, T., Turner, F., Thwaites, A., & Huckstep, P. (2005), Developing Primary Mathematics Teaching: Reflecting on Practice with the Knowledge Quartet. Lon UK: SAGE.	idon,
Stake, R. E. (2006). Multiple case study analysis. New York, NY: The Guilford Press.	
Steffe, L. P. (1994). Children's multiplying schemes. In G. Harel & J. Confrey (Eds.), T development of multiplicative reasoning in the learning of mathematics (pp. 3–3) New York, NY: SUNY Press.	
Thanheiser, E., Staples, M., Bartlo, J., Sitomer, A., & Heim, K. (2010). Justification in middle school classrooms: How do middle school teachers define justification ar role in the classroom? In P. Brosnan, D. B. Enchick, & L. Flevares (Eds.), Proceedings of the thirty-second annual meeting of the North American Chapter the International Group for the Psychology of Mathematics Education (pp. 860– Columbus, OH: The Ohio State University.	of
UNESCO (United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization). (2016). Incheon declaration and Framework for action for the implementation of Sustain Development Goal 4: Towards inclusive and equitable quality education and life learning opportunities for all. Education 2030. Paris: UNESCO. Retrieved Septe 26, 2019, from https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000245656	long
UNICEF (The United Nations International Children's Emergency Fund). (2019). 2018 Education Budget brief 2019: Towards improved education for all in Malawi. Lilongwe, Malawi: United Nations Children's Fund.	19
Worden, D. (2015). The development of content knowledge through teaching practice. I do Desterro, 68(1), 105–119.	Tha

Appendix 7 – Article 4

Article 4

Jacinto, E. J. (2020). An analysis of pre-service teachers' understanding of the knowledge entailed in the work of teaching: Insights from Malawi. *Journal of Mathematics Teacher Education*. (Under review)

Appendices

Word count: 5553

An Analysis of Pre-service Teachers' Understanding of the Knowledge Necessary to Teach Mathematics: A Case Study in Malawi

Everton Lacerda Jacinto, everton Ljacinto@uis.no University of Stavanger, Norway

Abstract: Recent studies on teacher knowledge have focused on describing the knowledge needed for effective teaching, but little attention has been given on how pre-service teachers acquire and develop such knowledge as a part of teacher education programs. This gap in the extant research has motivated the present case study, focusing specifically on how pre-service teachers develop an understanding of the knowledge needed to carry out tasks of mathematics teaching. The theoretical framework underpinning the study is based on the theory of mathematical knowledge for teaching, and specialized content knowledge domain in particular. Pertinent data were gathered via a questionnaire, interviews, and a focus-group discussion with three pre-service teachers attending a two-year primary teacher education in Malawian. The analysis focused on two themes that were adapted from a set of specialized content knowledge items: (1) knowledge of instructional task progression to help students solve mathematical problems, and (2) ability to use locally available resources to create multiple concept representations. These themes included data from two different moments of pre-service teachers education (theoretical course in the college and supervised teaching practice in local schools). Findings revealed a gradual development in the three pre-service teachers' understanding of specialized content knowledge, which provides insights into the pre-service teachers' learning progression during teacher training. The study findings have implications for new methods for preparing pre-service teachers for the work of teaching in primary schools.

Keywords: Mathematics education; pre-service teacher education; teacher knowledge; specialized content knowledge.

Introduction

Quality teacher education is essential for equipping pre-service teachers with the knowledge and skills necessary for preparing the next generation to face and resolve current and anticipated societal and environmental problems and become proactive contributors to a more just, peaceful, tolerant, inclusive, secure, and sustainable world (UNESCO, 2014). In UNESCO's (2016) Sustainable Development Agenda for Education towards 2030, adequate supply of qualified teachers is seen as essential to accomplishing all its SDG targets¹, indicating that attention should be given to the professional training of teachers, especially those in disadvantaged areas.

Shortage of qualified teachers is a major concern in Malawi—one of the poorest countries in Sub-Saharan Africa—especially following the adoption of free primary school education to all children in 1994, which resulted in a dramatic increase in the enrolment (Wamba and Mgomezulu, 2014). Currently, the average teacher/pupil ratio is 1:77, but can reach 1:150 in schools located in rural or remote areas (UNESCO, 2019). Although the 1994 decision was a significant step toward free access to primary education in Malawi, it also created a quantity—quality trade-off, as manifested in a lack of classroom spaces, scarcity of teaching and learning materials, and insufficiency of teachers (Wamba and Mgomezulu, 2014).

In this scenario, the Malawian Initial Primary Teacher Education (IPTE) program appeared as a promising solution to improve the quality of education offered to primary pre-service teachers (Malawian Institute of Education, 2010). The pre-service teachers enrolled in the two-year IPTE program benefit from a combination of collegebased education and teaching practice in primary schools. The aim of the IPTE program is to ensure that, upon graduation, pre-service teachers are "academically well-grounded and professionally competent"; "flexible and capable of adapting to the changing needs and environment of the Malawian society"; and "capable of creating and utilizing locally available resources suitable for the needs of their learners" (Malawian Institute of Education, 2017, p. 3).

The importance of combining theory and practice in the preparation of preservice teachers is well recognised (Gravett and Ramsaroop, 2015; Korthagen, 2010), but little is known about the impacts of the IPTE program on the level of preparation of primary pre-service teachers in Malawi (Kasoka, Jakobsen, and Kazima, 2017). For example, a recent study conducted by Jakobsen, Kazima, and Kasoka (2018) involving all eight teacher training colleges (TTCs) in Malawi revealed that the pre-service teachers' level of mathematical knowledge for teaching was low, especially the knowledge needed to handle typical classroom situations. Thus, the authors called for more research not only on the IPTE curriculum, but also on the pre-service teachers' learning process during teacher training (Jakobsen et al., 2018).

The present study, as a part of a larger research project, was guided by the question: How do Malawian primary pre-service teachers develop their understanding of the knowledge needed to carry out the tasks of teaching mathematics? It focuses on data of three pre-service teachers during their teacher training program, which was organised into themes and analysed from the perspective of the theory of mathematical knowledge for teaching (Ball, Themes, and Phelps, 2008). The conceptual framework and related research in the field are addressed in the next section.

¹ UNESCO's agenda contains 17 sustainable development goals (SDGs), number four of which is global access to education which includes ten sub-targets such as Target 4.1: Primary and Secondary Education, and Target 4.C: Quality of Teacher Education.

Theoretical Framework and Literature Review

3

Research on teachers' knowledge dates back to Shulman's investigation of pedagogical content knowledge (PCK), defined as a "knowledge base that any teacher needs for teaching a content" (Shulman, 1987, p. 4). Shulman (1986) considered it as "the most useful ways of representing and formulating the subject that make it comprehensible to others" that "includes an understanding of what makes the learning of specific topics easy or difficult" (p. 9). Since then, Ball et al. (2008) have worked to give a more comprehensive description of the mathematical knowledge for teaching.

Mathematical knowledge for teaching combines subject matter knowledge (SMK) and PCK in mathematics. PCK is divided into knowledge of the content and curriculum (KCC), knowledge of the content and students (KCS), and knowledge of content and teaching (KCT), whereas SMK comprises of common content knowledge (CCK), horizon content knowledge (HCK), and specialized content knowledge (SCK). Ball et al. (2008) described SCK as a unique component to the work of teaching, whereas CCK can be used in areas other than teaching. According to Jakobsen, Thames, Ribeiro, and Delaney (2012), SCK is distinct from HCK, which refers to "An orientation to and familiarity with the discipline (or disciplines) that contribute to the teaching of the school subject at hand, providing teachers with a sense for how the content being taught is situated in and connected to the broader disciplinary territory" (p. 4642).

Thus, SCK is the type of the knowledge and skills that make "features of a particular content visible and learnable by students" (Ball et al., 2008, p. 400). Such knowledge goes beyond content knowledge itself, as it "addresses both mathematics substance and pedagogical appropriateness," aiming to unpack "a mathematical concept into its subcomponents to make it comprehensive for children" (Ding, 2016, p. 2), as shown in Figure 1.

> Presenting mathematical ideas Responding to students' "why" questions Finding an example to make a specific mathematical point Recognizing what is involved in using a particular representation Linking representations to underlying ideas and to other representations Connecting a topic being taught to topics from prior or future years Explaining mathematical goals and purposes to parents Appraising and adapting the mathematical content of textbooks Modifying tasks to be either easier or harder Evaluating the plausibility of students' claims (often quickly) Giving or evaluating mathematical explanations Choosing and developing useable definitions Using mathematical notation and language and critiquing its use Asking productive mathematical questions Selecting representations for particular purposes Inspecting equivalencies

Figure 1. Mathematical tasks of teaching identified by Ball et al. (2008, p. 400).

SCK has been widely acknowledged as a crucial component to develop in teacher education (Ding, 2016). Yet, how pre-service teachers think about SCK's items they are supposed to acquire in order to teach effectively remains poorly understood (Chapman, 2015; Ferguson and Brownlee, 2018; Mosvold and Fauskanger, 2013). Addressing this gap would help determine not only the relevance of such knowledge for pre-service teachers and if they fully understand the role of theories in teaching practice (Allen and Wright, 2014; Kwenda, Adendorff, and Mosito, 2017), but also whether or not they can understand the problems and situations that happen in classrooms, why it happens, what ought to happen, and how they can overcome those problems (Chapman, 2013).

Prior research on teachers' knowledge for teaching has involved epistemic beliefs about the certainty of teaching knowledge (Ferguson and Brownlee, 2018), perceptions of teaching knowledge during teacher education (Author, 2019), construction of ideas about knowledge and teaching (Kroll, 2010), knowledge and beliefs of students' prior knowledge and the potential to develop new knowledge while solving mathematical tasks (Lee, Coomes, and Yim, 2019), changes in beliefs about the teaching and learning (Tillema, 2006), and the development of mathematical knowledge for teaching teachers (Jankvist, Clark, and Mosvold, 2020). Such a body of work has contributed with relevant insights beyond what teachers are able or not able to do in the classroom. These insights have focused on emergent issues regarding the knowledge demands entailed in the work of teaching as well as on the nature of mathematical knowledge teachers and pre-service teachers hold; how and why they hold it; how does it develop; how and when do they use it in practice; how can it be supported, changed, or enhanced to carry out tasks of teaching effectively (Chapman, 2013). Following this line of inquiry, the present study aims to contribute to this filed by ascertaining how Malawian primary pre-service teachers construct and develop their understanding of the knowledge necessary to carry out tasks of teaching in mathematics.

Methodology and Data Analysis

This qualitative case study (Stake, 2006) involved three pre-service teachers— Denise, Martin, and Mario (pseudonyms)— that enrolled in 2018 in the two years primary teacher education at one TTC in Malawi. While the participants' profiles differ, all three had a similar level of prior teaching experience. Denise developed interest for teaching mathematics and science at the TTC, Martin enjoyed learning mathematics in high school, which spurred his interest in teaching at the TTC, while Mario had never shown any interest in mathematics.

The study was conducted in three different time points (moments) of the two year teacher education (three plus three terms). The moments are labelled as Initial Moment (IM), Second Moment (SM), and Third Moment (TM). The first moment occurred at the beginning of the teacher education program that took place at the TTC

-4

(first two terms). It consisted of a questionnaire survey that included a list of openended questions about teaching experiences, subject preferences during high school, and teaching preferences during college. The questionnaire also contained a Likert-type scale table (Krosnick, 1999) in which pre-service teachers ranked the importance of SCK items (from extremely important to not important) in the context of Malawi. Next, the pre-service teachers took part in individual interviews, where they provided reasons and examples for their questionnaire responses.

The SM moment occurred during their supervised teaching practice (term three and four) and included observations of the pre-service teachers' teaching of lessons and post-lesson interviews. The lessons were video-recorded, and the SM post-lesson interviews focused on the teaching tasks that were identified during the pre-service teachers' teaching, and the type of knowledge used (or that could be used) to carry out those tasks effectively in the classroom. The TM phase, conducted at the end of the teacher training (term five and six), consisted of a focus group discussion (Krueger, 1998) involving all three pre-service teachers. The discussions covered both the questionnaire responses and specific episodes from the teaching experience in schools. The goal was to determine the level of pre-service teachers' understanding of teaching knowledge and its evolution over time. Table 1 synthesises all study procedures.

Table 1

Moments of Investigation and Data Collection Instruments

	Terms 1 and 2: Theoretical courses at the TTC	Terms 3 and 4: Teaching Practice in primary schools	Terms 5 and 6: Students come back to TTC
Moments	Initial Moment (IM)	Second Moment (PO)	Third Moment (TM)
Data collection instruments	Questionnaire (open questions and like- scaled quiz) and individual interviews	Systematic Observations of mathematics lessons and individual interviews after lesson	Focus Group Discussion

The data was thematically analysed (Braun and Clarke, 2012). Two themes initially emerged from the list of SCK's components, as shown in Figure 2. These themes respectively pertained to the pre-service teachers' understanding of (1) the knowledge needed to carry out instructional tasks in the classroom, and (2) multiple forms of mathematical representation. Both themes are associated with the nature of content development (Ding, 2016), a central characteristic of the SCK that relates to "topic-specific and includes knowledge about alternative ways to think about a concept and identifying mathematics present in instruction" (Chinnapan, White, and Trenholm,



Figure 2. Themes of analysis adapted from SCK domain characteristics proposed by Ball et al. (2008).

Findings and Discussion

Data analysis reported in this section focuses on the ways pre-service teachers develop their understanding of the knowledge needed to carry out tasks that are unique to the work of teaching mathematics.

Knowledge of instructional task progression to help students solve mathematical problems

Ability to sequence instructional tasks in a manner that facilitates learning toward the lesson objective is a crucial characteristic of effective teaching (Hebert, Landin, and Solmon, 2000). Thus, this first theme related to the knowledge needed for effective progression of tasks in mathematical instruction. For Jenkins and Veal (2002), "effective task progression, or extension, requires the teacher to see the content through the student's eyes" (cited in Jenkins and Haefner, 2011, p. 48) and adjust the content to students' level of understanding.

In this theme, Denise and Martin acknowledged that tasks should be presented to the students in an easy-to-difficult/simple-to-complex sequence, and both gave examples (drawn mostly from their experiences) of how teachers can organise tasks in a progressive way to help students solve mathematical problems. However, their understanding of the knowledge needed to carry out this task differed significantly.

The case of Denise. In the IM individual interview, Denise expressed a broader view of the relevance of the knowledge needed to carry out task progression: "The teacher needs to know how to teach from simple to complex, so everyone [students] can learn and use it [the content]." However, after Denise's teaching experience, she acknowledged that "teaching mathematics from simple to complex does not mean divide the lessons into sections and that's it. It means to think about it in a way learners can understand the content gradually . . . so they can solve problems step-by-step" (Denise, SM post-lesson interview). During the TM focus group discussion, she explained that organising tasks for students in mathematical lessons should focus on "helping learners to see the steps as a whole. . . . They [students] need to understand that, if they cannot solve a problem at once, they should divide the problem into parts, so they can solve it one by one. Later, they put everything together as a whole.... When you give, for example, a problem like two plus three multiplied by four minus three, it can be very confusing for the learners. They can solve first two plus three, and then four minus three. Later, they can solve the multiplication and so on."

Excerpt I complements these preliminary findings and shows how Denise's understanding of the knowledge needed to sequence instructional tasks has evolved (highlighted in bold) at the TM moment. Numbers on the left column of the except helps to identify the traces of this development.

Excerpt I. Denise's comments during the TM focus group discussion.

	Interlocutor	Speech
1	Researcher:	Do you think your idea about teaching from simple-to-complex has changed since we first met?
2	Denise:	Yes, it has changed a lot! At the beginning I tried to do what my secondary teacher did, you know but now, I think it is not so easy. It is more than using simple words. You should think how the learner will receive the message. Is there too much information here? How we can make easy for them to understand it? Should they learn this first? How about or this? A good teacher must know it!

3 Researcher: Ok, you gave the example of two plus three multiplied by four minus three. This is supposed to be taught in a higher class, right?

	Why did you give this example when I asked you about teaching from simple-to-complex?
4 Denise:	Yes, that example is from a much more advanced level. We used to teach it in Standard 5 [5th grade] and 6 [6th grade] I used it because teaching from simple-to-complex is a very effective. But of course it can be done in many ways, you know For me, the teacher has to think about what is best for the students. It is not only about dividing the lessons into segments. They should know why you are doing it. The learners should also keep in mind what is the main goal and why you are dividing it, why you are doing it step-by-step.
progressed throug learners acquire th simple to complex should be capable to solve mathemaa approach to teachi students' needs. In und appropriate se (Line 4 in Excerpt elements of an exp logically organise systematic experti	방송 변화 같은 것이 같은 것은 것을 많았다. 것이 없는 것이 없 않이
	of Martin. Another pre-service teacher who gradually developed of task progression was Martin. In his first interview as a part of

in the classroom, ... Teachers need to ask themselves: 'Will this [example] help the learners to understand the problem?' Can they [learners] see the connections?' If not, the teacher should decide what can be included to make it easier to the learners." Excerpt II complements this evidence.

9

Excerpt II. Martin's comments during the TM focus group discussion.

Interlocutor	Speech
Martin:	When I was planning the lesson, I noticed that some examples were too far from the others, so learners were having problem in understanding it [the content]. They could not see the connections between one example and others So, I started to think why they have no problem understanding this example, but they have problem understanding this one. It is practically the same thing, but this one is slightly different. Then, I tried to help them with my own examples.
Researcher:	How do you create these examples?
Martin:	Well I try to look at the content as if I am learning it for the first time, tight?
Researcher:	Interesting!
Martin:	For example, if I am teaching in Standard 4, I think: 'Ok, I am a Standard 4 learner, and I already know this and this. So, what do I need to do to solve this problem?' And if I see that the teachers' guide is not enough, I try to find other ways to help them to learn it.
Researcher:	But how do you know what they need to learn?
Martin:	You know asking them what they already know about the content, what they find difficult. And later, somehow, you will discover what is important for them to succeed?
	Martin: Researcher: Martin: Researcher: Martin:

This excerpt from the TM focus group discussion illustrates that the way Martin perceives the knowledge needed to carry out task progression evolved from IM and SM to TM. Initially, Martin believed that the teachers' guide should be strictly followed when conducting lessons in primary school classrooms. However, during teaching practice, Martin realized that the knowledge of the curriculum was insufficient to carry out teaching tasks, confirming the limitations of isolating knowledge components in teaching (Hill, Ball, and Schilling, 2008).

To carry out instructional task progression, Martin argued that the teacher needs to be able to identify and predict any problem or difficulty students might encounter during the lesson, for instance, inability to link examples provided in the teachers' guide (Line 1 in Excerpt II) and how students might recognise the similarities and differences among examples within the lessons (Lines 1 and 5, Excerpt II). Moreover, Martin opined that teachers needed to make use of the knowledge of content and students (KCS) to decide how to organise and present the tasks in the classroom (Line 3, 5, and 7, Excerpt II). Those views revealed that Martin's understanding of the knowledge needed to carry out instructional task progression at the TM was aligned with a particular SCK characteristic: "an unpacked mathematical knowledge that involves making features of particular content visible to and learnable by students" (Ball et al., 2008, p. 400).

Ability to use locally, available resources to create multiple representations

Ball et al. (2008) discussed in detail the knowledge needed to represent mathematical ideas in age-appropriate manner, which is a special knowledge component for teaching mathematics. Hudson and Miller (2006) opined that representations can be categorized as concrete, pictorial, or abstract. For instance, if a teacher uses a plastic cube to represent problems on a basic operation s(he) is utilizing concrete representation of the concept of operation. A picture of the plastic cube will be a pictorial representation while numbers or symbols will be abstract representations. Each of these categories possesses unique characteristics that contribute to the teaching and learning of mathematics.

The discussions that follow provide insights into how Mario—a pre-service teacher with experience in teaching but with no interest in mathematics—developed his understanding of the knowledge needed to teach mathematics during teacher education. He did not only acknowledge the importance of knowing about how to represent mathematics ideas but also demonstrated unique grasp of the value of understanding, creating, and using different forms of representation when teaching mathematics.

11

teach the topics. But you know . . . if they know different strategies, they will be able to assist as many learners as they can." This is in line with the arguments put forth by Greeno and Hall (1997).

During teaching practice, Mario's understanding of the knowledge needed for representing mathematical ideas expanded to include a new aspect—the connections between mathematical representations. An example from Mario's teaching illustrates how Mario interprets a situation from which he introduces the concept of perimeter to Standard 5 students by using different forms of representation. He first shared a story with his students about John who was asked to calculate the total length of a bent wire. As he was telling the story, Mario made use of a cardboard television he had made for this purpose with intent of capturing students' attention (see Figure 3).



Figure 3. Mario using a cardboard television to introduce the concept of perimeter.

As the story progressed, Mario actively engaged students in a discussion about John's problem. To help them find the answer, Mario drew a triangle on the blackboard with sides measuring 4, 6, and 8 cm, respectively. Below the drawing, he used these values to show how the perimeter is calculated (see Figure 4). Once the students agreed that the answer was 18 cm, Mario, using the cardboard TV, told the students that John brought the bent wire to his home, put it on the table and straightened it, so that he could measure its length. The story ended with John coming back to school and telling the teacher his findings. At the end of the lesson, Mario emphasised that the strategy for calculating the bent wire's length could be applied to other forms or objects. Then, he presented his students with a drawing of a rectangle measuring 15×6 cm, prompting

them to calculate its perimeter. A female student went to the board, checked the rectangle dimensions and answered 42.



Figure 4. Representations of the concept of perimeter produced by Mario.

During the post-lesson interview, when Mario was asked about his intentions in using multiple representations to introduce the concept of perimeter, he responded: "Many learners in Malawi don't know how to solve problems. I tried to make it [perimeter concept] meaningful, so they can think of the content in many ways and use it to solve problems" (Mario, SM post-lesson interview).

In Mario's initial understanding, creating opportunities for students to interpret the concept of perimeter through multiple representations seemed to play a crucial part in the teaching knowledge. This is a special component of mathematics teaching, since concepts and procedures are enhanced in teaching to help students consider not only concrete but also pictorial and abstract representations. For Mario, "As the result is the same, the teacher can help learners to see the content in different forms. In my case, I introduced perimeter in the form of a bent wire, a triangle, an expression, a straight line, and a rectangle" (Mario, SM post-lesson interview).

The experience of teaching perimeter in a Standard 5 classroom contributed to Mario's understanding of what teaching mandates in terms of knowledge. Working with multiple mathematical representations gave him useful insights into students' reasoning when solving a problem, in line with arguments put forth by Greeno and Hall (1997). Mario's understanding of the knowledge needed to use (different) mathematical representations in classroom evolved beyond not only what he was being taught at the TTC but also what the teachers' guide suggests for mathematical instruction. Locally, available resources were used by Mario as a complementary tool to introduce mathematical ideas. Seeing their practical value motivated Mario to design concrete activities through which students could develop a more robust understanding of mathematics. In this sense, Mario's knowledge of multiple representations of the relationship among concrete, pictorial, and abstract mathematical representations (Adu-Gyamfi and Bossé, 2014).

In the last phase of the study (TM), Mario demonstrated emergence of new insights into the knowledge needed to carry out multiple representations in the

classroom. The following excerpt shows how Mario recognised such knowledge as a useful source for teaches to promote generalisation of mathematical concepts. The excerpt was extracted from one of Mario's responses to the TM focus group discussion.

Excerpt III. Mario's views during the RP focus group.

	Interlocutor	Speech
1	Researcher:	Mario, what are the benefits for a primary school teacher in knowing different forms of representing a mathematical idea?
2	Mario:	Teachers can explore the connections between these different forms and their use in the classroom. They can think in new ways of teaching the content For example, when I was teaching the concept of perimeter in Standard 5.1 tried to create a situation that they [learners] could study the concept from different perspectives. So, if a leaner does not understand one way, he or she might understand the other. [] The main character, John, was asked to measure the total length of a bent wire. Later there was a triangle then, he made a straight line of that triangle and then he calculated the sizes many ways of thinking about perimeter.
3	Researcher:	So, you moved it from simple to complex, right?
4	Mario:	Yes, I gave it from concrete to abstract!
5	Researcher	Why? You could just follow the teachers' guide, right?
6	Mario:	Yes, I could just follow the teachers' guide, but I wanted them to understand what perimeter means and why it is important. So I used the teachers' guide and other ideas to introduce the concept of perimeter. I created it and I think it was different!
7	Researcher:	But what about the 'proof'? You also included it in the story, and later, you showed them a different object, a rectangle.
8	Mario:	Yes, I included proof in the story because I wanted them to make sure they have the right answer so they can avoid mistakes. And the rectangle, I included it so they can generalise it to other forms, not only a triangle! In Malawi, it is very common for children to be asked about distances between places or areas of land. It somehow includes the idea of the perimeter, so it is very important for a teacher not to give the definition right way. Otherwise, he or she will confuse them.

Excerpt III indicates that, in Mario's view, the connections between different forms of mathematical representations help teachers to think about their lesson from

different perspectives (Line 2 in Excerpt III). By exploring similarities and differences among representations, teachers can introduce non-standard situations to prompt students to think about the connections between different forms of the same concept (Line 2 in Excerpt III). Whilst teachers benefit in gaining knowledge about principles and relations between different forms of the subject matter, students benefit from learning different approaches that might help them better understand mathematics. For Mario, such knowledge about connections among representations was a necessary component in teaching that, in addition to knowledge of the curriculum, led to the originality of his lessons (Line 6 in Excerpt III).

Mario's understanding of the knowledge about mathematical representation also seems to be driven by the specific purposes of promoting generalisations (Line 2, 6, and 8, Excerpt III). One of these aspects is the production of meaning of the representations (Line 6 in Excerpt III). Such knowledge builds bridges from teachers' personal representations to a more conventional one (Line 2 and 8, Excerpt III), contributing to changes in beliefs about teaching (Tillema, 1998). These approaches can foster the development of generalisations of mathematical concepts, a crucial aspect when children are learning about abstract concepts (Vygotsky, 2000).

Conclusion and Implications

As SCK has been widely recognised as essential for teacher education, there is a great need to comprehend how pre-service teachers acquire and employ SCK in mathematics teaching. This article contributes to this body of literature with an examination of the understanding primary pre-service teachers in Malawi develop about the knowledge needed to carry out tasks of teaching mathematics. Two themes that emerged from the data and related SCK items were analysed in the form of knowledge of instructional task progression and ability to use locally available resources to produce multiple representations. The findings revealed that pre-service teachers developed a nuanced and well-articulated understanding of what is needed to carry out tasks constituting the work of teaching mathematics and that their understanding gradually evolved as they progressed through the teacher education program. These evolutions, however, seemed to be associated with adaptations of practical experience.

The ways pre-service teachers developed their understanding of mathematical knowledge for teaching defined their maturation and professional development during teacher education. Although each demonstrated different forms of understanding knowledge necessary to teach mathematics, these three cases revealed which elements in the process of learning how to teach can contribute to a cognitive achievement of theoretical constructs and work of teaching. Moreover, shedding light on how preservice teachers understand the tasks of teaching and the knowledge needed to handle these tasks contributes to a better understanding of the link between theory and teacher education. Teacher educators can use this information to introduce discussions about the changing nature of the knowledge demanded for teaching, aiming to equip pre-service teachers with proper skills to ensure that they continue to learn and adapt to the rapidly changing world. Thus, more longitudinal studies are needed on the integration of theory

and practice and whether theoretical constructs help pre-service teachers learn how to carry out the work of teaching more effectively. Knowing what teaching is and how it works might change the way education and teacher education should be approached in emergent contexts.

References

- Adu-Gyamfi, K., & Bossé, M. J. (2014). Processes and reasoning in representations of linear functions. International Journal of Science and Mathematics Education, 12(1), 167–192.
- Allen, J. M., & Wright, S. E. (2014). Integrating theory and practice in the pre-service teacher education practicum. *Teachers and Teaching*, 20(2), 136–151.

Archer, A. L., & Hughes, C. A. (2011). Explicit instruction: Effective and efficient teaching. In K. R. Harris & S. Graham (Eds.), *What works for special-needs learners* (pp. 1–21). New York, NY: The Guilford Press.

- Ball, D. L., Thames, M., & Phelps, G. (2008). Content knowledge for teaching: What makes it special? *Journal of Teacher Education*, 59(5), 389–407.
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2012). Thematic analysis. In H. Cooper, P. M. Camic, D. L. Long, A. T. Panter, D. Rindskopf, & K. J. Sher (Eds.), APA handbook of research methods in psychology, 2: Research designs: Quantitative, qualitative, neuropsychological, and biological (pp. 57–71). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.

Chapman, O. (2015). Understanding and supporting mathematics teachers' knowledge for teaching. Journal of Mathematics Teacher Education, 18, 101–103.

- Chapman, O. (2013). Investigating teachers' knowledge for teaching mathematics. Journal of Mathematics Teacher Education, 16, 237–243.
- Chinnapan, M., White, B., & Trenholm, S. (2018). Symbiosis between subject matter and pedagogical knowledge in geometry. In P. Herbst, U. Cheah, P. Richard, & K. Jones (Eds.), International perspectives on the teaching and learning of geometry in secondary schools. ICME – 13 Monographs (pp. 145–161). Cham, Switzerland: Springer.
- Ding, M. (2016). Developing pre-service teachers' Specialized Content Knowledge: The case of associative property. *International Journal of STEM Education*, 3(9), 1–19.
- Ferguson, L. E., & Brownlee, J. L. (2018). An investigation of pre-service teachers' beliefs about the certainty of teaching knowledge. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, 43(1), 94–111.
- Gravett, S., & Ramsaroop, S. (2015). Bridging theory and practice in teacher education: Teaching schools – a bridge too fat? *Perspective in Education*, 33(1), 131–146.

	presentational forms. Phi Delta Kappan, 78(5), 361-367.
st	Landin, D., & Solmon, M. (2000). The impact of task progressions on udents' practice quality and task-related thoughts. <i>Journal of Teaching in Institute Education</i> , 19(3), 338–354.
K	"., Ball, D. L., & Schilling, S. G. (2008). Unpacking Pedagogical Content nowledge: Conceptualizing and measuring teachers' topic-specific knowledge students. <i>Journal for Research in Mathematics Education</i> , 39, 372–400.
in	P., & Miller, S. P. (2006). Designing and implementing mathematics struction for students with diverse learning needs. Boston, MA: Allyn and acon.
Author. (2019).
do N C 21	A., Kazima, M., & Kasoka, D. N. (2018). Assessing prospective teachers' evelopment of MKT through their teacher education: A Malawian case. In E. orén, H. Palmér, & A. Cooke (Eds.), Papers of NORMA 17, The Eighth Nordic onference on Mathematics Education, Stockholm, May 30–June 2, 2017 (pp. 19–227). Göteborg, Sweden: Swedish Society for Research in Mathematics flucation.
de M C	A., Thames, M. H., Ribeiro, C. M., & Delaney, S. (2012). Using practice to rfine and distinguish Horizon Content Knowledge. In International Congress in lathematics Education (Ed.), <i>Preproceedings of the 12th International</i> <i>ongress in Mathematics Education</i> (pp. 4635–4644). Seoul, Korea: ternational Congress in Mathematics Education.
kı	U. T., Clark, K. M. & Mosvold, R. (2020). Developing mathematical sowledge for teaching teachers: potentials of history of mathematics in teacher lucator training. <i>Journal of Mathematics Teacher Education</i> , 23, 311–332.
	 & Haefner, J. (2011). Task progression in early field-teaching experiences. <i>nurnal of Physical Education, Recreation & Dance</i>, 82(1), 45–48.
m m Te to	D., Jakobsen, A., & Kazima, M. (2017). Reliability of the adapted athematical knowledge for teaching number concepts and operations ensures. Proceedings of the Third ERME Topic Conference on Mathematics vaching, Resources and Teacher Professional Development (ETC3, October 5 7, 2016) (pp. 147–158). Berlin, Germany: European Society for Research in athematics Education.
ed	n, F. A. J. (2010). The relationship between theory and practice in teacher fucation. In E. Baker, B. McGaw, & P. Peterson (Eds.), <i>International</i> neyclopaedia of Education, (Vol. 7, pp. 669–675). Oxford, UK: Elsevier.
of	R. (2004). Constructing constructivism: How student-teachers construct ideas development, knowledge, learning, and teaching. <i>Teachers and Teaching</i> , 3(2), 199–221.

 the potential of a task in teaching practice. Journal of Mathematics Teacher Education, 22, 129–151. Malawian Institute of Education. (2010). Initial Primary Teacher Education Programme Handbook. Domasi, Malawi: Malawian Institute of Education. Malawian Institute of Education. (2017). Syllabus for initial primary teacher education: Mathematics Ministry of Education, Science and Technology. Domasi, Zomba: Malawi Institute of Education. Mosvold, R., & Fauskanger, J. (2013). Teachers' beliefs about mathematical knowledge for teaching definitions. International Electronic Journal of Mathematics Education, 8(2–3), 43–61. Shulman, L. (1986). Those who understand: Knowledge growth in teaching. American Educational Research Association, 15(2), 4–14. Shulman, L. (1987). Knowledge and teaching: Foundations of the new reform. Harvard Educational Review, 57(1), 1–22. Stake, R. E. (2006). Multiple case study analysis. New York, NY: Guilford. Tillema, H. H. (1998). Stability and change in student teachers' beliefs about teaching. Teachers and Teaching, 4(2), 217–228. UNESCO (United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization). (2014). UNESCO education strategy 2014–2020. Paris, France: UNESCO. Retrieved March 25, 2020, from https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000231288 UNESCO (United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization). (2016). Incheon declaration and Framework for action for the implementation of Sustainable Development Goal 4: Towards inchusive and equitable quality education and lifelong learning opportunities for all. Education 2030. Paris, France: UNESCO. Retrieved April 04, 2020, from https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000245656 	Krosnick, J.	A. (1999). Survey research. Annul Review of Psychology, 50, 537-567.
 the role of theory and practice. Journal of Education, 69, 139–160 Lee, H.S., Coomes, J., & Yim, J. (2019). Teachers' conceptions of prior knowledge and the potential of a task in teaching practice. Journal of Mathematics Teacher Education, 22, 129–151. Malawian Institute of Education. (2010). Initial Primary Teacher Education Programme Handbook. Donusi, Malawi: Malawian Institute of Education. Malawian Institute of Education. (2017). Syllabus for initial primary teacher education: Mathematics Ministry of Education, Science and Technology. Donasi, Zomba: Malawi Institute of Education. Mosvold, R., & Fauskanger, J. (2013). Teachers' beliefs about mathematical knowledge for teaching definitions. International Electronic Journal of Mathematics Education & 8(2-3), 43–61. Shulman, L. (1986). Those who understand: Knowledge growth in teaching. American Educational Research Association, 15(2), 4–14. Shulman, L. (1987). Knowledge and teaching: Foundations of the new reform. Harvard Educational Review, 57(1), 1–22. Stake, R. E. (2006). Multiple case study analysis. New York, NY: Guilford. Tillema, H. H. (1998). Stability and change in student teachers' beliefs about teaching. Teachers and Teaching, 4(2), 217–228. UNESCO (United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization). (2014). UNESCO education strategy 2014–2020. Paris, France: UNESCO, Retrieved March 25, 2020, from https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark/48223/pf0000231288 UNESCO (United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization). (2016). Incheon declaration and Framework for action for the implementation of Sustainable Development Goal 4: Towards inclusive and equitable quality education and Framework for all. Education 2030. Paris, France: UNESCO. Retrieved April 04, 2020, from https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark/48223/pf0000231288 UNESCO (United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization). (2016). Incheon declaration and Fram	100.00.00000000000000000000000000000000	이 전에 사망한 것 같은 것 같
 Education, 22, 129–151. Malawian Institute of Education. (2010). Initial Primary Teacher Education Programme Handbook. Domasi, Malawi: Malawian Institute of Education. Malawian Institute of Education. (2017). Syllabus for initial primary teacher education: Mathematics Ministry of Education, Science and Technology. Domasi, Zomba: Malawi Institute of Education. Mosvold, R., & Fauskanger, J. (2013). Teachers' beliefs about mathematical knowledge for teaching definitions. International Electronic Journal of Mathematics Education, 8(2–3), 43–61. Shulman, L. (1986). Those who understand: Knowledge growth in teaching. American Educational Research Association, 15(2), 4–14. Shulman, L. (1987). Knowledge and teaching: Foundations of the new reform. Harvard Educational Research Association, 15(2), 4–14. Shulman, L. (1987). Knowledge and teaching: Foundations of the new reform. Harvard Educational Review, 57(1), 1–22. Stake, R. E. (2006). Multiple case study analysis. New York, NY: Guilford. Tillema, H. H. (1998). Stability and change in student teachers' beliefs about teaching. Teachers and Teaching, 4(2), 217–228. UNESCO (United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization). (2014). UNESCO education strategy 2014–2020. Paris, France: UNESCO. Retrieved March 25, 2020, from https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark/48223/pf0000231288 UNESCO (United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization). (2016). Incheon declaration and Francesork for action for the implementation of Sustainable Development Goal 4: Towards inchastve and equitable quality education and lifelong learning opportunities for all. Education 2030. Paris, France: UNESCO. Retrieved April 04, 2020, from https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000245656 UNESCO (United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization). (2019). 2018/19 Education budget brief: Towards improved education for all in Malavat. 		여기 것과 것 그는 것 것은 이상을 얻는 것 수 있는 것 같은 것 같은 것 같은 것 같은 것 같은 것 같이 있다. 이상 것 같은 것 같
 Programme Handbook. Domasi, Malawi: Malawian Institute of Education. Malawian Institute of Education. (2017). Syllabus for initial primary teacher education: Mathematics Ministry of Education, Science and Technology. Domasi, Zomba: Malawi Institute of Education. Mosvold, R., & Fauskanger, J. (2013). Teachers' beliefs about mathematical knowledge for teaching definitions. International Electronic Journal of Mathematics Education, 8(2-3), 43-61. Shulman, L. (1986). Those who understand: Knowledge growth in teaching. American Educational Research Association, 15(2), 4-14. Shulman, L. (1987). Knowledge and teaching: Foundations of the new reform. Harvard Educational Review, 57(1), 1-22. Stake, R. E. (2006). Multiple case study analysis. New York, NY: Guilford. Tillenna, H. H. (1998). Stability and change in student teachers' beliefs about teaching. Teachers and Teaching, 4(2), 217-228. UNESCO (United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization). (2014). UNESCO education strategy 2014-2020. Paris, France: UNESCO. Retrieved March 25, 2020, from https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark/48223/pf0000231288 UNESCO (United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization). (2016). Incheon declaration and Franework for action for the implementation of Sustainable Development Goal 4: Towards inchusive and equitable quality education and lifelong learning opportunities for all. Education 2030. Paris, France: UNESCO. Retrieved April 04, 2020, from https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000245656 UNESCO (United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization). (2019). 2018/19 Education budget brief: Towards improved education for all in Malawi. 	the p	otential of a task in teaching practice. Journal of Mathematics Teacher
 Mathematics Ministry of Education, Science and Technology. Domasi, Zomba: Malawi Institute of Education. Mosvold, R., & Fauskanger, J. (2013). Teachers' beliefs about mathematical knowledge for teaching definitions. International Electronic Journal of Mathematics Education, 8(2-3), 43–61. Shulman, L. (1986). Those who understand: Knowledge growth in teaching. American Educational Research Association, 15(2), 4–14. Shulman, L. (1987). Knowledge and teaching: Foundations of the new reform. Harvard Educational Review, 57(1), 1–22. Stake, R. E. (2006). Multiple case study analysis. New York, NY: Guilford. Tillenna, H. H. (1998). Stability and change in student teachers' beliefs about teaching. Teachers and Teaching, 4(2), 217–228. UNESCO (United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization). (2014). UNESCO education strategy 2014–2020. Paris, France: UNESCO. Retrieved March 25, 2020, from https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark/48223/pf0000231288 UNESCO (United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization). (2016). Incheon declaration and Franework for action for the implementation of Sustainable Development Goal 4: Towards inchusive and equitable quality education and lifelong learning opportunities for all. Education 2030. Paris, France: UNESCO. Retrieved April 04, 2020, from https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000245656 UNESCO (United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization). (2019). 2018/19 Education budget brief: Towards improved education for all in Malawi. 		김 것을 하는 것 같아요. 그는 것이 있는 것 같아요. 이 것이 같아요. 것 같아요. 것 같아요. 한 것 같아요. 그는 것 같아요. 그는 것 같아요. 그는 것
 Education, 8(2-3), 43-61. Shulman, L. (1986). Those who understand: Knowledge growth in teaching. American Educational Research Association, 15(2), 4-14. Shulman, L. (1987). Knowledge and teaching: Foundations of the new reform. Harvard Educational Review, 57(1), 1-22. Stake, R. E. (2006). Multiple case study analysis. New York, NY: Guilford. Tillema, H. H. (1998). Stability and change in student teachers' beliefs about teaching. Teachers and Teaching, 4(2), 217-228. UNESCO (United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization). (2014). UNESCO education strategy 2014-2020. Paris, France: UNESCO. Retrieved March 25, 2020, from https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark/48223/pf0000231288 UNESCO (United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization). (2016). Incheon declaration and Framework for action for the implementation of Sustainable Development Goal 4: Towards inchusive and equitable quality education and lifelong learning opportunities for all. Education 2030. Paris, France: UNESCO. Retrieved April 04, 2020, from https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000245656 UNESCO (United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization). (2019). 2018/19 Education budget brief: Towards improved education for all in Malavat. 	Math	ematics Ministry of Education, Science and Technology. Domasi, Zomba:
 Educational Research Association, 15(2), 4–14. Shulman, L. (1987). Knowledge and teaching: Foundations of the new reform. Harvard Educational Review, 57(1), 1–22. Stake, R. E. (2006). Multiple case study analysis. New York, NY: Guilford. Tillema, H. H. (1998). Stability and change in student teachers' beliefs about teaching. Teachers and Teaching, 4(2), 217–228. UNESCO (United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization). (2014). UNESCO education strategy 2014–2020. Paris, France: UNESCO. Retrieved March 25, 2020, from https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark/48223/pf0000231288 UNESCO (United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization). (2016). Incheon declaration and Framework for action for the implementation of Sustainable Development Goal 4: Towards inchusive and equitable quality education and lifelong learning opportunities for all. Education 2030. Paris, France: UNESCO. Retrieved April 04, 2020, from https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000245656 UNESCO (United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization). (2019). 2018/19 Education budget brief: Towards improved education for all in Malavat. 	for te	aching definitions. International Electronic Journal of Mathematics
 Educational Review, 57(1), 1–22. Stake, R. E. (2006). Multiple case study analysis. New York, NY: Guilford. Tillema, H. H. (1998). Stability and change in student teachers' beliefs about teaching. Teachers and Teaching, 4(2), 217–228. UNESCO (United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization). (2014). UNESCO education strategy 2014–2020. Paris, France: UNESCO. Retrieved March 25, 2020, from https://uuesdoc.unesco.org/ark/48223/pf0000231288 UNESCO (United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization). (2016). Incheon declaration and Framework for action for the implementation of Sustainable Development Goal 4: Towards inclusive and equitable quality education and lifelong learning opportunities for all. Education 2030. Paris, France: UNESCO. Retrieved April 04, 2020, from https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000245656 UNESCO (United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization). (2019). 2018/19 Education budget brief: Towards improved education for all in Malawi. 		에는 것은 것은 것은 것은 것 같은 것은 것은 것은 것을 가지 않는 것을 것을 했다. 것은 것은 것은 것은 것은 것은 것을 것을 것을 것을 것을 했다. 것은 것은 것은 것은 것은 것은 것은 것은 것은
 Tillema, H. H. (1998). Stability and change in student teachers' beliefs about teaching. <i>Teachers and Teaching</i>, 4(2), 217–228. UNESCO (United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization). (2014). <i>UNESCO education strategy 2014–2020</i>. Paris, France: UNESCO. Retrieved March 25, 2020, from https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark/48223/pf0000231288 UNESCO (United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization). (2016). <i>Incheon declaration and Framework for action for the implementation of Sustainable Development Goal 4: Towards inclusive and equitable quality education and lifelong learning opportunities for all. Education 2030. Paris, France: UNESCO. Retrieved April 04, 2020, from https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000245656</i> UNESCO (United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization). (2019). 2018/19 Education budget brief: Towards improved education for all in Malavel. 		A DALE AND THE REAL AND A DALE AND A
Teachers and Teaching, 4(2), 217–228. UNESCO (United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization). (2014). UNESCO education strategy 2014–2020. Paris, France: UNESCO. Retrieved March 25, 2020, from https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark/48223/pf0000231288 UNESCO (United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization). (2016). Incheon declaration and Framework for action for the implementation of Sustainable Development Goal 4: Towards inclusive and equitable quality education and lifelong learning opportunities for all. Education 2030. Paris, France: UNESCO. Retrieved April 04, 2020, from https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000245656 UNESCO (United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization). (2019). 2018/19 Education budget brief: Towards improved education for all in Malavel.	Stake, R. E.	(2006). Multiple case study analysis. New York, NY: Guilford.
UNESCO education strategy 2014–2020. Paris, France: UNESCO. Retrieved March 25, 2020, from https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark/48223/pf0000231288 UNESCO (United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization). (2016). Incheon declaration and Framework for action for the implementation of Sustainable Development Goal 4: Towards inclusive and equitable quality education and lifelong learning opportunities for all. Education 2030. Paris, France: UNESCO. Retrieved April 04, 2020, from https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000245656 UNESCO (United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization). (2019). 2018/19 Education budget brief: Towards improved education for all in Malavel.		
Incheon declaration and Framework for action for the implementation of Sustainable Development Goal 4: Towards inclusive and equitable quality education and lifelong learning opportunities for all. Education 2030. Paris, France: UNESCO. Retrieved April 04, 2020, from https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000245656 UNESCO (United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization). (2019). 2018/19 Education budget brief: Towards improved education for all in Malavel.	UNE	SCO education strategy 2014-2020. Paris, France: UNESCO. Retrieved
그는 그렇는 그 사람은 것은 상품에 물건했다. 변경에 가지 않는 것을 알려야 하는 것이 말했다. 한 것이 많은 것이 많은 것이 나라 있는 것을 들었다.	Inche Susta educe Franc	on declaration and Framework for action for the implementation of inable Development Goal 4: Towards inclusive and equitable quality ation and lifelong learning opportunities for all. Education 2030. Paris, e: UNESCO. Retrieved April 04, 2020, from
https://www.unicef.org/esa/sites/unicef.org.esa/files/2019-04/UNICEF-Malawi- 2018-Education-Budget-Brief.pdf	2018 Retri- https://	/19 Education budget brief: Towards improved education for all in Malawi. eved April 02, 2020, from //www.unicef.org/esa/sites/unicef.org.esa/files/2019-04/UNICEF-Malawi-

Vygotsky, L. (1978). *Mind in Society* (First published as a collection of earlier articles in 1933–35, in Russian). Cambridge, MA, and London, UK: Harvard University Press.
Wamba, N., & Mgomezulu, V. (2014). The crisis in public education in Malawi. *International Journal of Advanced Research*, 2(4), 323–331.
Zuya, H. E., Kwalat, S. K., & Attah, B. G. (2016). Pre-service teachers' mathematics self-efficacy and mathematics teaching self-efficacy. *Journal of Education and Practice*, 7(14), 93–98.